
Licensing Sub-Committee

Thursday 15 April 2021
10.00 am

Online/Virtual: please contact andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk for a link to 
the meeting and the instructions for joining the online meeting

Membership Reserves

Councillor Renata Hamvas (Chair)
Councillor Sunil Chopra
Councillor Lorraine Lauder MBE

Councillor Sunny Lambe

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Access to information
You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and reports on this agenda as 
well as the background documents used in the preparation of these reports.
Babysitting/Carers allowances
If you are a resident of the borough and have paid someone to look after your children, 
an elderly dependant or a dependant with disabilities so that you could attend this 
meeting, you may claim an allowance from the council.  Please collect a claim form at 
the meeting.
Access
The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on building 
access, translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s web 
site: www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below.
Contact
Andrew Weir by email: andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk 

Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting
Eleanor Kelly
Chief Executive
Date: 7 April 2021

Open Agenda

http://www.southwark.gov.uk/Public/Home.aspx
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk


Licensing Sub-Committee
Thursday 15 April 2021

10.00 am
Online/Virtual: please contact andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk for a link to the 

meeting and the instructions for joining the online meeting

Order of Business

Item No. Title Page No.

PART A - OPEN BUSINESS

1. APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

2. CONFIRMATION OF VOTING MEMBERS

A representative of each political group will confirm the voting members of 
the committee.

3. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR 
DEEMS URGENT

In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda 
within five clear days of the meeting.

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS

Members to declare any interests and dispensation in respect of any item 
of business to be considered at this meeting.

5. MIK K-POP FESTIVAL, SOUTHWARK PARK, SOUTH SECTION, 
HAWKSTONE ROAD, LONDON SE16 2PE

1 - 134

6. LICENSING ACT 2003: BIG TOWN RESTAURANTS, 302 WALWORTH 
ROAD, LONDON SE17 2TE

135 - 173

ANY OTHER OPEN BUSINESS AS NOTIFIED AT THE START OF THE 
MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS URGENT.



Item No. Title Page No.

PART B - CLOSED BUSINESS

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

The following motion should be moved, seconded and approved if the 
sub-committee wishes to exclude the press and public to deal with reports 
revealing exempt information:

“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1-7, Access to 
Information Procedure rules of the Constitution.”

ANY OTHER CLOSED BUSINESS AS NOTIFIED AT THE START OF 
THE MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS URGENT.

Date:  7 April 2021



Item No. 
5.

Classification:
Open

Date:
15 April 2021

Meeting Name:
Licensing Sub-Committee

Report Title MIK K-Pop Festival, Southwark Park, South 
Section, Hawkstone Road, London SE16 2PE

Ward(s) of group(s) affected Rotherhithe

From Strategic Director of Environment  and Leisure

RECOMMENDATION

1. That the licensing sub-committee considers whether an application made by 
Magic Sound Limited for a time limited premises licence be granted under the 
Licensing Act 2003 in respect of the premises known as Southwark Park, 
South Section, Hawkstone Road, London SE16 2PE.

2. Notes:

a) This application is submitted under Section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003 
and is for a time limited premises licence. The application is subject to 
representations submitted by responsible authorities and an ‘other 
person’ and is therefore referred to the licensing sub-committee for 
determination.

b) Paragraphs 8 to 15 of this report provide a summary of the application. 
Copies of the full application and related documentation are attached as 
Appendix A.

c) Paragraphs 16 to 24 of this report deal with the representations 
submitted in respect of the application. Copies of the representations 
submitted by responsible authorities, and related correspondence, are 
attached to this report as Appendix B. Copies of the representation 
submitted by the ‘other person’, and related correspondence, are 
attached to this report as Appendix C. A plan showing the location of the 
event area within Southwark Park is attached to this report as Appendix 
E. A map showing the location of Southwark Park is attached as 
Appendix F.

d) A copy of the council’s approved procedure for hearings of the sub-
committee in relation to an application made under the Licensing Act 
2003, along with a copy of the hearing regulations, has been circulated 
to all parties to the meeting. 

1
Agenda Item 5



BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Licensing Act 2003

3. The Licensing Act 2003  provides a licensing regime for:

 The sale of and supply of alcohol
 The provision of regulated entertainment
 The provision of late night refreshment.

4. Within Southwark, the licensing responsibility is wholly administered by this 
council.

5. The Act requires the licensing authority to carry out its functions under the Act 
with a view to promoting the four stated licensing objectives. These are:

 The prevention of crime and disorder
 The promotion of public safety
 The prevention of nuisance
 The protection of children from harm.

6. In carrying out its licensing functions, a licensing authority must also have 
regard to

 The Act itself
 The guidance to the act issued under Section 182 of the Act
 Secondary regulations issued under the Act
 The licensing authority’s own statement of licensing policy
 The application, including the operating schedule submitted as part of 

the application
 Relevant representations.

7. The premises licence application process involves the provision of all relevant 
information required under the Act to the licensing authority with copies 
provided by the applicant to the relevant responsible bodies under the Act. 
The application must also be advertised at the premises and in the local 
press. The responsible authorities and other persons within the local 
community may make representations on any part of the application where 
relevant to the four licensing objectives.

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION

The premises licence application

8. On 11 February 2021 Magic Sound Limited applied to this council for the 
grant of a time limited premises licence in respect of Southwark Park, South 
Section, Hawkstone Road, London SE16 2PE.

9. The application is for a time limited premises licence to have effect on one 
weekend, a Saturday and the immediately following Sunday only, between 1 

2



June 2021 and 30 September 2023 to facilitate a festival known as the ‘MIK K 
– Pop Festival’. The application is summarised as follows: 

 The provision of plays, films, live music, recorded music, 
performance of dance, any thing similar to live or recorded music:

o Saturday: 12:00 to 22:00
o Sunday: 12:00 to 22:00

 The sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises

o Saturday: 12:00 to 21:30
o Sunday: 12:00 to 21:30

 Proposed opening hours of the premises 

o Saturday: 12:00 to 22:15
o Sunday: 12:00 to 22:15

 The application seeks to allow up to 14999 people to attend the 
premises at any one time.

10. The premises licence application form includes an ‘operating schedule’. Parts 
A, B, E, F, G, J, K, L and M of the operating schedule set out the proposed 
licensable activities, operating hours and operational control measures in full 
with reference to the four licensing objectives. Should a premises licence be 
issued in respect of the application then the information provided in part M of 
the operating schedule will form the basis of conditions that will be attached to 
any licence granted subsequent to the application. An event management 
plan was submitted with the application. Copies of the application and the 
event management plan are attached to this report as Appendix A.  

11. The premises are a specified section of a Southwark Park which will be 
fenced off. The section of the park to be used is shown in the premises plan 
attached as Appendix D.

12. NB - The council’s events team already holds a premises licence that allows 
for the provision of regulated entertainment in the entirety of Southwark Park 
(licence number 010878), however the licence only allows for events in 
respect of up to 4999 attendees and does not allow for the sale of alcohol. 
Details of licence number 010878 are as follows:

 The provision of plays, films, live music, recorded music, 
performance of dance, anything similar to live or recorded music:

o Monday to Thursday: 10:00 to 21:00
o Friday and Saturday: 10:00 to 22:00
o Sunday: 11:00 to 21:00

3



 Opening hours of the premises:

o Monday to Sunday: 08:00 to 22:00.

13. At any event in Southwark’s parks or open spaces pertaining to which the 
event organiser proposes to allow for more than 4999 attendees, or to allow 
for the sale of alcohol, a new (time limited) premises licence must be applied 
for to allow both. There are two other matters, outlined below, which the 
above application seeks to address and thus, fundamentally the application is 
to:

 Allow for up to 14999 attendees (instead of 4999 as is permitted by the 
premises licence held in respect of Southwark Park by the council’s 
events team)

 Allow the sale of alcohol at the proposed event (which is not permitted 
by the premises licence held in respect of Southwark Park by the 
council’s events team)

 Allow regulated entertainment to take place until 22:00 on the Sunday of 
the event (the premises licence held in respect of the park by the 
council’s events team only allows for regulated entertainment to take 
place until 21:00 on Sundays).

 Allow the event site to be open to the public until 22:15 on both the 
Saturday and Sunday of the event (the premises licence held in respect 
of the park by the council’s events team only allows for event sites to be 
open to the public until 22:00 on Saturdays and Sundays).

14. Please note that permission for the event to take place has already been 
granted by the council’s events team. If this application is not granted the 
event can still take place under licence 010878, albeit only for up to 4999 
attendees, without the sale of alcohol permitted and with curtailed operating 
hours. The ‘other person’ has been informed of this. The sub-committee are 
invited to consider the application in the above context.

Designated premises supervisor

15. The proposed designated premises supervisor (DPS) is Harry Feigen.

Representations from responsible authorities

16. Representations were submitted by this council’s environmental protection 
team and also by the Metropolitan Police Service.

17. The representation submitted by the environmental protection team 
suggested a control measure that should become a condition of any licence 
issued subsequent to the application. The applicant agreed to amend the 
application to include the suggested control measure and the environmental 
protection team withdrew their representation.

4



18. The representation submitted by the Metropolitan Police Service suggested 
control measures that should become conditions of any licence issued 
subsequent to the application. Following discussions with the Metropolitan 
Police Service, the applicant agreed to amend the application to include 
various control measures and the Metropolitan Police Service withdrew their 
representation.

19. Copies of the representations submitted by the environmental protection team 
and the Metropolitan Police Service, and related correspondence, are 
attached as Appendix B.

Representations from other persons

20. One representation objecting to the application was submitted by an ‘other 
person’, the other person being a local tenants and residents association. 

21. The representation is concerned with the location within the park that the 
event is proposed to be held, the possible adverse effect on local sports 
teams who use the park and the possible deleterious effect that events taking 
place under the proposed licence may have on the fabric of the park. Other 
concerns also include the effect the event may have on public transport 
provision in the locale, possible noise and light nuisance arising from events 
held under the proposed licence, possible anti-social behaviour and  crime 
and disorder related to the provision of events under the proposed licence 
and the risk of increased transmission of COVID-19 regarding events held 
under the proposed licence.

22. NB – The licensing sub-committee can only consider matters pertaining to the 
four licensing objectives and therefore the parts of the representation 
concerned with the possible deleterious effect that events taking place under 
the proposed licence may have on the fabric of the park, the possible adverse 
effect on local sports teams who use the park and the effect the event may 
have on public transport provision in the locale cannot be considered. 

23. Concerns regarding possible noise and light nuisance, anti-social behavior, 
crime and disorder, the risk of increased transmission of COVID-19 and the 
effect that the proposed number of attendees will have on these issues can 
be considered by the licensing sub-committee.

24. A copy of the representation submitted by the other person is attached as 
Appendix C.

Conciliation

25. The applicant was sent copies of all the representations. The applicant was 
advised that they could reply, via the licensing unit, to the representation 
submitted by the other person. The applicant was advised to contact directly 
any responsible authorities who had submitted representations.

26. The environmental protection team and the Metropolitan Police Service have 
now conciliated and have withdrawn their representations.

5



27. The applicant provided a response to the other person’s representation and 
this response was sent to the other person however, at the time of the writing 
of this report, the representation submitted by the other person remains 
outstanding and so must be considered by the licensing sub-committee. The 
licensing sub-committee will be apprised to any conciliation of the other 
person, at the hearing to determine this application.

Premises history

28. Southwark Council’s events team holds a premise licence in respect of 
Southwark Park. The licence number is 010878 and was issued on 16 
January 2007. Details of the licence are provided in paragraph 12 above. The 
licence allows for a maximum of up to 4999 attendees at events held under 
the licence. A copy of licence number 010878 is attached as Appendix D. 

29. On 7 May 2013 a time limited premises licence, to have effect between 3 
October 2013 and 6 October 2013 was issued to London Oktoberfest Limited. 
The licence allowed for the provision of live and recorded music and the sale 
of alcohol on Thursday and Friday between 16:00 and 23:00, on Saturday 
between 12:00 and 23:00 and on Sunday between 12:00 and 19:00. The 
licence allowed for a maximum of up to 4999 attendees at any event to be 
held under the licence.

30. On 7 May 2013 a time limited premises licence to have effect on 30 June 
2016 only was issued to The London Borough of Southwark to facilitate an 
event known as ‘Bermondsey Carnival’. The licence allowed for the provision 
of plays, films, live and recorded music performances of dance and 
entertainments similar to live and recorded music between 12:00 and 20:00. 
The licence allowed for the sale of alcohol between 12:00 and 19:45. The 
licence allowed for a maximum of up to 4999 attendees at any event to be 
held under the licence.

31. On 13 October 2018 a time limited premises licence to have effect between 7 
November 2018 and 11 January 2019 was issued to Marcus Van Der Gaag to 
facilitate an event known as ‘Alice in Wonderland Lantern Festival’. The 
licence allowed for the provision of recorded music, entertainment similar to 
live or recorded music and the sale of alcohol on Monday to Sunday between 
15:00 and 21:00. The licence allowed for the provision of live music on 
Sunday to Thursday between 15:00 and 21:00 and on Friday and Saturday 
between 15:00 and 22:00. The application for this event was subject to 
representations and was determined at a licensing sub-committee hearing. 
The licence allowed for a maximum of up to 4999 attendees at any event to 
be held under the licence.

32. On 2 April 2019 a time limited premises licence, to have effect on 6 July 2019 
only, was issued to Continental Drifts Limited to facilitate an event known as 
‘Bermondsey Carnival’. The licence allowed for the provision of plays, films, 
live and recorded music performances of dance and entertainments similar to 
live and recorded music and the sale of alcohol between 12:00 and 20:00. 

6



The licence allowed for a maximum of up to 4999 attendees at any event to 
be held under the licence.

33. On 11 February 2021 Magic Sound Limited applied to this council for the 
grant of a time limited premises licence in respect of Southwark Park, South 
Section, Hawkstone Road, London, SE16 2PE.

Map 

34. A map showing the location of Southwark Park is attached to this report as 
Appendix F. 

Southwark council statement of licensing policy

35. Council assembly approved Southwark’s statement of licensing policy 2021-
2026 on 25 November 2020 and it came into effect on 1 January 2021.

36. Sections of the statement that are considered to be of particular relevance to 
the sub-committee’s consideration are:

 Section 3 - Purpose and scope of the policy. This reinforces the four 
licensing objectives and the fundamental principles upon which this 
Authority relies in determining licence applications

 Section 5 – Determining applications for premises licences and club 
premises certificates. This explains how the policy works and considers 
issues such as location; high standards of management; and the 
principles behind condition setting.

 Section 6 – Local cumulative impact policies. This sets out this 
authority’s approach to cumulative impact and defines the boundaries of 
the current special policy areas and the classifications of premises to 
which they apply. To be read in conjunction with Appendix B to the 
policy.

 Section 7 – Hours of operation. This provides a guide to the hours of 
licensed operation that this Authority might consider appropriate by type 
of premises and (planning) area classification.

 Section 8 – The prevention of crime and disorder. This provides general 
guidance on the promotion of the first licensing objective.

 Section 9 – Public safety. This provides general guidance on the 
promotion of the second licensing objective.

 Section 10 – The prevention of nuisance. This provides general 
guidance on the promotion of the third licensing objective.

 Section 11 – The protection of children from harm. This provides 
general guidance on the promotion of the fourth licensing objective.

7



37. The purpose of Southwark’s statement of licensing policy is to make clear to 
applicants what considerations will be taken into account when determining 
applications and should act as a guide to the sub-committee when 
considering the applications. However, the sub-committee must always 
consider each application on its own merits and allow exceptions to the 
normal policy where these are justified by the circumstances of the 
application.

38. The statement of licensing policy states that the premises are located in a 
residential area. Below are closing times for various types of premises in 
residential areas in Southwark as suggested in the statement of licensing 
policy:

 Restaurants, cafes and takeaway establishments:

o Monday to Sunday: 23:00

 Public houses, wine bars or other drinking establishments:

o Monday to Sunday: 23:00

 Event premises/ spaces where sale of alcohol is included in, and 
ancillary to, range of activities including meals:

o Monday to Sunday: 23:00
 
 Night clubs:

o Not considered suitable for residential areas.

Resource implications

39. A fee of £2100.00 has been paid by the applicant in respect of this 
application, that fee being the statutory fee payable for premises within non-
domestic rateable value band ‘A’ and where the additional fee in respect of 
10000 – 14999 people being in attendance at the premises at any one time 
applies. 

Consultation

40. Consultation has been carried out on this application in accordance with the 
provisions of the Licensing Act 2003. A public notice was published in a local 
newspaper and similar notices were exhibited outside of the premises for a 
period of 28 consecutive days.

Community impact statement

41. Each application is required by law to be considered upon its own individual 
merits with all relevant matters taken into account.

8



SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS

Director of Law and Governance

42. The sub-committee is asked to determine the application for a premises 
licence under Section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003.

43. The principles which sub-committee members must apply are set out 
below.

Principles for making the determination

44. The sub-committee is asked to determine the application for a premises 
licence under section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003.

45. The principles which sub-committee members must apply are set out 
below.

46. The general principle is that applications for premises licence applications 
must be granted unless relevant representations are received. This is 
subject to the proviso that the applicant has complied with regulations in 
advertising and submitting the application.

47. Relevant representations are those which:

 Are about the likely effect of the granting of the application on the 
promotion of the licensing objectives

 Are made by an interested party or responsible authority
 Have not been withdrawn
 Are not, in the opinion of the relevant licensing authority, frivolous or 

vexatious.

48. If relevant representations are received then the sub-committee must have 
regard to them, in determining whether it is necessary for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives to:

 To grant the licence subject to:

o The conditions mentioned in section 18 (2)(a) modified to such 
extent as the licensing authority considers necessary for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives

o Any condition which must under section 19, 20 or 21 be 
included in the licence.

 To exclude from the scope of the licence any of the licensable 
activities to which the application relates.

 To refuse to specify a person in the licence as the premises 
supervisor.

 To reject the application.

9



Conditions

49. The sub-committee’s discretion is thus limited. It can only modify the 
conditions put forward by the applicant, or refuse the application, if it is 
necessary to do so. Conditions must be necessary and proportionate for 
the promotion of one of the four licensing objectives, and not for any other 
reason. Conditions must also be within the control of the licensee, and 
should be worded in a way which is clear, certain, consistent and 
enforceable.

50. The four licensing objectives are:

 The prevention of crime and disorder
 Public safety
 The prevention of nuisance
 The protection of children from harm.

51. Members should note that each objective is of equal importance. There are 
no other licensing objectives, and the four objectives are paramount 
considerations at all times.

52. Conditions will not be necessary if they duplicate a statutory position. 
Conditions relating to night café and take away aspect of the license must 
relate to the night time operation of the premises and must not be used to 
impose conditions which could not be imposed on day time operators.

53. Members are also referred to the Home Office Revised Guidance issued 
under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 on conditions, specifically 
section 10.

Reasons

54. If the sub-committee determines that it is necessary to modify the 
conditions, or to refuse the application for a premises licence application, it 
must give reasons for its decision.

Hearing procedures

55. Subject to the licensing hearing regulations, the licensing committee may 
determine its own procedures. Key elements of the regulations are that:

 The hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the authority. 
Cross examination shall not be permitted unless the authority 
considered that it is required for it to consider the representations.

 Members of the authority are free to ask any question of any party or 
other person appearing at the hearing.

 The committee must allow the parties an equal maximum period of 
time in which to exercise their rights to:

10



o Address the authority
o If given permission by the committee, question any other party.
o In response to a point which the authority has given notice it will 

require clarification, give further information in support of their 
application.

 The committee shall disregard any information given by a party which 
is not relevant to the particular application before the committee and 
the licensing objectives.

 The hearing shall be in public, although the committee may exclude 
the public from all or part of a hearing where it considers that the 
public interest in doing so outweighs the public interest in the hearing, 
or that part of the hearing, taking place in private.

 In considering any representations or notice made by a party the 
authority may take into account documentary or other information 
produced by a party in support of their application, representations or 
notice (as applicable) either before the hearing or, with the consent of 
all the other parties, at the hearing.

56. This matter relates to the determination of an application for a premises 
licence under Section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003. Regulation 26(1) (a) 
requires the sub-committee to make its determination at the conclusion of 
the hearing.

Council’s multiple roles and the role of the licensing sub-committee

57. Sub-committee members will note that, in relation to this application, the 
council has multiple roles. Council officers from various departments have 
been asked to consider the application from the perspective of the council 
as authority responsible respectively for environmental health, trading 
standards, health and safety and as the planning authority.

58. Members should note that the licensing sub-committee is meeting on this 
occasion solely to perform the role of licensing authority. The sub-
committee sits in quasi-judicial capacity, and must act impartially. It must 
offer a fair and unbiased hearing of the application. In this case, members 
should disregard the council’s broader policy objectives and role as 
statutory authority in other contexts. Members must direct themselves to 
making a determination solely based upon the licensing law, guidance and 
the council’s statement of licensing policy.

59. As a quasi-judicial body the licensing sub-committee is required to consider 
the application on its merits. The sub-committee must take into account 
only relevant factors, and ignore irrelevant factors. The decision must be 
based on evidence, that is to say material, which tends logically to show the 
existence or non-existence of relevant facts, or the likelihood or 
unlikelihood of the occurrence of some future event, the occurrence of 
which would be relevant. The licensing sub-committee must give fair 

11



consideration to the contentions of all persons entitled to make 
representations to them.

60. The licensing sub-committee is entitled to consider events outside of the 
premises if they are relevant, i.e. are properly attributable to the premises 
being open. The proprietors do not have to be personally responsible for 
the incidents for the same to be relevant. However, if such events are not 
properly attributable to the premises being open, then the evidence is not 
relevant and should be excluded. Guidance is that the licensing authority 
will primarily focus on the direct impact of the activities taking place at the 
licensed premises on members of the public, living, working or engaged in 
normal activity in the area concerned.

61. Members will be aware of the council’s code of conduct which requires 
them to declare personal and prejudicial interests. The code applies to 
members when considering licensing applications. In addition, as a quasi-
judicial body, members are required to avoid both actual bias, and the 
appearance of bias.

62. The sub-committee can only consider matters within the application that 
have been raised through representations from other persons and 
responsible authorities. Interested parties must live in the vicinity of the 
premises. This will be decided on a case to case basis.

63. Under the Human Rights Act 1998, the sub-committee needs to consider 
the balance between the rights of the applicant and those making 
representations to the application when making their decision. The sub-
committee has a duty under section 17 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 when 
making its decision to do all it can to prevent crime and disorder in the 
borough.

64. Other persons, responsible authorities and the applicant have the right to 
appeal the decision of the sub-committee to the magistrates’ court within a 
period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the applicant was 
notified by the licensing authority of the decision to be appealed against.

Guidance

65. Members are required to have regard to the Home Office guidance in 
carrying out the functions of licensing authority. However, guidance does 
not cover every possible situation, so long as the guidance has been 
properly and carefully understood, members may depart from it if they have 
reason to do so. Full reasons must be given if this is the case.

Strategic Director of Finance and Governance

66. The head of regulatory services has confirmed that the costs of this 
process over and above the application fee are borne by the service. 

12



BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

 Background Papers  Held At  Contact
 Licensing Act 2003
Home Office Revised 
Guidance to the Act
 Secondary Regulations
 Southwark statement of 
 licensing 
 policy Case file

 Southwark Licensing, 
 C/O 
 Community Safety and 
 Enforcement, 160 
 Tooley Street, 
 London SE1 2QH

 Mrs Kirty Read
Phone Tel: 020 7525 5748

APPENDICES

Name Title
Appendix A Copies of the application and related documentation
Appendix B Copies of the representations submitted by the environmental 

protection team and the Metropolitan Police Service, and 
related correspondence

Appendix C Copy of the representation submitted by an ‘other person’
Appendix D Copy of premises licence number 010878
Appendix E Plan showing the location of the proposed event area in 

Southwark Park of the local area
Appendix F Map showing the location of Southwark Park

AUDIT TRAIL

Lead Officer Caroline Bruce, Strategic Director of Environment and Leisure
Report Author Wesley McArthur, Principal Licensing Officer

Version Final
Dated 29 March 2021

Key Decision? No
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER
Officer Title Comments sought Comments included
Director of Law and Governance Yes Yes
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Governance

Yes Yes

Cabinet Member No No
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 30 March 2021

13



                                                                                                        APPENDIX A

11/02/2021 
Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003 
Ref No. 1618992

Name of Applicant

Please enter the name(s) who is applying for a premises licence under section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003
and am making this application to you as the relevant licensing authority in accordance with section 12 of the
Licensing Act 2003

Magic Sound Limited

Notes for Guidance

1. Describe the premises, for example the type of premises, its general situation and layout and any other
information which could be relevant to the licensing objectives. Where your application includes off-supplies of
alcohol and you intend to provide a place for consumption of these off-supplies, you must include a description
of where the place will be and its proximity to the premises.
2. In terms of specific regulated entertainments please note that:
• Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08:00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the
audience does not exceed 500.
• Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in community premises between
08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that the audience does not exceed 500 and the organiser (a) gets
consent to the screening from a person who is responsible for the premises; and (b) ensures that each such
screening abides by age classification ratings.
• Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day,
provided that the audience does not exceed 1000.
• Boxing or Wrestling Entertainment:  no licence is required for a contest, exhibition or display of
Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience
does not exceed 1000. Combined fighting sports – defined as a contest, exhibition or display which combines
boxing or wrestling with one or more martial arts – are licensable as a boxing or wrestling entertainment rather
than an indoor sporting event.
• Live music: no licence permission is required for:
o a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, on any premises.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to
sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a workplace that is not
licensed to sell alcohol on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village
hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell
alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the
performance from a person who is responsible for the premises.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-residential
premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not
exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local
authority concerned, or (ii) the school or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital.
• Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for:
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to sell
alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500.
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village hall,
community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol,
provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance
from a person who is responsible for the premises.
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-residential premises of
(i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and
(b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority
concerned, or (ii) the school proprietor or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital.
• Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the
audience does not exceed 500. However, a performance which amounts to adult entertainment remains
licensable.
• Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, with no limit on
audience size for:
o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where the entertainment is
provided by or on behalf of the local authority;
o any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care provider where the

14



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care provider; 

o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the entertainment is provided by or
on behalf of the school proprietor; and

o any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling entertainment) taking place at a travelling
circus, provided that (a) it takes place within a moveable structure that accommodates the audience, and (b)
that the travelling circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 consecutive days.

3. Where taking place in a building or other structure please tick as appropriate (indoors may include a
tent).

4. For example the type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details,
for example (but not exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

5. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer
months.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

7. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16.00) and only give details for the days of the week when
you intend the premises to be used for the activity.

8. If you wish people to be able to consume alcohol on the premises, please tick ‘on the premises’.  If you
wish people to be able to purchase alcohol to consume away from the premises, please tick ‘off the premises’.
If you wish people to be able to do both, please tick ‘both’.

9. Please give information about anything intended to occur at the premises or ancillary to the use of the
premises which may give rise to concern in respect of children, regardless of whether you intend children to
have access to the premises, for example (but not exclusively) nudity or semi-nudity, films for restricted age
groups or the presence of gaming machines.

10. Please list here steps you will take to promote all four licensing objectives together.

11. The application form must be signed.

12. An applicant’s agent (for example solicitor) may sign the form on their behalf provided that they have
actual authority to do so.

13. Where there is more than one applicant, each of the applicants or their respective agent must sign the
application form.

14. This is the address which we shall use to correspond with you about this application.

15. Entitlement to work/immigration status for individual applicants and applications

from partnerships which are not limited liability partnerships:

15



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

A licence may not be held by an individual or an individual in a partnership who is resident in the UK who: 

• does not have the right to live and work in the UK; or

• is subject to a condition preventing him or her from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable
activity.

Any premises licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 April 2017 will become invalid if the
holder ceases to be entitled to work in the UK.

Applicants must demonstrate that they have an entitlement to work in the UK and are not subject to a condition
preventing them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity. They do this in one of two
ways: 1) by providing with this application copies or scanned copies of the documents listed below (which do
not need to be certified), or 2) by providing their ‘share code’ to enable the licensing authority to carry out a
check using the Home Office online right to work checking service (see below).

Documents which demonstrate entitlement to work in the UK

• An expired or current passport showing the holder, or a person named in the passport as the child of
the holder, is a British citizen or a citizen of the UK and Colonies having the right of abode in the UK [please see
note below about which sections of the passport to copy].

• An expired or current passport or national identity card showing the holder, or a person named in the
passport as the child of the holder, is a national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.

• A Registration Certificate or document certifying permanent residence issued by the Home Office to a
national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.

• A Permanent Residence Card issued by the Home Office to the family member of a national of a
European Economic Area country or Switzerland.

• A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by the Home Office to
the holder indicating that the person named is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK, or has no time limit on their
stay in the UK.

• A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is exempt from immigration control, is allowed to
stay indefinitely in the UK, has the right of abode in the UK, or has no time limit on their stay in the UK.

16



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

• A current Immigration Status Document issued by the Home Office to the holder with an endorsement
indicating that the named person is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK or has no time limit on their stay in the
UK, when produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance
number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.

• A birth or adoption certificate issued in the UK, when produced in combination with an official document
giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a
previous employer.

• A birth or adoption certificate issued in the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or Ireland when produced in
combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their
name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.

• A certificate of registration or naturalisation as a British citizen, when produced in combination with an
official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a
Government agency or a previous employer.

• A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is allowed to stay in the UK and is currently
allowed to work and is not subject to a condition preventing the holder from doing work relating to the carrying
on of a licensable activity.

• A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by the Home Office to
the holder which indicates that the named person can currently stay in the UK and is allowed to work relation to
the carrying on of a licensable activity.

• A current Residence Card issued by the Home Office to a person who is not a national of a European
Economic Area state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has derivative rights
or residence.

• A current Immigration Status Document containing a photograph issued by the Home Office to the
holder with an endorsement indicating that the named person may stay in the UK, and is allowed to work and is
not subject to a condition preventing the holder from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable
activity when produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National
Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.

• A Certificate of Application, less than 6 months old, issued by the Home Office under regulation 18(3) or
20(2) of the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2016, to a person who is not a national of a

17



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

European Economic Area state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has
derivative rights of residence. 

• Reasonable evidence that the person has an outstanding application to vary their permission to be in
the UK with the Home Office such as the Home Office acknowledgement letter or proof of postage evidence, or
reasonable evidence that the person has an appeal or administrative review pending on an immigration
decision, such as an appeal or administrative review reference number.

• Reasonable evidence that a person who is not a national of a European Economic Area state or
Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has derivative rights of residence in
exercising treaty rights in the UK including:

o evidence of the applicant’s own identity – such as a passport,

o evidence of their relationship with the European Economic Area family member – e.g. a marriage
certificate, civil partnership certificate or birth certificate, and

o evidence that the European Economic Area national has a right of permanent residence in the UK or is
one of the following if they have been in the UK for more than 3 months:

(i) working e.g. employment contract, wage slips, letter from the employer,

(ii) self-employed e.g. contracts, invoices, or audited accounts with a bank,

(iii) studying e.g. letter from the school, college or university and evidence of sufficient funds; or

(iv) self-sufficient e.g. bank statements.

Family members of European Economic Area nationals who are studying or financially independent must also
provide evidence that the European Economic Area national and any family members hold comprehensive
sickness insurance in the UK. This can include a private medical insurance policy, an EHIC card or an S1, S2 or
S3 form.

Original documents must not be sent to licensing authorities. If the document copied is a passport, a copy of the
following pages should be provided:

(i) any page containing the holder’s personal details including nationality;

(ii) any page containing the holder’s photograph;

(iii) any page containing the holder’s signature;

18



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

(iv) any page containing the date of expiry; and

(v) any page containing information indicating the holder has permission to enter or remain in

       the UK and is permitted to work.

If the document is not a passport, a copy of the whole document should be provided.

Your right to work will be checked as part of your licensing application and this could involve us checking your
immigration status with the Home Office. We may otherwise share information with the Home Office. Your
licence application will not be determined until you have complied with this guidance.

Home Office online right to work checking service

As an alternative to providing a copy of the documents listed above, applicants may demonstrate their right to
work by allowing the licensing authority to carry out a check with the Home Office online right to work checking
service. 

To demonstrate their right to work via the Home Office online right to work checking service, applicants should
include in this application their 9-digit share code (provided to them upon accessing the service at
https://www.gov.uk/prove-right-to-work) which, along with the applicant’s date of birth (provided within this
application), will allow the licensing authority to carry out the check. 

In order to establish the applicant’s right to work, the check will need to indicate that the applicant is allowed to
work in the United Kingdom and is not subject to a condition preventing them from doing work relating to the
carrying on of a licensable activity.

An online check will not be possible in all circumstances because not all applicants will have an immigration
status that can be checked online. The Home Office online right to work checking service sets out what
information and/or documentation applicants will need in order to access the service. Applicants who are unable
to obtain a share code from the service should submit copy documents as set out above.

Premises Details

Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Non-domestic rateable value of premises in order to see your rateable value click here (opens in new window)

£ 0

Band D and E only applies to premises which uses exclusively or primarily for the
supply of alcohol for 
consumption on the premises

Premises trading name

MIK K-Pop Festival

19



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Postal address of premises or, if none, ordnance survey map reference or description

Do you have a
Southwark
postcode?

Yes

Address Line 1 Southwark Park, South Section

Address Line 2 Hawkstone Road

Town London

Post code SE16 2PE

Ordnance survey
map reference

Description of the
location

Southwark Park

Telephone number

Applicant Details

Please select whether you are applying for a premises licence as

a person other than an individual (limited company, partnership etc)

If you are applying as an individual or non-individual please select one of the following:-

I am carrying on or proposing to carry on a business which involves the use of the
<br>premises for licensable activities

Other Applicants

Please provide name and registered address of applicant in full. Where appropriate please give any registered
number. In the case of a partnership or other joint venture (other than a body corporate), please give the name
and address of each party concerned.

Personal Details - First Entry

Name Magic Sound Limited

Address - First Entry

Street number or
building name

16 First Floor

Street Description Ingestre Place
Town London

County

Post code W1F 0JJ
Registered number (
where applicable )

07433425

20



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Description of
applicant ( for
example,
partnership,
company,
unincorporated
association etc )

A limited company

Contact Details - First Entry

Telephone number

Email address

Operating Schedule

When do you want the premises licence to start?

01/06/2021

If you wish the licence to be valid only for a limited period, when do you want it to end?

30/09/2023

General description of premises ( see guidance note 1 )

Southwark Park is a South London park in the London borough of Southwark that
covers an area of 25 hectares. The park is divided into two distinct areas the North End
and the South End of the park. 

MIK K-Pop Festival will take place in an area in the South End of the park across the
central green space in front of the café and lake. The event takes up approximately
19% of the park and will take place over a Saturday and Sunday over one weekend
between June and September annually. 

The perimeter of the site is grassland. All public paths will be maintained during the
build and break period of the event and an access route will be maintained through the
park during the event days. Vehicular and pedestrian access to the event will be
through the parks existing network of internal roads and paths, served by access points
around the park's perimeter. The event will be built in phases to minimise disruption to
local residents.

Consultation will take place the park management team and park assets will be
protected. 

The park is well served by public transport routes including the underground, rail,
overground and bus network and is linked to a number of cycling routes.

If 5,000 or more people are expected to attend the premises at any one time please use the drop down below
to select the number.

10000 to 14999

Note 1

21



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Describe the premises. For example the type of premises, its general situation and layout and any other
information which could be relevant to the licensing objectives. Where your application includes off-supplies of
alcohol and you intend to provide a  place of consumption of these off-supplies of alcohol, you must include a
description of where the place will be and its proximity to the premises.

Operating Schedule part 2

What licensable activities do you intend to carry on from the premises?

(Please see sections 1 and 14 of the Licensing Act 2003 and schedule 1 and 2 of the 
Licensing Act 2003)

Provision of regulated entertainment (Please read guidance note 2)

a) plays

b) films

e) live music

f) recorded music

g) performance of dance

Provision of late night refreshment

Supply of alcohol

j) Supply of alcohol

In all cases please complete boxes K, L and M.

A - Plays

Will the performance of a play take place indoors or outdoors or both? (Please read guidance note 3)

Both

Please give further details here (Please read guidance note 4)

Plays may be performed in a temporary structure such as a marquee, between 12:00
and 22:00. Associated voice and music may be amplified.

22



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Standard days and timings for Plays (Please read guidance note 7)

Day Start Finish

Mon

Tues

Wed

Thur

Fri

Sat 12:00 22:00

Sun 12:00 22:00

State any seasonal variations for performing plays ( Please read guidance note 5 )

The event may take place between June and September each year. The event date will
be agreed at least four months before the event each year.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for the performance of plays at different times to
those listed. ( Please read guidance note 6 )

3. Where taking place in a building or other structure please tick as appropriate (indoors may include a tent).

4. For example the type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details,
for example (but not exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

5. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

7. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16.00) and only give details for the days of the week when you
intend the premises to be used for the activity.

B- Films

Will the exhibition of films take place indoors or outdoors or both? ( Please read guidance note 3)

Both

Please give further details here ( Please read guidance note 4)

The showing of films, including short films, may be performed in a temporary structure
such as a marquee and take place between 12:00 and 22:00. Film may be amplified.

Standard days and timings for Films ( Please read guidance note 7)

23



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Day Start Finish

Mon

Tues

Wed

Thur

Fri

Sat 12:00 22:00

Sun 12:00 22:00

State any seasonal variations for the exhibition of films ( Please read guidance note 5)

The event may take place between June and September each year. The event date will
be agreed at least four months before the event each year.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for the exhibition of films at different times to
those listed. ( Please read guidance note 6 )

3. Where taking place in a building or other structure please tick as appropriate (indoors may include a tent).

4. For example the type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details,
for example (but not exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

5. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

7. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16.00) and only give details for the days of the week when you
intend the premises to be used for the activity.

E - Live Music

Will the performance of live music take place indoors or outdoors or both? ( Please read guidance note 3)

Both

Please give further details here ( Please read guidance note 4)

Live music, including performances by DJs, may take place between 12:00 and 22:00.
Performances may be amplified.

Standard days and timings for Live Music ( Please read guidance note 7)

Day Start Finish

Mon

Tues

24



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Wed

Thur

Fri

Sat 12:00 22:00

Sun 12:00 22:00

State any seasonal variations for the performance of live music ( Please read guidance note 5 )

The event may take place between June and September each year. The event date will
be agreed at least four months before the event each year.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for the performance of live music at different
times to those listed. ( Please read guidance note 6 )

3. Where taking place in a building or other structure please tick as appropriate (indoors may include a tent).

4. For example the type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details.

5. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

7. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16.00) and only give details for the days of the week when you
intend the premises to be used for the activity.

F - Recorded Music

Will the playing of recorded music take place indoors or outdoors or both? ( Please read guidance note 3 )

Both

Please give further details here ( Please read guidance note 4)

Recorded music, including performances by DJs may be performed between 12:00 and
22:00. Recorded music may be amplified.

Standard days and timings for Recorded Music ( Please read guidance note 7 )

Day Start Finish

Mon

Tues

Wed

Thur

Fri

25



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Sat 12:00 22:00

Sun 12:00 22:00

State any seasonal variations for playing recorded music ( Please read guidance note 5)

The event may take place between June and September each year. The event date will
be agreed at least four months before the event each year.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for the playing of recorded music entertainment
at different times to those listed. ( Please read guidance note 6 )

3. Where taking place in a building or other structure please tick as appropriate (indoors may include a tent).

4. For example the type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details,
for example (but not exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

5. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

7. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16.00) and only give details for the days of the week when you
intend the premises to be used for the activity.

G - Performances of Dance

Will the performances of dance take place indoors or outdoors or both? ( Please read guidance note 3 )

Both

Please give further details here ( Please read guidance note 4 )

Performances of dance may be performed between 12:00 and 22:00. Accompany
music may be amplified.

Standard days and timings for Performance of dance ( Please read guidance note 7 )

Day Start Finish

Mon

Tues

Wed

Thur

Fri

Sat 12:00 22:00

Sun 12:00 22:00

26



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

State any seasonal variations for the performance of dance ( Please read guidance note 5 )

The event may take place between June and September each year. The event date will
be agreed at least four months before the event each year.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for the performance of dance entertainment at
different times to those listed. ( Please read guidance note 6)

3. Where taking place in a building or other structure please tick as appropriate (indoors may include a tent).

4. For example the type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details,
for example (but not exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

5. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

7. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16.00) and only give details for the days of the week when you
intend the premises to be used for the activity.

J - Supply of Alcohol

Will the supply of alcohol be for consumption ( Please read guidance note 8)

On the premises

Standard days and timings for Supply of alcohol ( Please read guidance note 7)

Day Start Finish

Mon

Tues

Wed

Thur

Fri

Sat 12:00 21:30

Sun 12:00 21:30

State any seasonal variations for the supply of alcohol ( Please read guidance 5)

The event may take place between June and September each year. The event date will
be agreed at least four months before the event each year.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for the supply of alcohol at different times to
those listed. Please list, ( Please read guidance note 6 )

27



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Please download and then upload the consent form completed by the designated proposed premises
supervisor

5. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

7. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16:00) and only give details for the days of the week when you
intend the premises to be used for the activity.

8. If you wish people to be able to consume alcohol on the premises, please tick ‘on the premises’.
If you wish people to be able to purchase alcohol to consume away from the premises, please tick ‘off the
premises’. If you wish people to be able to do both, please tick ‘both’.

Premises Supervisor

State the name and details of the individual whom you wish to specify on the licence as the designated
premises supervisor (Please see declaration about the entitlement to work in the check list at the end of the
form)

Full name of proposed designated premises supervisor

First names Harry

Surname Feigen

DOB

Date Of Birth

Address of proposed designated premises supervisor

Street number or
Building name

Personal licence number of proposed designated premises supervisor, if any,

Personal licence
number ( if known )

Issuing authority ( if
known )

28



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

K

Please highlight any adult entertainment or services, activities, other entertainment or matters ancillary to the
use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children ( Please read guidance note 9)

NA

9. Please give information about anything intended to occur at the premises or ancillary to the use of the
premises which may give rise to concern in respect of children, regardless of whether you intend children to
have access to the premises, for example (but not exclusively) nudity or semi-nudity, films for restricted age
groups or the presence of gaming machines.

L - Hours premises are open to public

5. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

7. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16:00) and only give details for the days of the week when you
intend
the premises to be used for the activity.

Hours premises are open to the public ( standard timings Please read guidance note 7 )

Day Start Finish

Mon

Tues

Wed

Thur

Fri

Sat 12:00 22:15

Sun 12:00 22:15

State any seasonal variations ( Please read guidance note 5 )

The event may take place between June and September each year. The event date will
be agreed at least four months before the event each year.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises to be open to the public at different times from
those listed. Please list, ( Please read guidance note 6 )

M - Steps to promote four licencing objectives

a) General - all four licensing objectives (b,c,d,e) ( Please read guidance note 10 )

29



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

The applicant is an experienced event promoter and organiser of major events
including outdoor music events, festivals and large-scale events across London in
parks and other public spaces.

The applicant has a highly experienced management team and long-term working
relationships with expert specialist contractors to provide the professional services,
infrastructure and equipment to deliver highly professional and safe events.

Planning of the Events

The applicant is applying for a time limited Premises Licence to operate for two days to
take place between 1 June and 30 September in 2021, 2022 and 2023. The event will
usually be scheduled to take place in July but may be adjusted annually with
agreement from the Licensing Authority. The event will take place on a Saturday and
the immediately followed Sunday over one weekend each year to facilitate the MIK
K-Pop Festival.

Notice of the proposed event days will be provided by the Premises Licence Holder to
the Licensing Authority and the Responsible Authorities annually no less than four
months or such other period as may be agreed by the Licensing Authority. Notice will
be provided to the Licensing Authority and the Responsible Authorities. 

The Premises Licence Holder will liaise with the Licensing Authority and with their
agreement attend the Safety Advisory Group (or other body nominated by the
Licensing Authority) to present an Event Management Plan for each event each year. 

The Event Management Plan shall be presented to the Safety Advisory Group in a
draft, working document form, no later than 3 months prior to the date of the first event
day. The Safety Advisory Group will be provided with details of the planning for the
event and will be a forum to scrutinise the plans.

A final version of the Event Management Plan will be submitted to the Safety Advisory
Group no later than 28 days before the first event day. Any significant changes to the
final version of the Event Management Plan in the 28 days before the event shall be
proposed to the Licensing Authority, in consultation with the Responsible Authorities.  

The Event Management Plan shall comprise, but not limited to:

• Event Management Structure
• Event Risk Assessment
• Site Plan
• Construction Phase Plan, Risk Assessments & Method Statements
• Fire Risk Assessment
• Major Incident Plan (including counter terrorism measures)
• Security & Crowd Management Plan
• Medical Risk Assessment and Plan
• Adverse Weather Plan
• Children & Vulnerable Adults Safeguarding Policy
• Transport Plan
• Alcohol Management Plan
• Waste Management Plan
• Health & Safety Policy
• Alcohol and Drug Use Policy
• Coronavirus Risk Assessments & Controls (as required)

Management of the Event

The Premises Licence Holder will appoint an Event Manager who will lead an Event
Management Team. In addition, the Premises Licence Holder will establish both an
Event Control and an Event Liaison Team to operate during events, made up of
representatives of the Event Management Team and representatives from or
nominated by the Safety Advisory Group. The Event Management Structure will set out
the responsibilities of the Event Management Team and be included in the Event
Management Plan.

The Premises Licence Holder will have overall responsibility to implement the Event
Management Plan during the operation of the event. The Event Manager will manage
the operation of the event in accordance with the Event Management Plan with the
involvement of the Event Liaison Team. Changes to the Event Management Plan
during the event shall be made with the consent of the Event Liaison Team and
nominated representatives from the Licensing Authority and Responsible Authorities if

30



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

agreed and required.

Any authorised officer of the London Metropolitan Police, authorised officer of the
London Fire Brigade, authorised officer of London Borough of Southwark, and any
authorised officer of the Child Protection Agency shall have access to the premises at
all reasonable times for the purposes of enforcing the observance of the licence
conditions, for the prevention and detection of crime and criminal activity, the
prevention of public nuisance, public safety and the protection of children from harm.

The Premises Licence Holder will organise a debrief of the event to take place with the
Licensing Authority and Responsible Authorities, within a Safety Advisory Group
meeting within three months of the date of the last event of each year.

Engagement with residents and businesses 

The Premises Licence Holder is committed to ongoing engagement with key
stakeholders to Southwark Park, residents and local business and has begun a
process of engagement with local residents, businesses and elected officials through
established networks, existing organisations and direct outreach. The aim is to
establish effective routes to engage that will be carried out annually to provide
information and receive feedback. A website will provide specific information for local
residents and businesses including contact details.

b) the prevention of crime and disorder

Working with the Police

The Premises Licence Holder will liaise with the Metropolitan Police Service on
procedures, crime prevention advice and other guidance as required including counter
terrorism measures

The Metropolitan Police Service will be notified at the earliest opportunity in the case of
any incidents of serious crime and disorder where an intervention is required to
maintain wider public safety.

Security Planning

Suitable and experienced security and crowd management contractors will be
appointed. The appointed contractor will hold relevant industry accreditation. The
appointed contractors will be required to prepare a Security & Crowd Management Plan
accompanied by appropriate risk assessments and method statements to be included
in the Event Management Plan.

A Security & Crowd Management Plan will be included within the Event Management
Plan. The plan will contain measures as follows:

• To deter and prevent crime and disorder
• To detail the security arrangements to keep attendees, staff, performers safe and
secure
• To detail the security arrangements for protecting assets within the premises including
infrastructure, stages, equipment, etc.
• To detail the security arrangements to prevent unauthorised access to the premises
• To detail the procedures for managing exclusion and eviction from the premises
• To set out procedures for managing incidents of disorder and antisocial behaviour

All staff appointed by the Crowd Management & Security contractor to work on the
event will hold a relevant qualification and have experience. The contractor will be
required to provide details of all staff deployed on the event. 

Security Operation

Security personnel will be present throughout the event and during the period during
the build and break of the event site.

All security and stewarding staff will receive a briefing from the appointed Security &
Crowd Manager prior to each event. All security and stewarding staff will be easily
identifiable in high vis jackets. 

31



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Security staff will be deployed in sufficient numbers for each event based on an
assessment of attendance. Deployment schedules for full, medium and low capacity
events will be included in the Event Management Plan.

Entry to the premises for the event will be managed by SIA staff employed by the
security contractor. Security staff will be briefed on the entry conditions and any
relevant policies or procedures for each event including any event specific
requirements.

Entry conditions will be notified to patrons on the event website and shall be displayed
outside of the premises which can be seen on entry. Information regarding searching
policies and Challenge 25 shall also be displayed at entry points into the premises. 

An incident reporting and recording procedure will be in place, details will be included
within the Event Management Plan. All entry refusals and evictions will be recorded by
Event Control. A copy of the Event Control log and an Incident Log will be maintained
and made available for inspection by the Licensing Authority or an authorised office of
the Metropolitan Police Service on reasonable request. 

Searching on Accessing the Premises

Patrons, staff and contractors will be liable to search on access to the premises. The
purpose of searching is to deter and prevent prohibited items from entering the
premises. 

Details of the search policy and procedure will be included within the Event
Management Plan as part of the Security & Crowd Management Plan.

All relevant security staff will be briefed on the search procedures prior to each event.
The briefing will include details of the conditions of entry and details of prohibited items.

We will provide amnesty bins at entrances. Items surrendered or confiscated will be
held by the Security & Crowd Manager in accordance with procedures agreed with the
Metropolitan Police. Disposal will follow procedures agreed with the Metropolitan
Police. A log will be maintained of confiscations, seizures and disposals. It will be
maintained by the Security & Crowd Manager and be made available inspection by the
Licensing Authority and Metropolitan Police on reasonable request.

Controlling Access Within the Premises

A system of secure ticketing and accreditation will be in place. Only patrons in
possession of a valid ticket will be allowed access to the premises. Access points will
be controlled by registered Security Industry Association staff employed by the security
contractor.

Staff, contractors, volunteers, visitors, artists and guests will be required to wear a form
of secure accreditation within the premises. Access to accreditation will be the
responsibility of the Premises Licence Holder. Accreditation will designate access to
restricted areas within the premises. All access points will be controlled by registered
Security Industry Association staff employed by the security contractor.

Effective Communication

The Premises Licence Holder will ensure there is an effective means of two-way
communication in place. This may include but not limited to mobile phones, two-way
radios and other wireless and wired communications systems. General event
communication will be managed by Event Control.

Reducing the Risk & Harm From Drugs

A drugs policy will be included within the Event Management Plan. Illegal drugs and
psychoactive substances will be prohibited items. Possession for personal use or
supply may result in refusal of admission to or ejection from the premises and a report
to the Metropolitan Police. Suspected possession for supply will be reported to the
Metropolitan Police. 

Anyone under the influence of illegal drugs or psychoactive substances who is
vulnerable will be managed through the process set out in the Children & Vulnerable
Adults Policy included within the Event Management Plan.

Preventing Underage Alcohol Consumption

32



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

The Premises Licence Holder will operate a Challenge 25 policy. Bar staff will require a
valid proof of ID from any patron seeking to make a purchase of alcohol for themselves
or anyone else appearing to be under 25. The only acceptable forms of identification
are recognised photographic identification cards such as a driving licence, passport or
proof of age care with the PASS hologram. If a person seeking alcohol is unable to
produce an acceptable form of identification no sale or supply of alcohol shall be made
to or for that person. 

Each bar will be managed by a Personal License Holder. All bar staff will undertake
mandatory licensing training before operating at a bar. A record of this training and
those attending will be kept by the appointed bar operator(s) and be made available for
inspection to the Licensing Authority. All bar staff will be over 18.

Patrons unable to provide a valid proof of age will be refused service and a record of
the refusal kept.

Lost Property

Lost property will be handed to Event Control and a log of the items handed in will be
kept. Where information about the owner is available the customer services team will
make attempts to contact the patron and return their item. Patrons will be provided with
a contact email address for lost property.

Counter Terrorism Measures

The Premises Licence Holder recognises the risk from acts of terrorism and will liaise
with the Safety Advisory Group and the Metropolitan Police to assess risk and put in
place reasonable and proportionate measures to reduce risk. Risk assessments,
measures and plans in the event of a major incident will be included in the Event
Management Plan.

c) public safety

Premises Capacity

The maximum capacity applied for is for 14,999 including all patrons, guests, staff,
contractors and artists.  

Health and Safety

The security of the Licensed Premises and the safety of persons within it under the
Licensing Act 2003 will be the responsibility of the Premises Licence Holder during the
period of licensable activities on the site each year.

A suitably experienced and qualified Health and Safety Consultant will be appointed.
The Health and Safety Consultant will undertake risk assessments and produce
appropriate methods statements that will be included within the Event Management
Plan. 

The Health and Safety Consultant will review the Event Management Plan including all
the associated appendices and annexes and make recommendations to the Premises
Licence Holder regarding any additions and amendments. The Health and Safety
Consultant will review risk assessments and method statements of suppliers and
contractors and make recommendations to the Premises Licence Holder regarding any
additions and amendments.

The Health and Safety Consultant will attend site during the build and break of the
event. They will monitor and assess the implementation of safe working practices and
method statements. They will advise the site management and production team on any
changes or improvements.

The Health and Safety Consultant will attend the event as appropriate and be a
member of the Event Liaison Team. They will provide advice and guidance to the
Premises Licence Holder on the operation of the event relating to the health and safety
of patrons, guests, staff, contractors, traders and artists.

Managing Crowds

33



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

The Premises Licence Holder has overall responsibility for crowd management safety.
The Security & Crowd Manager will prepare a Security & Crowd Management Plan that
will be included in the Event Management Plan. The aim of the crowd management
operation is to:

• Maintain a safe environment for members of the public, staff, contractors and artists
working at the event.
• Ensure only authorised ticket and pass holders gain access to the relevant areas.
• Monitor crowd movements, identify and deal promptly and effectively with any
identified crowd control issues.
• Oversee the safe ingress and egress of the event including in the event of an incident
or major incident.

The premises will be designed and laid out to manage the flow and movement of
crowds accessing, leaving and within the premises. Infrastructure will be deployed to
support the management of crowds including queues and fencing to secure areas to
prevent access. Lighting will be provided to illuminate entry and exits, including
emergency exits, ingress and egress routes and to facilitate safe movement within the
premises. 

Security and stewarding staff will be deployed throughout the premises to facilitate
ingress and egress and to prevent access to the premises of those without authority to
gain access. 

Major Incidents and Evacuation

A Major Incident Plan will be included within the Event Management Plan. The Major
Incident Plan will be discussed and agreed with the Safety Advisory Group and will
include details of coordination with the emergency services and how the premises will
be evacuated to agreed rendezvous points. The Event Management Plan will contain
the contact details of those nominated by the Premises Licence Holder to manage any
major incident.

The Major Incident Plan will include details of the routes to access the premises for
emergency service vehicles and personnel.

First Aid and Medical Provision

The Premises Licence Holder will appoint a suitably qualified and experienced medical
and first aid contractor to provide services at the event. The contractor will undertake a
risk assessment for the event and produce a Medical Management Plan both of which
will be included in the Event Management Plan. The medical and first aid contractor will
attend the Safety Advisory Group meetings and liaise with the London Ambulance
Service.

The medical and first aid contractor will position resources on site for the event that are
accessible. Personnel will be in attendance prior to the start of the event and remain
until the event has been finished and stand down has been agreed by the Event
Liaison Team.

Records of all medical and first aid decisions and treatment provided will be maintained
by the medical and first aid contractor. Information will be provided to the Premises
Licence Holder in the form of a log without providing confidential patient information.

Provision and Management of Sanitation

The Premises Licence Holder is responsible for management of sanitation at the event.
Sanitation facilities will include the provision and maintenance of adequate numbers of
toilets, urinals and accessible toilets for patrons, staff, contractors, traders and artists
based on an assessment of requirements.

A constant supply of clean water, or alternative hand cleansing sanitiser will be
maintained at all sanitation positions throughout the event. 

COVID-19

A Coronavirus Risk Assessment and Controls Plan will be provided to the Local
Authority and Responsible Authorities as required. This will be based on the latest
government guidance and advice. 

34



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Fire Safety

The Health and Safety Consultant or another suitably qualified person will undertake a
Fire Risk Assessment on behalf of the Premises Licence Holder. The Fire Risk
Assessment will be contained within the Event Management and Safety Plan and
discussed with the Safety Advisory Group.

Fire safety equipment, including portable firefighting equipment, fire notices and other
resources will be located at appropriate locations throughout the premises and clearly
signed.

All floor coverings, wall coverings, curtains, drapes, fabric, artificial or dried foliage,
decorations and filling materials used in furnishings supplied and used will carry flame
retardancy certification to the relevant British Standards or will be inherently flame
retardant. The details of all such materials will be held on site and will be available for
inspection by London Fire Brigade.

The siting of all vehicles, generators, tents, marquees, dressing rooms etc. will be
arranged so as to provide fire breaks. All food, bar and other traders are required to
provide fire safety risk assessments and will be checked when onsite by the Health and
Safety Consultant.

Fire Exits and Means Of Escape

Fire exits will be provided at designated points around the perimeter of the premises
and within any structures erected or used for the event. All means of escape and fire
exists will be clearly signed. Exit capacities will be calculated and contained within the
Fire Risk Assessment contained within the Event Management Plan.

Security and stewarding staff will guide all patrons, staff, contractors and artists to
designated places of safety away from the premises and identified on the Site Plan and
within the Fire Risk Assessment contained within the Event Management Plan.

LPG Used by Traders

Traders requiring the use of LPG will be required to bring the minimum necessary
quantity to site and provide a notification to the Event Manager that they have LPG
equipment. A register of the location of LPG equipment and containers will be
maintained within the Site Office. All LPG storage locations will be secure and with no
public or unauthorised access. These areas will all be designated as ‘no smoking’
areas.

All traders will be required to provide Gas Safe certification for their LPG equipment. All
equipment will be subject to periodic inspection during the events by the Health &
Safety Consultant.

Pyrotechnics and Special Effects

Some limited use of pyrotechnics and special effects may take place during the event.
In the event these are to be used an experienced and competent contractor will be
employed to undertake an assessment and manage the use of these. The contractor
will be required to provide risk assessments, method statements and demonstrate
compliance with all the necessary regulations and legislation and this documentation
will be reviewed by the Health and Safety Consultant.

It will be a condition of contract with the operator that they are only used in compliance
with the relevant legislation. This will be expanded on in the Fire Risk Assessment. All
details of proposed pyrotechnics will be sent to London Fire Brigade and the Licensing
Authority for approval in advance of the event.

The Health and Safety Coordinator will be in direct liaison with London Fire Brigade
and the pyrotechnic contractor and will carry out an additional check once any
pyrotechnics are installed to check compliance with agreed positions and the effects
list.

Temporary Structures

The Premises Licence Holder will appoint suitably experienced and qualified suppliers
and installers of temporary structures. Copies of plans and any necessary calculations
will be submitted to the London Borough of Southwark, including Building Control as
required or requested.

35



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

The Site Manager and Health and Safety Consultant on behalf of the Premises Licence
Holder will take all reasonable stapes to ensure any temporary structures are suitable
for their intended purposes and installed in accordance with the contractor’s plans.
Installation and completion certificates will be provided by the relevant contractor prior
to their use and copies will be held on the Site Office for inspection on request by the
Licensing Authorities.

d) the prevention of public nuisance

Resident Information and Complaint Service

A dedicated resident information and complaint phone line and email service will be
established. Residents and local businesses will be able to use the service to report
their concerns regarding noise, antisocial behaviour, litter, etc.

Information about how to use the service will be provided to local residents via a leaflet
drop to properties within an agreed vicinity from the premises. The phone line and
email service will be staffed throughout the duration of event. The email service will be
staffed throughout the duration of the build and break of the event. A log will be kept of
call communications received via the phone and email service along with a record of
any actions taken. The log will made available for inspection by the Licensing Authority
on reasonable request.

Management of Noise

Notices shall be prominently displayed at all exits of the event for patrons to leave the
area quietly in respect of the needs of local residents and businesses.

An experienced acoustic consultant will be appointed to develop and monitor a robust
Sound Management Plan that will be included in the Event Management Plan. The
Sound Management Plan will contain the maximum music noise levels permitted at
agreed noise sensitive locations and the acoustic consultant’s management strategy
and measures to control music noise levels during the event.

The acoustic consultant will assess the positioning of sound sources pre-event and
liaise with the Licensing Authority’s sound consultants throughout the event. Sound
checks will take place the day prior to the event as well as on the day of the event.
Times for these checks are to be notified in advance. 

The acoustic consultant will be available throughout the duration of the event, as
required, and will have complete authority to ensure compliance with the Sound
Management Plan. They will hold regular meetings with representatives of the
Licensing Authority as required. 

The sound amplification systems will not be used after the permitted hours of
entertainment on any night of the event for the relaying of music or other content or for
any purpose except for emergency announcements relating to public order and safety.

No deliveries to the site shall take place between the hours of 23:00 – 07:00. There
shall be no noise audible at the nearest noise sensitive premises from construction or
similar works associated with the set up or dismantling of the site outside of 08:00 –
20:00.

Traffic and Transport Management

The event will emphasise and promote the environmental benefits of walking, cycling
and the use of public transport to all patrons. Car use will be discouraged and there will
be no patron parking on site, except for some limited Blue Badge parking. 

A Transport Plan will be developed and included in the Event Management Plan and
agreed with the Safety Advisory Group. Due to the central location of the site and no
parking it is not expected there will be significant impact on public transport and the
road network. Key transport bodies including but not limited to Transport for London
and London Overground, London Buses will be consulted in advance of the event.

The Premises Licence Holder will work with the London Borough of Southwark and
Transport for London on the provision of cycle parking. 

36



Business - Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003

Managing Dispersal

Dispersal routes from the premises will be agreed with the Safety Advisory Group and
the details included in the Event Management Plan. Exit routes will be well lit, clearly
signed and stewarded where required.

Dispersal routes will be designed to minimise disruption to local residents. Signage will
be provided asking patrons to minimise noise and disturbance. SIA security staff will be
positioned as required to reduce the risk from any potential antisocial behaviour and
ensure there is no gathering of patrons in areas likely to cause nuisance or
disturbance.  

Managing Waste and Litter

The Premises Licence Holder has set high environmental standards for the event and
is operating to a ‘leave no trace’ approach to the management of waste. A Waste
Management Plan that will include litter, waste from traders, bars and production
activities will be included in the Event Management Plan. The plan will include litter
picking services and the removal and management of all waste generated by the event
including ingress and egress routes to and from the premises. Waste removed from
site will be undertaken by a certified operator and all waste will be tracked.

A responsive litter picking service will be provided to deal with any local resident or
business complaints about litter arising from the event. 

Reducing Light Pollution

The Premises Licence Holder will take all reasonable steps to minimise pollution from
light sources associated with the event. Light sources will be directed inwards towards
the premises and on ingress and egress routes for public safety.

e) the protection of children from harm

Safeguarding of Children and Vulnerable Adults

A Safeguarding of Children and Vulnerable Adults Policy will be included in the Event
Management Plan and discussed with the Safety Advisory Group. All members of the
Event Liaison Team will be briefed on the safeguarding measures and all operational
staff will follow the procedures set out in the policy.

No alcohol will be served for consumption of young people under the age of 18 and a
Challenge 25 policy will operate at all bars.

Welfare for Children and Vulnerable Adults

A welfare service will be provided for children, including lost and unaccompanied
children and vulnerable adults. Welfare providers and those with significant access to
children and vulnerable adults with be subject to a Disclosure and Barring check. A
Lost Children policy will be included in the Event Management Plan and discussed with
the Safety Advisory Group

Admission of Children

Children under the age of 16 will be allowed access to the Licensed Premises if
accompanied by a responsible adult aged 18 years or over. 

Children shall remain the responsibility of their responsible adult at all times.

Guidance note 10 

Please list here steps you will take to promote all four licensing objectives together.

Please upload a plan of the premises

37



38



39



MIK K-Pop Festival 1 

MIK K-Pop Festival 
Event Safety Management Plan 

Event Dates: 

24 & 25 July 2021* 

[*2021 subject to final decision on dates – an event may be run in July to September 
depending on park availability and COVID-19 restrictions] 

40



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  2 

Table of Contents 

Key Contacts ......................................................................................................................... 8 

MIK K-POP Festival ............................................................................................................. 11 

Introduction to Magic Vision Media Ltd .............................................................................. 18 

Introduction to Marcus Weedon ......................................................................................... 18 

Introduction to Proud Events Ltd. ....................................................................................... 18 

About This Plan .................................................................................................................. 19 

About the Event .................................................................................................................. 19 

Summary of the Event ........................................................................................................ 20 

Venue and Site Design ........................................................................................................ 21 

Event Capacity .................................................................................................................... 22 

Travel & Transport ............................................................................................................. 23 

Access ................................................................................................................................ 24 

Access to and from the Event including Emergency Access .................................................. 24 

Availability of Services   ..................................................................................................... 24 

Outline Planning & Event Schedule ..................................................................................... 24 

Strategic Policy, Event Objectives & Venue Licensing .......................................................... 26 

Venue Licensing .................................................................................................................. 26 

Community Engagement .................................................................................................... 26 

Requirements of the 2003 Licensing Act .............................................................................. 27 

Prevention of Crime and Disorder ....................................................................................... 28 

Prevention of Nuisance to the Public .................................................................................. 28 

Noise Sensitive Buildings  .................................................................................................. 29 

Ensuring the Safety of the Public ........................................................................................ 29 

The Protection Children and Vulnerable Persons from Harm ............................................... 30 

Health and Safety ............................................................................................................... 32 

Monitoring Safety Performance ......................................................................................... 32 

Auditing and Reviewing Safety Performance ...................................................................... 32 

Approach to Risk Assessment ............................................................................................. 33 

Crowd Management ........................................................................................................... 33 

Overall Co-ordination of Event Security and Stewarding ..................................................... 33 

Crowd Safety and Dynamics ............................................................................................... 34 

41



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  3 

Site Security ....................................................................................................................... 35 

Event Security ..................................................................................................................... 36 

Site Access .......................................................................................................................... 36 

Accreditation ...................................................................................................................... 36 

Search and Illegal Substances ............................................................................................. 37 

Medical Provision ............................................................................................................... 38 

Medical Deployment .......................................................................................................... 38 

Clinical Waste ..................................................................................................................... 39 

Fire Safety Management .................................................................................................... 39 

Fire Prevention ................................................................................................................... 39 

Fire Risk Assessments ......................................................................................................... 40 

Fire Service Access .............................................................................................................. 40 

LPG Safety .......................................................................................................................... 40 

Flammability Certification .................................................................................................. 40 

Smoking ............................................................................................................................. 40 

Classifications of Fires ........................................................................................................ 41 

Combustion Triangle   ........................................................................................................ 41 

Construction, Design and Management (CDM) ................................................................... 42 

Organising for Safety .......................................................................................................... 42 

Client – MIK K-Pop Festival ................................................................................................. 43 

Principal Designer – Proud Events Ltd ................................................................................. 43 

Principal Contractor – Proud Events Ltd .............................................................................. 43 

Contractors ........................................................................................................................ 43 

Event Management ............................................................................................................ 44 

Operational Management .................................................................................................. 44 

Event Management Team Roles ......................................................................................... 44 

Event Liaison Team ............................................................................................................. 47 

Event Control ...................................................................................................................... 47 

Event Communications ....................................................................................................... 48 

Major Incident & Emergency Planning ................................................................................ 49 

Emergency Procedures   ..................................................................................................... 49 

Definition  ......................................................................................................................... 49 

42



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  4 

Alert & Activation   ............................................................................................................ 49 

Incidents ............................................................................................................................. 50 

Incident Management ........................................................................................................ 50 

Major Incidents .................................................................................................................. 50 

Major Incidents and Emergencies ....................................................................................... 50 

Threat of Terror .................................................................................................................. 50 

Emergency Radio Codes ...................................................................................................... 51 

Emergency Access and Rendezvous Points .......................................................................... 51 

Wind and Adverse Weather ................................................................................................ 53 

Temporary Electrical Installations and Site Lighting ............................................................ 53 

Design and Coordination of Distribution ............................................................................. 53 

Cabling ............................................................................................................................... 54 

Portable Appliance Testing ................................................................................................. 54 

Petrol Generators ............................................................................................................... 54 

Site Lighting ....................................................................................................................... 54 

Barriers .............................................................................................................................. 55 

Drinking water provision and arrangements for grey water ............................................... 55 

Sanitary Facilities ............................................................................................................... 56 

Waste Management ........................................................................................................... 56 

COVID-19 Cleansing ............................................................................................................ 57 

Bars .................................................................................................................................... 57 

Concessions Management .................................................................................................. 57 

Concession planning ........................................................................................................... 58 

Concessions Access ............................................................................................................. 58 

Funfairs .............................................................................................................................. 58 

Marketing and Promotion .................................................................................................. 59 

Media and press ................................................................................................................. 59 

Appendix 1: Event Profile .............................................................................................. 60 

Appendix 2: Event Management Structure .................................................................... 60 

Appendix 3: Event License ............................................................................................. 60 

Appendix 4:  Event Insurance ......................................................................................... 60 

Appendix 5: Site Plan .................................................................................................... 60 

43



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  5 

Appendix 6: Build and Break Risk Assessments ............................................................. 60 

Appendix 6a:  Fire Risk Assessment ......................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Appendix 6b:  Covid-19 Controls ...................................................................................... 60 

Appendix 7: Construction Phase Plan (CDM) ................................................................. 60 

Appendix 8: Incident Management & Reporting Procedure ........................................... 60 

Appendix 8a: Incident Report Form ................................................................................. 60 

Appendix 9: Communications Plan ................................................................................ 60 

Appendix 10: Show Stop Plan .......................................................................................... 60 

Appendix 11: Major Incident Plan ................................................................................... 60 

Appendix 12: Crowd Management Plan .......................................................................... 60 

Appendix 13: Medical Plan and Risk Assessment ............................................................ 60 

Appendix 14: Children & Vulnerable Adults Procedure .................................................... 61 

Appendix 15: Alcohol Management Plan ........................................................................ 61 

Appendix 16: Noise Management Plan ........................................................................... 61 

Appendix 17: Waste Management Plan .......................................................................... 61 

Appendix 18: Covid-19 Cleansing Risk Assessment .......................................................... 61 

Appendix 19: Environmental Impact Assessment ............................................................ 61 

Appendix 20: Disabled Access Management Plan ........................................................... 61 

Appendix 21: Adverse Weather Plan ............................................................................... 61 

Appendix 22: Trader & Concessions Information Pack ..................................................... 61 

Appendix 23:  Lost Property Procedure ............................................................................ 61 

Appendix 24:  Impact Assessment Report ........................................................................ 61 

Appendix 25:  Performance Programme .......................................................................... 61 

Appendix 26:  PROW Notice Closure ................................................................................ 61 

Appendix 27:  Licensing Key Actions ................................................................................. 61 

Annexe 1: Health & Safety Policy .................................................................................. 62 

Annexe 2: Safeguarding Policy ...................................................................................... 62 

Annexe 3: Sustainability Policy ...................................................................................... 62 

Annexe 4: Equalities and Diversity Policy ...................................................................... 62 

Annexe 5: Alcohol and Drug Use Policy ......................................................................... 62 

Annexe 6: CDM Regulations .......................................................................................... 62 

Annexe 7: Guidance for the Management & Use of Stages ............................................ 62 

44



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  6 

 
  

45



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  7 

Document information 
 
Document Title Event Safety Management Plan  

A Guide to Health, Safety & Welfare for MIK K-Pop Festival 

Document Version 4 

Document Status Draft 

Document Creation Date 21 October 2020  

Revision Status Version 4 

 

Privacy Statement 
 

This document has been prepared by Proud Events Ltd on behalf of MIK K-Pop Festival. 

The information contained within the document should be treated by all recipients as private 
and confidential and for their professional use in connection with the delivery of the MIK K-
Pop Festival only. It should not circulate without the express permission of either Proud 
Events or MIK K-Pop Festival (Proud Events as the controller of the data within this document 
should be notified). 

This document is stored on a secured cloud service and is shared electronically with 
authorised users. Authorised users of this document may print physical copies only if they 
ensure that copies are kept securely and securely disposed of once the event has been 
completed. 

This document contains the names, job titles and contact details of MIK K-Pop Festival and 
professional personnel involved in the delivery of the event. This is deemed necessary for the 
planning and delivery of the Event. Every recipient of this document has a duty to treat this 
information as confidential and not to circulate it without the express permission of Proud 
Events or MIK K-Pop Festival. 

Anyone wishing to have their details removed from this document should request this via 
email with ‘Data Request’ in the subject to harry@proudevents.co.uk or in writing to ‘Data 
Requests’ at Proud Events Ltd, 36C Rosendale Road, London, SE21 8DX. 

46



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  8 

Legal Entities 
 
MAGIC SOUND LTD incorporated and registered in England and Wales with company number 
07433425 whose registered office is at 5th Floor, Horton House Exchange Flags, Liverpool, L2 
3PF (Promoter). 

PROUD EVENTS LIMITED incorporated and registered in England and Wales with company 
number 09339730 whose registered office is at Belgrave House, 39 – 43 Monument Hill, 
Weybridge, Surrey, KT13 8RN (Event Producer).  

Document Location 
 
This document may be requested from  

Proud Events Ltd 

36C Rosendale Road, London, SE21 8DX 

Email harry@proudevents.co.uk with ‘MIK K-POP ESMP 2021’ in the subject area 

Key Contacts  
 

Name Role Organisation Email & Phone 

Marcus 
Weedon 

Festival Director  Everything’s for 
Sale Ltd  

Marcus.weedon@btinternet.com  

07966 565 177 

Xiongfei Wang Promoter and 
Director 

Magic Sound 
Ltd  

felixwang@magic-sound.co.uk  

07801 886 337 

Harry Feigen Event Manager Proud Events harry@proudevents.co.uk  

07854 833 886 

Joe Sheals Site Manager Proud Events joe@proudevents.co.uk  

07855 754 683 

Ben Whur Director of 
Events  

Proud Events ben@proudevents.co.uk  

07710 097 315 

Ipex 
Production  

Production & 
Stage 

Ipex Production TBC 

47



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  9 

Management 

Jeff Protheroe Health & Safety 
Advisor 

JP Event Safety  jeff@jpeventsafety.com  

07933 632 721 

Michelle 
Walker 

Culture and 
Events Manager 

London Borough 
of Southwark 

Michelle.walker@southwark.gov.uk  

Charlie Simm Senior Events 
Officer 

London Borough 
of Southwark 

Charlie.Simm@southwark.gov.uk  

07592 118 445 

Anne Whyte Event Operations 
Officer 

London Borough 
of Southwark 

Anne.whyte@southwark.gov.uk  

02075 253 639 

Nicola 
Cheetham 

Parks Manager London Borough 
of Southwark 

Nicola.Cheetham@southwark.gov.uk  

Richard Earis Principle 
Environmental 
Protection 
Officer 

London Borough 
of Southwark 

Richard.Earis@southwark.gov.uk  

Paul Newman Environmental 
Protection Team 
Leader 

London Borough 
of Southwark 

Paul.Newman@southwark.gov.uk  

Roy Pickard Principle 
Environmental 
Health Officer 

London Borough 
of Southwark 

Roy.Pickard@southwark.gov.uk  

Farhad 
Chowdbury 

Principle 
Enforcement 
Officer 

London Borough 
of Southwark 

Farhad.Chowdhury@southwark.gov.uk  

Jen Hutchins Metropolitan 
Police Safety 
Advisory Group 
Lead 

Metropolitan 
Police 

Jenefer.Hutchins@met.police.uk  

Darren 
O’Rourke 

London 
Ambulance 
Safety Advisory 
Group Lead 

National Health 
Service 

Darren.orourke@nhs.net  

Trevor Jenner Transport for 
London – London 

Transport for 
London 

TrevorJenner@tfl.gov.uk  

48



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  10 

Underground 

Neal King Transport for 
London – London 
Underground 

Transport for 
London 

Neal.King@tube.tfl.gov.uk  

Emer O’Neil Transport for 
London – NMCC 
Events 
Coordinator 

Transport for 
London 

EmerONeill@tgl.gov.uk  

Paul Manson Head of Arena 
Security & Crowd 
Management 

G4S paul.manson@uk.g4s.com  
 
07968 183 575 

Dianne Jones Head of External 
Security & Crowd 
Management 

SFM Security 
Consultants 

dianne@sfmsecurityconsultants.com 
	
01634 826 999 

Simon Nash Medical 
Manager 

First Aid Cover simonnash@firstaidcover.co.uk  
 
0208 875 5758 
 

Gareth Hance Noise 
Management 
Consultant 

Electric Star Live gareth@electricstar.live  
 
07977 459 111 

TBC Waste 
Management 
Provider 

TBC TBC 

TBC Bars Manager TBC TBC 

TBC Concessions 
Manager (food 
and retail) 

TBC  TBC 

 
  

49



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  11 

MIK K-POP Festival 
 
MIK K-Pop Festival is a new outdoor festival coming to Southwark Park in July 2021 
showcasing international talent born out of the Korean Pop movement (K-Pop) which is now a 
popular music and entertainment genre. The K-Pop movement attracts audiences who are 
young, diverse, progressive and socially aware. Southwark Park will be the perfect home for 
the new event which it’s diverse population and good access to public transport, walking and 
cycling facilities.  
 
K-Pop’s emerging popularity within the UK has been growing over the past decade and over 
the year’s partners of the event, Magic Sound, have produced a number of shows at indoor 
institutions such as the O2 and Wembley Arena. MIK K-Pop Festival will be the first of its kind 
in the United Kingdom taking on a traditional festival format in a public park in comparison to 
indoor arenas previously seen.  
 
It has been a devastating year for the event’s industry with majority of events being 
cancelled, or postponed, due to the Covid-19 Pandemic. MIK K-Pop Festival will be a welcome 
boost to Southwark’s local economy.  
 

• Providing a safe and accessible live event for local residents 
• Assist local social, economic recovery and regeneration  
• Support community wellbeing through the production of a professionally managed 

event 
• Support local events and hospitality businesses that have be hit heavily by the pandemic 
• MIK K-Pop Festival Impact Assessment Report can be found in Appendix 25 of this Event 

Management and Safety Plan.  
 
MIK K-Pop Festival will take place over the 24th & 25th July 2021, dates subject to change, with 
the build and break happening in the days on either side of the event. Entertainment will 
consist of two stages of live music showcasing Korean Pop and Chinese Pop acts known 
international around the world. The music entertainment across the two stages will be 
concurrent allowing for stage production change overs between performances and acts. 
There will amenities such as food concessions, bars and merchandise too at the event. 
 
MIK K-Pop Festival is a two stage event that will require a free flowing site and is being 
planned as such. We understand that the current guidance in regards to social distancing and 
the the spread of COVID-19 is that all events must operate strictly under two metre social 
distancing however in the unlikely event that social distancing is required by the time of the 
event in 2021 MIK K-Pop Festival will not go ahead. We do however understand that it is likely 
there will be additional measures that will be outlined by the Government that events have to 
put in place to operate and have provided a COVID-19 secure risk assessment as part of this 
Event Management and Safety plan demonstrating our understanding and acceptance of the 
responsibilities event organisers have in putting on events at this time.  
 

50



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  12 

The COVID-19 Controls (Appendix 6a) will be reviewed and updated periodically throughout 
the planning phase of MIK K-Pop Festival to reflect the changing legalisation and guidance in 
regards to the spread of COVID-19.  
 
It is crucial that as much employment and economic benefit remains within the local 
community as possible. Proud Events has overall responsibility for producing the events and 
will work with local businesses where possible to secure a local supply chain.  
 
The following areas of work are London based businesses and freelancers: 
 

• Operational Management 
• Site Management 
• Event Medical Provision 
• Event Security 
• Bar Operators 
• Customer Service Team – All locally recruited 

 
We have undertaken a cautious Economic Impact Assessment using the DCSM supported tool 
from eventsIMPACTS. This indicates a direct economic impact from the events in London of 
£672,345.50 and 17 full team equivalent jobs that would be delivered to a large number of 
freelance and casual workers currently impacted by the pandemic. The full Economic Impact 
Assessment report can be found in Appendix 25 of this Event Management and Safety Plan. 
 
Coronavirus and Events 
 
This document will reference, where required, appropriate COVID-Secure measures to ensure 
that the event is fully compliant with all current UK Legislation, Guidelines and Industry 
Guidelines (Event Industry Forum and Purple Guide COVID-19 supplementary guidance) 
surrounding the control of transmission of the virus.  

It is recognised that the circumstances surrounding COVID-19 are in a constant state of flux. 
Reference to specific UK legislation, regulations and guidance surrounding COVID-19 must be 
noted alongside the date of the document. Where there is an update to legislation which 
impacts the management of the Event, this will be updated for re-distribution as soon as 
possible.  

COVID-19 Overview 
 
The landscape surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic is in a constant state of flux. As a result, 
the UK government is frequently updating emergency legislation dependent on changing 
circumstances.  
 
With this in mind, as Event Organisers, it is difficult to plan controls specific to legislation that 
likely does not exist and will be subject to several changes.  

51



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  13 

This document will reference the legislation correct to this date, but where this is prohibitive 
of Mass Gatherings taking place, it must be acknowledged that the Event is due to take place 
in July 2021 and the plans detailed within this document rely on restrictions being lessened.  
 
As mentioned in the section above, if social distancing is a requirement for mass gatherings in 
July 2021, the event will not take place in it’s current format due to the impossibility of 
successfully implementing social distancing at a music festival. 
 
The sub-sections below detail the Regulations and associated Guidance which are most 
relevant to the Event.  

UK Government Regulations  
The Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (No.4) (England) Regulations 2020 

 
Coming into force on 05/11/2020, the National Restrictions applicable to the entire of 
England.  These Regulations expire at the end of the period of 28 days beginning with the day 
on which they come into force.  

Under the updated regulations, The Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (No.4) 
(England) Regulations 2020 prohibit gatherings of more than 2 people.  

It is not considered appropriate, at this stage, to refer to the restrictions detailed within these 
regulations placed on Mass Gatherings, as they are due to change imminently (written 
19/11/2011) and will not be applicable to the Event itself.  

However, previous updates of The Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (No.2) 
(England) Regulations 2020 have designated specific Exemptions for Events and Event 
Organisers that have carried out a risk assessment which would satisfy the requirements of 
regulation 3 of the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999, whether or 
not the gathering organiser or manager is subject to those Regulations.  

In addition, Event Organisers must take all reasonable measures to limit the risk of 
transmission of the coronavirus, taking into account the Risk Assessment and any guidance 
issued by the government which is relevant to the gathering.  

This document will seek to explore a range of Covid-Secure Controls suitable to the Event 
format, which may be altered depending on the prevailing circumstances in July 2021. 
 
COVID-Secure Procedures 
 
All information contained below is correct to the UK Government legislation and guidelines as 
of 19/11/2020. Please note that as previously stated in this document, given the frequent 

52



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  14 

change of the guidelines this information may become quickly outdated but will updated 
periodically.  

A number of procedures are being developed by Proud Events to ensure that safety of staff 
and the general public remains paramount during the continuing circumstances surrounding 
COVID-19.  

Procedures as stated within this document and associated documents have been developed 
in line with the current UK Government legislation, Event Industry Forum Guidelines and 
Purple Guide COVID-19 Supplementary Guidance for event organisers. 

Proud Events are duty bound under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and the 
associated Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 to protect their 
employees from harm, so far as is reasonably practicable. 

It is noted that it is not possible to reduce the risk of transmission to absolute zero, and 
therefore the controls implemented seek to control the risk of transmission to the lowest 
acceptable risk.  

Please refer to the Risk Assessment (Appendix 6b), available as a separate document, for a 
comprehensive detailing on the Covid-Secure controls.  

An overview of procedures is as follows. This is not exhaustive nor complete at this stage 
(19/11/2020); 

Venue 

Controlling Access to 
the venue   

Venue perimeter defined using steel shield fencing. Single 
access point controlled within Southwark Park.  

The area around the main entrance will be reviewed to 
ensure that those who are waiting to enter the venue are 
able to Social Distance as required by the UK Government 
at the time of the Event. 

 
Space used outside the event site for queuing should be 
available and safe. External queues should be managed 
safely to make sure they do not cause a risk to 
individuals, other businesses or present additional 
security risks. 
 
PE will ensure the welfare of security & stewarding 
personnel overseeing entry and exit and close contact 

53



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  15 

security screening processes, with consideration to staff 
rotation, contactless security equipment, avoiding face to 
face contact and Face Covering and additional protective 
equipment requirement.  

 
A staggered exit process following the event will be 
implemented to reduce congestion on exits.  

Social Distancing within 
the event site 

Social distancing will not be enforced within the venue, 
however, there is ample space within the venue so that 
individuals can seek areas of lower occupany should they 
wish.  

Ticketing & Refunds All tickets will be purchased in advance to ensure that 
NHS Test and Trace data can be captured. Tickets will not 
be permitted to be resold to prevent inaccurate data.  

The event organiser should make refunds available to 
ensure anbody experiencing symtoms is not motivated to 
attend the event due to not securing a refund.  

NHS Test and Trace PE will maintain a record of their ticketing data as 
standard. This will act as a data record to support the NHS 
Test and Trace service.  

 
 

Upon purchase of tickets, all ticket holders must declare 
that they will not attend the Event if they display any 
COVID-19 symptoms and/or are required to self-isolate. 

Contact data will be collated for the following parties: 

- All workers, crew and contractors 
- All visitors – local authority, emergency services etc.  
- Artists & touring crew 
- Guestlist 

 
The use of the NHS COVID-19 application will be 
encouraged at all entry points to the event site.  

Hygiene 

54



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  16 

Sanitary Facilities Numbers of sanitary facilities on site will be reviewed in 
line with the expected occupancy numbers at any peak 
time.  

Toilet facilities must include hand washing facilities and 
not hand sanitiser as is sometimes found. Hand Soap 
must be filled frequently with hand drying facilities also 
available within the provisions.  

One way queuing systems may be appropriate for the on 
site sanitary facilities. This will be reviewed in due course 
in line with Site Plan reviews.  

Hygiene ‘Stations’ Hygiene Stations will be placed around the event site to 
allow for staff and members of the public to use Hand 
Sanitiser. 

Attendees will be encouraged to come prepared with 
Hand Sanitiser in the first instance. 

Signage to be installed to all key areas that reinforces the 
message of Social Distancing, Good Hygiene Standards 
and the appropriate hand washing technique. 

Enhanced Cleaning ‘High touch’ areas will be subject to a frequent cleaning 
regime. Areas such as Toilets, Entry Barriers etc will be 
included in a cleaning rota with each area documented as 
cleaned.  

Waste receptacles must be emptied frequently to avoid 
over spilling.  

Shared equipment, such as radios, will be discouraged 
and where they are swapped over at the end of the day, 
they will be disinfected as part of the cleaning regime.  

Face Coverings All persons will be required to wear Face Coverings where 
this remains mandated by UK Legislation.   

Staff and Contractors  

55



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  17 

Site Inductions  

Check-in 

All staff and contractors will be sent an online Site 
Induction, including a Health Questionnaire, to complete 
prior to attending site. There will be no on site induction, 
other than Tool Box talks where required, to reduce 
gathering larger crowds of staff for briefings.  

All staff and contractors must sign in when arriving on site 
prior to starting work in order to maintain a 
comprehensive log of persons to support the NHS Test 
and Trace Service.  

NHS Test and Trace See above.  

‘Bubble’ Working Where possible, staff will work in smaller groups or 
‘bubbles’ in order to avoid multiple contacts throughout 
the period of the live event.  

RAMS All Contractors must submit their RAMS, as standard, to 
the Health & Safety Advisior for review ahead of 
undertaking any work on site. This must include all 
COVID-Secure procedures and controls that the company 
has put into place.  

Offices Where staff are required to work in temporary offices 
during the Event, the offices will be set up so as to allow 
adequate social distancing. Desks will be placed back to 
back or side to side where possible.  

Where this is not possible, screens may be placed in 
between stations.  

Meetings/Briefings Non-Essential meetings by staff within the event site will 
be discouraged and the use of mobile phones/radios and 
other electronic devices to communicate will be 
encouraged. PE to review quantity of radio channels in 
order to avoid overuse of key channels which must 
remain open for efficient Event Management.  

56



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  18 

Face Coverings Staff and Contractors will be required to wear Face 
Coverings where this remains mandated by UK 
Legislation.  

All staff and contractors will wear Face Coverings during 
the live event where this remains mandated by UK 
Legislation. 

 

Introduction to Magic Sound Ltd  
 
Magic Sound Ltd is a Registered Company (no. 07433425) trading as MIK K-Pop Festival. The 
Event Organisers, Magic Sound Ltd will be the commercial contracting body, project 
management and the key point of coordination between the event management team, 
production team and talent.   
 
Magic Sound Ltd, also known as Magic Sound Entertainment, is owned and operated by 
Xiongfen Wang and are the only UK based promoter of K Pop and Asian music in the Country. 
The organisation has staged numerous sell out shows at the O2, Wembley and Eventim Apollo 
and are looking to bring the Korean Pop phenomenon to the festival format in 2021.  
 
Xiongfen will appoint Ipex Productions to manage the stage production of MIK K-Pop festival. 
Ipex Productions is the production company used for all Magic Sound shows and is also 
owned and operated by Xiongfen Wang.  
 

Introduction to Marcus Weedon  
 
Marcus Weedon is the founder of London outdoor events Field Day, Cross the Tracks and The 
Mighty Hoopla and is partnering with Magic Vision Media to bring you the first ever MIK K-
Pop Festival.  
 
Marcus is a leading promoter and experienced Festival Director in the outdoor festival and 
concert market with a trusted and tested supply chain. In addition to his festival work Marcus 
co-founded XOYO in 2010, a club and live music venue in Shoreditch, and conceived and 
launched Winterville first staged in Victoria Park in 2014. The five week winter festival moved 
to Clapham Common in 20017 and now attracts more than 250,000 each year. 

Introduction to Proud Events Ltd. 
 

57



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  19 

Proud Events Ltd has been appointed by the Promoters to design, plan and manage the 
operations and site for MIK K-Pop Festival reporting to Marcus as Festival Director.  
 
Established in 2014 the company is owned and operated by Ben Whur, Harry Feigen and Joe 
Sheals who between them have over 50 years of experience working in the live events 
industry. 
 
Proud Events design, deliver and manage events in green field and urban locations, including 
major city centres. Their work includes work on some of the UK’s major festivals, creating 
temporary touring arenas in stadiums and greenfield locations for leading international artists 
and designing and operating concerts in unique and protected locations. 
 
They have a long track record delivering community events including the delivery of Brixton 
Splash and UK Black Pride. Prior to the establishment of Proud Events, Ben and Harry both 
had major roles delivering Pride in London, Ben as Event Director, overseeing the design, 
delivery and operation of the Capital City’s second largest one day event requiring the 
management and closure of much of Central London. 
 
Proud Events are rightly proud of our safety record, stakeholder engagement and providing 
events to clients that build a platform for long term success. 

About This Plan 
 
Proud Events Ltd has prepared this Event Safety Management Plan on behalf of MIK K-Pop 
Festival, with the support of specialist event advisors, and as part of the planning process to 
support the safe and successful operation of the Event.  
 
The Event Safety Management Plan is part of how the MIK K-Pop Festival demonstrates its 
commitment to meet the objectives of the Licensing Act 2003 and its obligations in ensuring 
the health, safety and welfare of the event visitors and of everyone involved in the event. It 
has been shared with the licensing authorities in the planning stages of the event and is used 
as the operational plan for the delivery of the event. 

About the Event 
 
The Premises  
 
Southwark Park, Gomm Road, London, SE16 2RX  
 
Event Dates and Timings 
 
24th & 25th July (Subject to change) 
 

58



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  20 

Saturday 12:00 – 22:00 
Sunday 12:00 – 22:00 

 
 
*All dates and timings subject to change 

Summary of the Event 
 
The event will take place on Saturday and Sunday the 24th & 25th July 2021 at Southwark Park. 
The Event Organisers will operate the event under their own Premises Licence granted by 
licensing authority the London Borough of Southwark.  
 
The event will operate between 12:00 and 22:00 each when the park is open to the public. 
The event will be held within a perimeter fence which the general public shall not have access 
to unless they hold a valid ticket to the event. A public path will be maintained from Carriage 
Drive to Lower Road throughout Southwark Park so that local residents are not obstructed 
from using the park for travel however the Avenue towards Dilston Grove, accessed from 
Jamaica gate into Carriage Drive, to the west of the site will be held within the event’s 
perimeter over the live event days only for customer ingress, egress and to act as the blue 
route for the emergency services.  
 
Restrictions on access and management of vehicle movements within the park itself 
throughout the entire event period will be subject to discussion and agreement with local 
stakeholders. 
 

 
 
Public paths that remain open within Southwark Park shall be managed carefully and the 
event organiser shall provide Risk Assessments and Method Statements for the movement of 
vehicles and acceptance of deliveries in public areas.  

59



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  21 

 
The Festival Director, Marcus Weedon, has appointed Harry Feigen from Proud Events to act 
as Designated Premises Supervisor on their behalf for the duration of the event.  

Venue and Site Design  
 
The main event site is located in Southwark Park, London, in the south end part of the park. 
The site is fully contained within the park which the general public will have access to during 
the day time when the park is open to the public. All works carried out within the park will be 
managed within safe working spaces created by Proud Events which the public will not have 
access to.  
 
The event site will comprise of the below areas.  
 

• The main event arena: The main arena will be held within the main area of grassland 
on the south end of Southwark park and shall consist of two stages, that shall operate 
at opposing times, public bars, food concessions, merchandise stands, medical and 
welfare areas and toilet compounds. Stages will be positioned to cause the least 
amount of impact for local residents regarding noise pollution.   
 

• Main entrance/queueing lanes: The main entrance for customers will be in to the part 
via Jamaica Gate leading on to Carriage drive and immediately right down the Avenue 
towards Dilston Grove where they shall access the north east of the main event arena. 
This area will be fenced off from the general public on only the event days and will be 
available to use during the build and the break. Customers will access the main event 
arena via the north east end of the site. Queueing pens will be created off the Avenue 
to manage queues in the event that customers arrive early to the site. Additionally 
pedestrian walkways can be created on external pavement routes to the side and a 
hold and release queueing system in the North End of the park if required as a last 
resort. 

 
• The production compounds: Behind the two stages there will be production 

compounds, which shall sit on temporary trackway, for staging trucks, offices, artist 
cabins, and a boneyard. Vehicles and plant shall be kept in the production compounds 
when not in use which shall access via the temporary trackway off the public path. The 
production compounds shall be connected by an internal trackway road to create a 
secure link between the performance areas. The compounds will have no public access 
and entry to the compound will always be managed by site security.  

 
• Production Car Park: Only essential vehicles such as production vehicles, trucks and 

ambulances shall have access to the production compounds. All other vehicles shall be 
parked at the Hawkstone Gate car park.  

 
A full site plan can be found in the appendices of this document.  

60



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  22 

 
The site has been designed to provide a location in which the audience can enjoy the 
entertainment in a safe and comfortable atmosphere, and to ensure that the health, safety 
and welfare of those within the site is safeguarded. Consideration has been given to the local 
residents surrounding the site.  

The main areas for consideration are space for the audience to enter and exit the site, front of 
stage capacities, suitability of exit routes in the event of an emergency, the positioning of 
temporary structures, support facilities, vehicle access, rendezvous points, surrounding 
communities, road networks and the logistics of the build and break period. 

Event Capacity 
 
The ticketed event capacity for 2021 is 14,999 persons.  
 
It is estimated that there will be circa 200 members of staff involved in the live event – this is 
made up of production, artist liaison, concessionaires, security & stewards, medical, bar staff, 
merchandise, cleaners etc.  
 
The total available space within the event site is 22,500 sq/m.  
 
Allowing a 20% reduction of this total to reflect the event infrastructure, gives a revised total 
of 18,000 sq/m available.  
 
Assuming a typical crowd density of 0.5 sq/m per person across the event site, this give us a 
total holding capacity of 36,000 persons.   In the event that the entire audience is located at 
the main stage for the headline act then the required space for audience viewing using this 
average density would be 7,500 sq m. 
 
It is anticipated that crowd densitities will be much higher (2-5 persons per sq/m) in certain 
areas of the event site, such as, the front of stage barrier, but we have assumed the lower 
crowd density for safety planning purposes. Lower density areas within sightline of stages and 
screens will be available for persons who wish to observe some social distancing. 
 
Each emergency exit (with the exeption of the main entrance) will consist of two heras 
fencing panels with the capability to be fully opened. Each panel is approx. 3.5m, therefore 
each emergency exit will be a total of 7m. Emergency exits will be located to permit the 
crowd to exit the arena in several directions into the surrounding park and beyond. 
 
Main Entrance – 10m (discounted) 
Exit 1 – 7m 
Exit 2 – 7m  
Exit 3 – 7m  
Exit 4 – 7m  

61



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  23 

 
Total available emergency exit width: 28m 
 
Assuming a flow rate of 80 persons per meter per minute, with a target evacuation time of 
7.5 minutes, this gives us a total emergency exit capacity of:  
 
80 persons x 28m x 7.5 minutes = 16,800 persons 

As you can see from both figures above, the event site can safely accommodate a capacity of 
14,999 persons.  

Travel & Transport   
 
The event series will be promoted as car free events. Messaging will be included to 
discourage the use of private cars and make it clear that this is no facility or capacity for 
parking on or near the events. Walking and cycling will be encouraged. Southwark Park is 
directly connected and adjacent to a number of cycling routes C4, C14, Q14.   

The premises are extremely well served by public transport. The park has underground and 
overground stations in each direction including Surrey Quays, Canada Water, London Bridge, 
Bermondsey and South Bermondsey. In addition the park is accessible on numerous bus 
routes (1, 47, 188, 199, 225, 381, 395, P13).  

It is estimated from previous experience and due to the events central London location that 
somewhere in the region of 80 – 90% of guests will use public transport to attend the event. 
We have undertaking consultation with Transport for London and designated that the 
preferred stations to be marketed to event guests will be Canada Water, Bermondsey and 
London Bridge which hold sufficient resource for the expected numbers.  

Agreed travel routes, including cycle clear ways, will be marketed to customers via the event’s 
website, social media, wayfinding signage and stage screens onsite for egress. Stage screen 
content can be updated live.  

Planning will take place with taxi providers to pinpoint appropriate drop off and collection 
points that minimise disruption to local residents and businesses.  

A separate security contractor, SFM Security Consultants, has been appointed to manage 
egress of the event site and will have the specific responsibility of manage customers on 
egress including managing customer behaviour, customer flow and having a security presence 
at the local transport hubs as designated above. SFM Security Consultants will also have a 
presence in Transport for London’s control room to communicate directly with the event 
organiser during egress and coordinate teams accordingly.  

A Traffic and Transport Plan will be provided in this Event Management and Safety Plan which 

62



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  24 

will cover off SFM Security Consultants deployment schedules and Operating Procedures, see 
appendix 18.  

Access   
 
MIK K-Pop Festival is committed to delivering an event that is accessible for all and work to 
silver status charter of Attitude is Everything. This includes, but is not limited to the below 
provisions. 
 

• Accesible information, booking system and personal assistant tickets 
• Priority parking for blue badge holders at the main festival site 
• Accessible toilets  
• Accessible routes through the event site 
• Adequate signage for those with impaired hearing and/or vision 
• Level access counters on all public bars and concessions  
• Viewing platforms 
• Access training to all staff members 

Access to and from the Event including Emergency Access  
 

Access to and from the site, including the routes to be used to bring people into the site or 
exit them from it, including in emergencies has been access. These are detailed in: Appendix 5 
– Site Plan. 

Rendezvous points have been agreed with the emergency services and are also indicated on 
the site plans in the Major Incident Plan see Appendix 11.  

Availability of Services   
 

There are reasonable facilities for the general public in close proximity to the event for use 
prior to and after the event. Adequate welfare facilities will be provided on site for the 
audience, staff and contractors. 

 Outline Planning & Event Schedule 
 

Date (time frame) Output/Outcome Period/Phase 
October Delivery of ESMP - draft Planning 

63



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  25 

November/December Safety Advisory Group & Key 
Stakeholders Consultations 

Planning 

January Submission of Premises 
Licence Application  

Planning 

January - July Ongoing consultation with 
Safety Advisory Group & Key 
Stakeholders 

Planning 

February  Event Announced Planning 
w/c 12th June  Delivery of ESMP - final Planning 
16th July  Site Build Build 
23rd July Site Sign Off Build 
24th July (12:00) Gates Open for public Live Event 
24th July (22:00) Gates Close for public Live Event 
25th July (12:00) Gates Open for public  Live Event 
25th July (22:00) Gates Close for public Live Event 
26th July  Site Break Breakdown 
29th July   Site Hand back Breakdown 
August/September Full Event Review Debrief 

 
  

64



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  26 

Strategic Policy, Event Objectives & Venue Licensing 
 

The Event Organiser undertakes to deliver and manage MIK K-Pop Festival in accordance with 
the objectives of the Licensing Act 2003, the London Borough of Southwark’s licensing policy 
and all relevant health, safety and environmental legislation. 

Venue Licensing   
 
The license for the event is be held by the Event Organiser and granted by the London 
Borough of Southwark. In addition, as the venue owner the London Borough of Southwark 
will issue an event permit to operate the land to the event organiser, see Appendix 3 – Event 
Licence.  It is understood that the existing premises licence in place is not appropriate for use 
for the event and a Premises Licence application will be submitted in due course. 

This Event Safety Management Plan has been prepared by MIK K-Pop Festival to support the 
objectives and conditions of the licence and the safe delivery and management of the event. 

Community Engagement 
 
The Event Organiser is committed to minimising the impact of the event on local residents 
and the business community. Proud Events will lead resident and business engagement with 
the aim of providing advance information about the event so that local residents and 
businesses can prepare and where necessary provider their feedback.  
 
In the pre-application consultation, the event organisers have consulted with Southwark 
Council’s Cabinet Member for Jobs, Culture and Skills, the Ward Councillors for the area and 
neighbouring areas, the Safety Advisory Group for events, the Events and Parks teams for the 
Borough and reached out to the Friends of Southwark Park. A copy of the Consultation Report 
can be found in the appendices of this document, see Consultation Report – Appendix xx.  
 
In the next phase wider consultation will commence and consultation will be opened up to 
local residents in the area through a series of online Zoom meetings. These meetings will 
commence in February during the consultation period and will be advertised through local 
leaflet drops, public notices at the park and through the interested parties of Southwark Park. 
 
Key information that shall be shared will include operational detail such as measures put in 
place to minimise traffic, parking, noise and litter. In addition to this the Event Organiser shall 
detail benefits to the park and local community including potential opportunities to get 
involved and any schemes created to bring funding to the area.   
 
When the event is building and live a local residents line will be shared for any complaints 
that may occur during the event. When a complaint is made via the local residents line it will 

65



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  27 

be logged with the Event Control team onsite as well as any actions or follow up 
conversations that happened to manage the complaint and/or incident.  

Ecology and Tree Protection 
 
As part of the pre-application consultation the event organiser met with the local ecology officer and 
tree protection team for the park to review plans and vehicle access routes for the event. 
 
No concerns were raised on presentation of the draft plans however it was recommended that 
Nesting Bird and Bat Roost assessments be completed by the event organiser closer to the time so any 
findings can be factored into the management plans. It was concluded it was unlikely these surveys 
would generate issues for the event due to placing of the event being within the tree canopy of the 
site however should be completed for confidence.  
 
The tree protection team will conduct a site visit with the event organiser in the spring to review site 
plans and placement of temporary roadways installed by the event for vehicle access however were 
satisfied the event organiser were taking necessary precautions to protect the trees and green space 
of the park.   
 
An environmental risk assessment / impact assessment will be completed by the event organiser 
(Appendix 19 – Environmental Impact Assessment). 

Requirements of the 2003 Licensing Act  
 

The license for the event will be applied for in due course and will be granted specifically for 
this event. The licence will be held by the event organiser and is likely to be limited to a 
specific period. The London Borough of Southwark will grant permission to operate MIK K-Pop 
Festival to the event organiser via the Safety Advisory Group when satisfied during the 
planning of the event.  

The Designated Premises Supervisor will be appointed to Harry Feigen for the duration of the 
event. 

The Event Organiser will have in place systems, measures and resources to (in so far as 
reasonably practicable) to: 
 

• Prevent instances of crime and disorder 
• Prevent nuisance to the public 
• Ensure the safety of the public 
• Protect children and vulnerable persons from harm 

 
MIK K-Pop Festival recognise a safe and successful event requires a team approach and have 
appointed appropriately qualified and experienced advisors and suppliers to support planning 

66



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  28 

and delivery. In addition, the Event Organisers will work closely with all relevant agencies and 
stakeholders to achieve the aims and objectives of the licence and conditions.  
 
MIK K-Pop Festival are committed to the safety of attendees, staff and contractors, and 
recognise that this shall be a result of the safety of the event space and the management 
arrangements implemented and take all reasonable steps to ensure that the event site is free 
from undue risks to the health, safety and welfare of attendees and working personnel. 

Prevention of Crime and Disorder 
 
MIK K-Pop Festival is committed to crime prevention. Contractors shall work in close liaison 
with officers of the Metropolitan Police in terms of evidence gathering and the sharing of 
intelligence. 
 
All activities within the Licensed Premises will be managed with a view to preventing crime 
and disorder by adopting the following policies. All issues arising outside the licensed area 
and will be the responsibility of Metropolitan Police and measures will be taken to minimise 
the impact through a full consultation process with the local authority.  

Detailed policies and plans are in place and attached to this ESMP for:  

• Crowd Safety Management Plan – Appendix 12 
• Alcohol Management Plan – Appendix 15 
• Children & Vulnerable Adults Procedure – Appendix 14 

 
Key principles for meeting the licensing objectives are as follows: 

• Suitably qualified, registered and experienced stewards will be employed to control 
access to the premises and will patrol the event to prevent crime and public disorder 

• Searches will be conducted and will be an advertised condition of entry to the 
premises 

• Challenge 25 will operate within the premises 
• Only alcohol purchased on the premises to be consumed on the premises 
• All drinks will be served in plastic and all bottle caps will be removed prior to sale 
• No alcohol will be allowed to be taken outside the event site 
• All communications between management shall be carried out via a two-way radio 

system as laid out in the Communications Plan (Appendix 9) 

Prevention of Nuisance to the Public 
 

Events impact on a local area and communities and all reasonable effort is taken to minimise 
the impact through effective communication, planning and management during the event. 

67



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  29 

Detailed policies and plans are in place and attached to this ESMP for:  

• Crowd Safety Management Plan – Appendix 12 
• Alcohol Management Plan – Appendix 15 
• Waste Management Plan – Appendix 17 
• Sound Management Plan – Appendix 16 

 
Key principles for meeting the licensing objectives are as follows: 

• Providing advance notification where appropriate and practical 
• Reducing the impact of noise and disruption to close or noise sensitive premises 
• Providing a means of contact to raise concerns and complaints 
• Reducing the impact from litter and waste in the area immediately surrounding the 

event 
• Effective management of queues and dispersal of attendees 

Noise Sensitive Buildings  
 

The event site is located in Southwark Park in close proximity to residential areas and 
properties. Sound management will be strictly controlled, and the event will only operate 
within the licensed times.  

A sound management consultant has been appointed for the events and a Sound 
Management Plan details the measures in place to manage and monitor noise. The Sound 
Management Plan is Appendix 16. The sound management consultant has liaised with the 
London Borough of Southwark’s Environmental Health department on all aspects of the 
sound management including integrating information regarding the audio specification to 
ensure plans are adequate for the control of sound levels and direction.  

For the duration of the build noise will be kept to day time working hours of 08:00 to 20:00 
and noise disruption will be kept to a reasonable minimum.  

For the live events there will be some planned recorded music which will be agreed with the 
London Borough of Southwark in advance. All noise conditions of the licence will be met, and 
noise will be kept within the licensable hours of the licence.  

A telephone number will be made publicly available to local residents to allow for complaints 
to be made about noise levels. A log will be taken of any complaints received and actions 
undertaken.  
 

Ensuring the Safety of the Public 
 

68



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  30 

Delivering an event that is safe is the Event Organiser’s primary priority. Effective planning, 
assessing and mitigating risk and the development of the ESMP all are key actions 
contributing to the delivery of a safe event. 

Detailed policies and plans are in place and attached to this ESMP for:  

• Major Incident Plan – Appendix 11 
• Crowd Safety Management Plan – Appendix 12 
• Medical Plan – Appendix 13 
• Alcohol Management Plan – Appendix 15 
• Adverse Weather Plan – Appendix 22 
 

Key principles for meeting the licensing objectives are as follows: 

• All key activities will be risk assessed and appropriate control measures will be 
implemented as far as reasonably possible to reduce and mitigate identified risks 

• A suitably qualified and experienced event medical provider will be appointed who will 
undertake a risk assessment, develop and implement an event medical plan with 
appropriate levels of resource 

• Access to the event and exit from it will be managed so as to ensure the event remains 
within assessed capacity limits 

• Access for Emergency Vehicles will be maintained around the licensed premises for 
the duration of the event   

• Exit capacities will be calculated in accordance with industry standards and guidance 
on capacity taking social distancing into account and the support of the relevant 
emergency services.    

 

The Protection of Children and Vulnerable Persons from Harm  
 

The event will operate a strict policy that any children under the age of 16 must be 
accompanied by an adult to attend the event. MIK K-Pop Festival recognise the importance of 
protecting children from harm and considerations have been made within the risk assessment 
in order to protect children during the event. The operation of this will be undertaken by the 
onsite stewarding and security team. 

• Safeguarding teams will be required to undergo a CRB check to work onsite.  
• A managed, restricted access area will be provided for the welfare of lost children and 

vulnerable adults and staffed by trained and appropriately checked staff.   
• Age restrictions and limitations will be displayed as required at relevant points across 

the event site.  
• Queues into the event site and congested areas will be adequaltity resourced by the 

safeguarding and welfare teams. 

69



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  31 

• Search teams will work alongside the safeguarding and welfare teams in relation to 
access into the event.  

• Challenge 25 will operate at all points where there is sale of alcohol.  
• All sales of alcohol will be authorised by a personal license holder who will be present 

on each bar at all times. 
• All personal license holders will only operate under the permission and authority of 

the Designated Premises Supervisor.  
• All bar staff will be subject to license training prior to the start of the event or shift.  
• There will be no nudity involved in any event. 
• Suitable and sufficient first aid facilities and welfare facilities shall be provided.  
• Requirements for accompanying adults where children are under the age of 16 will be 

enforced as required.   
• A strict Lost Children and Vulnerable Adults procedure will be followed in the event this 

situation occurs onsite (Appendix 14 – Children and Vulnerable Adults Procedure). 
• Found children will be accompanied by two members of staff.     
• No food or drink, except water from a sealed bottle, will offered to children whilst in 

temporary care.  

 
The policy and procedure for dealing with lost children and/or vulnerable adults are attached 
to this ESMP:  

• Children & Vulnerable Adults Procedure – Appendix 14 
  

70



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  32 

Health and Safety  
 
Throughout the Event Safety Management Plan and Risk Assessment, specific reference is 
made to meeting the above licensing objectives. These objectives will take priority alongside 
the other important health and safety considerations outlined in the Event Safety 
Management Plan and Risk Assessments.  
 
The outdoor event industry and the organisers of this event are committed to producing an 
event that has taken all reasonable and necessary action to protect the health, safety and 
welfare of all those taking part. The meeting of the above licensing objectives and those 
outlined in the Event Safety Management Plan and Risk Assessment will play a role in 
achieving that aim. 
 
The Event Organiser will present their plans to the Safety Advisory Group and will consult the 
Multi Agency Planning meeting facilitated by the London Borough of Southwark.  

Monitoring Safety Performance  
 
Monitoring is essential to maintain and improve health and safety performance. There are 
two ways of generating information on safety performance: 
  

• Active monitoring systems give feedback on safety performance before an accident or 
incident happens. We will achieve active monitoring by carrying out inspections of the 
contractors on site during the build- up and breakdown and by checking the 
contractors' safety method statements for carrying out work against their actual work 
on site. 

• Reactive monitoring systems are triggered after an accident or incident has occurred. 
They include identifying and reporting injuries, ill health, other losses such as damage 
to property, incidents with the potential to cause injury, and weaknesses or omissions 
in safety standards.  

Auditing and Reviewing Safety Performance  
 
An audit of the safety performance will be carried out on completion of the event so that any 
problems in the planning and organisation can be identified, or any matters that arise during 
the event can be analysed and corrected for future events. Views of the police, fire brigade, 
health authorities, first-aid providers and local authority will be sought as well as views of the 
CDM Co-ordinator, contractors, security and stewarding contractors.   

71



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  33 

Approach to Risk Assessment  
 
The event organiser takes a proactive approach to the assessment, mitigation and 
management of risk. The Event Safety Management Plan is a key document that identifies 
risks associated with the event through the construction phases of building and break and the 
live operations. Early identification of the risks associated with the delivery of the event, 
combined with an assessment of who is at risk, the likelihood of the risk materialising and the 
impact of the risk, allows for the planning of actions to mitigate both the risk and factors 
leading to it. These mitigation measures are detailed in Method Statements. 
 
Risk is assessed across the event as a whole through and process of event profiling (see Event 
Profile – Appendix 1) and a full event risk assessment (see Build, Break and Fire Risk 
Assessment – Appendix 6, and Covid-19 Risk Assessment – Appendix 6a). Key activities are 
also risk assessed.  

Crowd Management 

Overall Co-ordination of Event Security and Stewarding 
 

G4S have been appointed by MIK K-Pop Festival to deliver their security and stewarding 
service for the festival. They shall take overall command of event crowd management 
resources and will be responsible for managing crowd flow within the main event site at 
Southwark Park. 
 
G4S have undertaken a risk assessment and on the basis of these assessments developed a 
robust Crowd Safety Management Plan (see Appendix 12 – Crowd Safety Management Plan). 
 
Only persons licensed by the Security Industry Authority shall undertake roles identified as 
requiring licensing under the SIA. 
 
Security personnel will be deployed wherever the nature of the location or role has been risk 
assessed as requiring personnel licensed under the SIA. A full log of contracted SIA personnel 
shall be kept onsite and available for inspection on request. Security personnel duties at the 
event shall include the following: 

 
• Working at access points  
• Recognising crowd conditions and advising their controller. 
• Managing crowd flow and social distancing 
• Attending incidents and emergencies. 
• Understanding the requirements/implementation of the emergency and major 

incident plan. 
• Providing a visual deterrent against crime and disorder. 

72



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  34 

• Securing mission critical technical infrastructure 
 
All security and stewards shall: 

 
• Be individually and readily identifiable by wearing reflective tabards and any PPE 

required for the role they are performing. 
• Be over 18 years of age 
• Not consume or be under the influence of alcohol or drugs 
• Not leave their assigned location or task without permission from a supervisor or 

controller. 

Crowd Safety and Dynamics 

The site has an estimated 18,000 m2 of usable outdoor space for the event excluding that 
assumed to be for event infrastructure. Capacity for the event has been agreed at 14,999 at 
any one time. It is noted that a holistic approach will be taken in assessing the capacity on 
site, supported by information from ticket scanning and sales. The security team will take 
direction on this and will follow the lead between the event organiser, health and safety 
advisor and security management. 

The main entrance for customers will be in to the part via Jamaica Gate leading on to Carriage 
drive and immediately right down the Avenue towards Dilston Grove where they shall access 
the north east of the main event arena. This area will be fenced off from the general public on 
only the event days and will be available to use during the build and the break. Customers will 
access the main event arena via the north east end of the site. Queueing pens will be created 
off the Avenue to manage queues in the event that customers arrive early to the site. 
Additionally pedestrian walkways can be created on external pavement routes to the side and 
a hold and release queueing system in the North End of the park if required as a last resort. 

There are two outdoor stages within MIK K-Pop Festival, the site is open and free flowing with 
the only areas that have space restrictions being the entry and exit gates which shall be 
managed by the security and event management team. For the purposes of this document it 
is presumed that the area where alcohol can be consumed in and around the whole event 
site. The capacity has been calculated and will be monitored through ticket sales prior to the 
event and the main customer gate to ensure that there is no overcrowding. High densities will 
be seen at the front of stage, but there should be adequate ‘breathing’ room the greater 
distance from the main stage.  

It will be assumed that there will be migration between the two stages with the main stage 
having the main viewing area for the most popular acts.  In order to mitigate against stage 2 
becoming overly crowded and reduce overall crowd migration, large LED screens at each 
stage will screen some relevant content to retain a portion of the audience whilst on-stage 
changeovers are effected.  In addition to this, sponsor and refreshment areas will provide 
capacity for a portion of the audience between acts. 

73



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  35 

The two most important aspects to be considered in crowd management are: 
  

1. Audience profile:  
2. Crowd Dynamics  

 
It is expected that the audience profile for the event will be a younger agre demographic with 
the average age between 16 and 24, proportionally female and highly socially responsible. 
This is due to the type of music, typical audience for the talent performing and previous 
experience on similar events.  
 
The way that a crowd behaves and responds is a combination of factors and will depend on 
the activities of that crowd, which is influenced in turn by the character of the crowd and 
attraction performing. 
 
This means that factors such as the following must be addressed:  
 

• The character of the acts i.e. crowd diving and throwing items into the crowd  
• Audience profile i.e. gender split, age, alcohol/drug consumption and likely activities 

such as crowd surfers and moshing  
 

These are the factors that we have considered and included with other information such as 
attendance figures and venue design / capacities to set staffing levels for this event.  
 
The Risk of Crowd disorder has been assessed as Low due to: 

• The nature of the music being played with ethos and ‘fun vibe’. 
• Crowd demographic of gender split and younger age range. 
• Relatively ‘early’ finish time of 22:00  
• Strict door policy with regards to searching and competency checks.  
• Experience seen at previous events as discussed with organisers.  
• Alcohol only being purchased responsibly at a clearly identified bar being run by a 

reputable and specialist outside bar agency.  
• Reassuring and friendly Hi-Viz security patrols throughout the site. 

Site Security  
 
The event will take place within Southwark Park.   
 
G4S will provide a general presence to secure the site areas 24 hours a day and throughout 
the live event.  
 
It is anticipated that with the nature of the event as well as good communication outside the 
event site and with mobile patrol teams monitoring the inside of the event site, coupled with 
the fencing of the perimeter that will surround the event, those gaining unauthorised entry 
should be kept to a minimum.  

74



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  36 

 
Any areas of concern during the event will be radioed through to Security Control and the 
Event Management team. More detailed information is available in the Crowd Management 
Plan.  

Event Security  
 
The main arena itself is held on a free-flow site with little areas of restricted access other than 
the production and back stage areas.  
 
Event security will be maintained by mobile (on foot) patrols that will maintain constant 
contact with Event Control and all static positions in order to respond to incidents as 
required.  
 
Any areas of restricted access (Production, Backstage) will be staffed on a static basis and 
controlled via the pass system implemented by the Event Organisers.  
 

Site Access  
 
During the build a vehicle brief will be in place for all vehicles accessing site, which shall 
include how and where to access the site, vehicle limitations, required accreditation, any 
follow me and/or banksing protocols and site speed limits.  
 
All vehicles will be off site by 11:30 on each the live days. No access to the main arena area 
will be granted to any vehicles except the emergency services in response to an incident.  
 
Everyone on site will be accredited. Site access will then only be granted to those with the 
correct accreditation. All persons will be directed to the appropriate facility to gain 
accreditation before entering.  

Accreditation  
 
Accreditation for customers, contractors and authorities will be planned and managed by the 
Event Organiser who will request all access information in advance of the event and also have 
a presence onsite to administer onsite.  
 
Access to areas of the site will be controlled by the security and stewarding team who will be 
briefed by the Accreditation Manager on what accreditation gets access to what areas. In 
addition to this the Accreditation Manager will be responsible for creating and deploying pass 
sheets around the site which the security and stewarding team will use to refer to when 
monitoring access.  

75



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  37 

 
Accreditation will either be a cloth wristband, vinyl wristband, paper wristband or pass on a 
lanyard and will be signed out on entry to the site.  

Search and Illegal Substances  
 
Search Procedures  
 
Certain property is designated as ‘contraband good and prohibited articles’ by the Event 
License holder to:  
 

1. Comply with certain license conditions Maintain public health and safety  
2. Prevent the Personal License holder being liable to prosecution  
3. Adhere to the wholesalers’ and traders’ agreements  
4. A random search will be in place upon entry to the event.  

 
At present the following items are prohibited and will be liable to confiscation, customers will 
have the opportunity to amnesty these items at the gate:  
 

• Alcohol  
• Any glass containers  
• Excessive amounts of cigarettes or alcohol  
• Weapons  
• Non-prescription drugs, including the previously described ‘legal highs’  
• Professional photography or recording equipment sound systems  
• Fireworks/Flares/Laser candle lights/Gas canisters/BBQ’s/  
• Sparklers  
• Any other type of explosive  
• Flags/windbreakers/tents 
• Dogs (except guide/service dogs) 
• Bicycles  
• Aerosols  
• Drones  

 
Profiling will take place at the gates and random searches will take place, including staff, 
crew, traders and customers. If there is intelligence to suspect that a person may be in 
possession of contraband items a search will be requested. If refused this could lead to 
eviction.  
 
If the above items are found either of the following may take place:  
 

• Allow the person to leave the site of their own accord  
• Refuse entry  

76



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  38 

• The person to surrender the items and allows to remain on site  
• The person has the items confiscated and is also evicted from site  

Medical Provision 
 
The medical provider appointed by MIK K-Pop Festival is First Aid Cover Ltd. They will supply 
the required human resources and medical infrastructure required for MIK K-Pop Festival. 
They will develop a robust medical operational plan for the event that takes into account the 
geography and specific layout of the event site. See Appendix 13 – Medical Plan. 
 
Under the new guidance within the Purple Guide all medical provisions are now based on a 
risk assessment produced by a suitably qualified and competent person.  

First aid facilities and a medic will be provided on site for all staff and audience members 
during the build, break and live show period. In addition, there will be first aid kits on site. 

Prior to the show commencing, all on site staff and the head of security will be briefed and 
made aware of any contingency plans, including evacuation points, designated ambulance 
loading points (Emergency Vehicle Rendezvous Point) and forward ambulance aid points. RV’s 
will be reviewed by the Event Safety Manager and designated depending on the location and 
type of emergency.  

The first aid point will be provided with contingency plans and site contact numbers, together 
with site plans.  

A Medical team will be on-site a minimum of one hour prior to gates opening to deal with any 
incidents relating to the queuing public. All medical teams will remain on-site until the site is 
clear of patrons. All medical staff will wear identified uniforms.  

A record of all people requiring first aid treatment will be kept by the medical team 
contractor on site and figures will be made available following the event for analysis. 

Suitable facilities will be in place in consideration of the requirements of Covid 19 at the time 
of event. 

Medical Deployment 
 

The proposed deployment based on the risk assessment is as follows: 

The following has been as the agreed level of staffing between First Aid Cover Ltd and MIK K-
Pop Festival in line with previous event data and the HSE Purple Guide.  

Build / Break Phase 

77



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  39 

1 x Emergency Medical Technician  
 
Live Event  

2 x Ambulance 

4 x Ambulance Personnel 

6 x First Aider 

1 x Nurse 

1 x Support Unit / FA Post 

Clinical Waste 
 
The first aid point shall be the designated collection point for all clinical waste and sharps. As 
such it will have a suitable container for sharps, marked ‘Bio Hazard’ and yellow bags. In 
accordance with their normal procedures the contracted event medical provider shall be 
responsible for the carriage and disposal of all such waste. 

Fire Safety Management  
 
The event organisers have overall responsibility for fire safety at the event. The Event Health 
& Safety Advisor will provide competent advice assist them in discharging their duties. See 
Appendix 6 – Event Risk Assessment. 

Fire Prevention 
 
All contractors, caterers, traders and personnel operating at the event shall be reminded and 
monitored to ensure that they conduct their operations in a manner to minimise the risk of 
fire in so far as is reasonably practicable. 
 
During the construction and live phases of the event portable fire-fighting equipment will be 
located at key positions around the site identified through the risk assessment process.  

 
The Event Manager shall ensure that a comprehensive (see Appendix 23 - Trader & 
Concessions Information Pack) is supplied to all prospective caterers and traders. This shall 
include details of what equipment is permitted onsite, details with regard to keeping to safe 
distances between stalls and the consequences of not complying to these general terms and 
conditions of trading. 

78



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  40 

Fire Risk Assessments 
 
An assessment of fire risk has been conducted in the planning stages of the event and is 
attached see Appendix 6 – Event Risk Assessment. The risk assessment will identify the 
location of portable fire-fighting equipment for both the construction and live phases of the 
event.  
 
Prior to opening the event to the public the Health & Safety Advisor will undertake an 
inspection of the site to ensure the risk assessments accurately reflect the built site and 
advise on any changes to the risk mitigation measures, including the addition or repositioning 
of portable fire fighting equipment. 

Fire Service Access 
 
The Major Incident Plan (see Appendix 11) for the event takes account of incidents related to 
the event and incidents that take place within the event footprint but that may be causally 
unrelated. This includes fires in or surrounding the event, including the municipal and civil 
buildings within the event footprint but not directly involved in the event. 

 
London Fire & Rescue Service will review the Event Safety Management Plan as part of the 
planning process and make recommendations as appropriate and required. 

LPG Safety 
 
The trading conditions for the event shall set out the policy on LPG safety. All traders at the 
event shall have valid Gas Safety Register certification for their gas appliances.  

 
Traders will be allowed to hold sufficient gas for day’s trading at their concession. All other 
gas cylinders, full or empty, will be stored in a secure gas compound. The Concessions 
Manager will have a record of the location of all LPG. These plans will be held in Event 
Control.  

Flammability Certification 
 
All stage surrounds and elements of stage dressings should have appropriate flammability 
certification. 

Smoking 
 
Smoking will not be permitted in any wholly or substantial enclosed structure. 

79



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  41 

Classifications of Fires 
 
The classifications of fires most likely to occur at an outdoor event are;  

• Class A Fires: Fires involving solid materials, usually of an organic nature, in which 
combustion normally takes place  with the formation of glowing embers such as 
paper, wood, cardboard etc.     

• Class B Fires: Fires involving all flammable liquids and solids, which can be sub divided 
into; Non-miscible (do not mix with water) such as petrol, solvents, paints & waxes; 
Miscible (mix with water) such as alcohol, acetone and ethanol, also known as Polar 
liquids.   

• Class C Fires: Fires involving natural gas, liquid petroleum gas and medical / industrial 
gases. 

• Class D Fires: Fires involving metals or powdered metals (where water will be 
ineffective or dangerous). Specialist dry powders for certain class “D” fires (e.g. those 
involving alkali metals such as sodium and potassium). These dry powders will 
extinguish by forming a crust and excluding oxygen. An additive is added to prevent 
the powder sinking into the surface of molten metals. 

• Electrical Fires: Electrical fires do not have a class of their own, as electricity is a source 
of ignition that will feed the fire until removed. When the electrical supply has been 
isolated (removed) use a Dry Powder or CO2 extinguisher as some electrical 
equipment may contain capacitors, lethal voltage.     

• Class F Fires: This is a new class dealing with high temperature (greater than 360 
degrees centigrade). Typically involving cooking oils used in large industrial kitchens, 
restaurants and takeaway establishments. Due to their high auto- ignition 
temperatures, cooking oil fires are difficult to extinguish. Conventional extinguishers 
are ineffective as they do not cool sufficiently or may cause flash back. The liquid 
chemical extinguisher used for this cools and emulsifies the oil, extinguishing the 
flame, sealing the surface and preventing re-ignition.   

Combustion Triangle   
 

The triangle illustrates the three elements a fire needs to ignite: heat, fuel, and an oxidising 
agent (usually oxygen).  

A fire naturally occurs when the elements are present and combined in the right mixture, 
meaning that fire is actually an event rather than a thing.   

A fire can be prevented or extinguished by removing any one of the elements in the fire 
triangle. For example, covering a fire with a fire blanket removes the oxygen part of the 
triangle and can extinguish a fire. Portable Fire Fighting Equipment (Appliances)   

80



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  42 

  
Fire extinguishers  
 
 

 

 

Construction, Design and Management (CDM)  

Organising for Safety  
 

A management structure is shown in Appendix 2 – Event Management Structure. Below is a 
summary of the main roles and responsibilities of the companies involved and their 
respective teams.  

To satisfy the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM2015) we have 
defined here the perceived titles and duties under this regulation. It should also be noted that 
this applies mainly to the construction, use and deconstruction of temporary demountable 

81



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  43 

structures throughout the event site. 

Client – MIK K-Pop Festival 
 

Are the promoters for the event and will utilise the planning and organisation stages of the 
event management process to ensure the safety of the general public, contractors and staff, 
to minimise hazards and prevent accidents, and as far as possible to minimise nuisance and 
disruption to businesses and other users of the wider community surrounding the event 
arena.  

Provide suitable arrangements for managing their event, enabling those carrying it out to 
manage health and safety risks in a proportionate way.  

Principal Designer – Proud Events Ltd  
 

Principal designers have an important role in influencing how risks to health and safety are 
managed throughout a project. Design decisions made during the pre-construction phase 
have a significant influence in ensuring the project is delivered in a way that secures the 
health and safety of everyone affected by the work.  

In line with the HSE guidance for the entertainments industry for festivals and concerts both 
Proud Events as the overall site designer and the staging supplier, specifically for the stage, 
are identified as Principal Designers.  

Staging design, including the necessary structural calculations is considered a significantly 
specialist skill for the staging supplier to be identified as a separate Principal Designer.     

Principal Contractor – Proud Events Ltd  
 

Principal contractors have an important role in managing health and safety risks during the 
construction, use and de-construction phases so they must have the skills, knowledge, 
experience and, where relevant, organisational capability to carry out this work.  

As staging is considered such a specialist area of skills, knowledge and expertise within the 
events industry they are identified as a Principal Contractor alongside the Event Production 
suppliers.  

Contractors 
 

82



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  44 

A contractor is anyone who directly employs or engages workers or manages work at this 
event. Contractors include sub-contractors, any individual self-employed worker or business 
that carries out, manages or controls work at this event. They must have the skills, 
knowledge, experience and, where relevant, the organisational capability to carry out the 
work safely and without risk to health.    

The legal obligations of companies are set out in the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
and its associated regulations and the above named guidance seek neither to replace nor to 
encompass the full range of obligations for the sector. Special attention should be directed, 
but not limited, to the Construction Design and Management Regulations 2015, the Work at 
Height Regulations 2005, Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998, and the 
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999. Relevant codes and standards 
should be adhered to.  

Event Management  

Operational Management 
 
Ultimate responsibility for the event, under normal operating conditions, will reside with the 
Event Organisers, their appointed Event Manager and the Health and Safety Advisor.  

 
The Event Manager and Health & Safety Advisors will devolve and delegate operational 
authority to a series of managers such as: The Security & Stewarding Manager, Site Manager, 
etc. known as the Event Management Team. 
 
Details of each manager and lead supplier are contained within the Key Contacts 

Event Management Team Roles 
 
Event Organiser: MIK K-Pop Festival 
 
MIK K-Pop Festival is the event organiser and accountable to Designated Premises Supervisor. 
The MIK K-Pop Festival carry overall responsibility for the event and the delivery of the Event 
Safety Management Plan.  
 
Festival Director: Marcus Weedon 
 
The Festival Director is appointed by MIK K-Pop Festival to provide strategic management and 
oversight of the planning and delivery of the event. They represent the Event Organiser 
throughout the process and at key planning and delivery meetings. They will provide strategic 
direction to the Event Manager with the support of the specialist advisors and suppliers. They 
will attend the Event Liaison Team (ELT). 

83



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  45 

 
Event Manager: Harry Feigen – Proud Events  
 
The Event Manager is responsible for ensuring the delivery and operation of the event day to 
day in accordance with the principles set out in the Event Safety Management Plan. This will 
include management of all live event contractors including security, medical, ticketing 
amongst others. They shall manage when the event opens to the public and when the event 
closes each day and have oversight over all live event processes for the event reporting back 
to the Event Organiser as agreed prior to the first day of the event going live. The Event 
Manager will form part of the ELT and may call a Show Stop.  
 
Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS): Harry Feigen – Proud Events  
 
The DPS is the licence holder for the event and has overall responsibility for ensuring the 
licensing objectives and the conditions of the licence are met during the event. They will be 
part of the ELT. They will lead the Event Liaison Team (ELT). The Designated Premises 
Supervisor may call a Show Stop through Event Control. 
 
Event Safety / Health & Safety Advisor (Construction Phase & Live Event): Jeff Protheroe – 
JP Event Safety  
 
The Event Safety Advisor is responsible for the planning, coordinating and safety measures for 
the construction and live operation of the event, including undertaking the event risk 
assessments and reviewing relevant risk assessments and method statements from suppliers. 
They will support the Production Company and advise the Event Organiser. They will be part 
of the ELT. The Event Safety Advisor may call a Show Stop. 
 
Security & Stewarding Manager: Paul Manson – G4S 
 
The Security & Stewarding Manager is responsible for strategically planning and coordinating 
the security and stewarding resources onsite to ensure that the teams work cohesively to 
provide for a holistic approach to event crowd management. They will be part of the ELT. The 
Security Manager may call a Show Stop. 
 
Medical Manager: Simon Nash – First Aid Cover Ltd 
 
The Medical Manager is responsible for undertaking the event medical risk assessment, 
planning the medical provision and the management of the medical service during the 
construction phase and live event. They will provide management and clinical leadership 
throughout the event. They will be part of the ELT. 
 
Site Manager: Joe Sheals – Proud Events 
 
The Site Manager is responsible of all the construction phases of the site build and break and 
for overseeing all the site services during live operations. They will oversee all site operations 

84



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  46 

ensuring they comply with the site rules and the identified risk assessments and associated 
mitigating methods statements are implemented. The Site Manager will be part of the ELT. 
The Stage Manager may call a Shop Stop. 
 
Production Manager: Ipex Productions 
 
The Production Manager is responsible ensuring the delivery and operation of all the 
performance spaces and areas on the event site. This includes the construction phases of the 
stage, light and sound load in and load out. They will work closely with the Site Manager 
during the build and break of the event and the lead Stage Manager during live shows. They 
will join the ELT as required. The Production Manager may call a Show Stop through Event 
Control. 
 
Stage Manager: Ipex Productions 
 
The Stage Manager is responsible for managing all the artist performance areas across the 
footprint including the main stage and secondary stages. They are responsible for all 
programming and the timely operation of all performances. They are not part of the ELT 
however due to the important nature of the role the Stage Manager may call a Show Stop 
through Event Control. 
 
Event Control Manager: TBC – Proud Events 
 
The Event Control Manager will run the Event Control operation on behalf of the Event 
Organiser. They will be managed by the Event Manager and will act as a conduit for all 
communication and decision-making between the Event Organiser and the licensing 
authorities. They are part of the ELT and will provide the main briefing at ELT meetings. 
 
Accreditation Manager: TBC – Proud Events 
 
The Accreditation Manager will be responsible for issuing all accreditation for the event 
including customer, contractor and management. The Accreditation Manager will be 
responsible for the security of all event wristbands, collecting all accreditation information 
from the teams onsite, administering onsite and ensuring the stewarding team are wrist 
banding customers correctly into the event (should it be required). The Accreditation 
Manager reports to the Event Manager and is not part of the ELT.   
 
Bars Manager: TBC – TBC 
The Bars Manager is responsible for ensuring an Alcohol Management Plan is prepared in 
advance of the event and is fully implemented during the event. They will be a Personal 
Licence Holder and will ensure that they or a suitably appointed deputy is on site throughout 
the period the event is open to the public. They will ensure all staff have received training and 
that there is a Personal Licence Holder present at each point alcohol is being provided across 
the event. They are not part of the ELT. 
 

85



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  47 

Concession Manager: TBC - TBC  
 
The Concessions Manager is responsible for safe and proper operation of the food 
concessions including compliance with their risk assessments and hygiene practices. They will 
ensure staff have received proper training and supervision. They are also responsible for 
ensuring liaison between the event management team and the food concessions. 

Event Liaison Team 
 
The Event Liaison Team (ELT) will be specified as below. The ELT will comprise of the Event 
Management Team and nominated individuals from the Licensing Authorities and Emergency 
Services. 
 

• Event Manager / DPS 
• Event Control Manager 
• Licensing Authorities representative (if required) 
• Police representative (if required) 
• Health & Safety Advisor 
• Security & Stewarding Manager 
• Medical Provider Manager 
• Site Manager 
• Production Manager 

 
To assist with the smooth running of the event, ELT meetings will be held when necessary to 
discuss any potential issues or changes to the running of the event. 
The purpose of these meetings is to provide a forum for key members of the event 
management team and licensing authorities to meet, provide updates and if necessary, 
collectively develop required plans. 

Event Control 
 
A fully functional Event Control will be provided by Event Organisers. It will be staffed by key 
agencies as well as key suppliers (Health & Safety, Security & Stewarding and First Aid) and 
managed on behalf of the Event Organisers by the Event Control Manager reporting to the 
Event Manager.  
 
Event Control will be contactable by radio and phone and will log all key communications and 
decisions. All decisions outside the EMSP and escalation will be routed through Event Control 
to the Event Manager and they will track all key event activities. Each organisation involved in 
the event will have their own chain of command and communication arrangements. 
 

86



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  48 

The Event Control facility will begin full-scale operations not less than 2 hours before the 
event is open to the public. Following the end of the event will begin a phased shut down 
unless there is an incident that requires it to remain at full operating capability. 
 
Notification of an incident may need to be reported to the police, they may not always be 
able to be resolved in house. A log will be kept of any incidents (assaults, large drug seizures, 
etc). The log should include names, phone numbers personal details, locations of the incident, 
incident type, any witness names, etc). This log will be submitted to the police within 24 hrs.  
  
In the event of an emergency Event Control will operate to support the designated 
representative from the emergency services who assumes control of the event and dealing 
with the incident. This is subject to ensuring the safety of those providing Event Control.  

Event Communications 
 
Communications across the event will be facilitated two way radios.   
 
All key staff will be provided with full contact details of all other key staff, agencies and event 
suppliers.  
 
Further details are available in the Communications Plan – Appendix 9 
  

87



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  49 

Major Incident & Emergency Planning 
 
All Emergency Services will be informed of the event and will be made aware of the 
emergency access and exit routes. Should an emergency arise, they will have unrestricted 
access around the event site.  

A major emergency situation will require a multi-agency approach in which the operations 
manager, the police, ambulance service, fire service and stewards all play a part. A clear 
demarcation of duties and responsibilities will be agreed and understood at the planning 
stage. Agreed emergency procedures will be issued in writing to all relevant parties.  

Emergency Procedures   
 

This section is a brief overview of the initial actions to be taken in the event of an emergency 
occurring at the event. It is a quick reference summary of the important aspects of the Major 
Incident Plan. It does not replace the Major Incident Plan and the event organisers should 
ensure that they understand the plan and the arrangements contained within it.     

Definition  
 

For the purposes of this document, the definition of a major incident is "an event or situation 
with a range of serious consequences which requires special arrangements to be 
implemented by one or more emergency responder agency". They are likely to be larger, 
more complex, endanger more people or threaten larger areas, and will require additional 
levels of command, control and co-ordination. 

An emergency is defined as “a dangerous or serious situation that happens unexpectedly and 
needs fast action in order to avoid harmful results.”     

Alert & Activation   
 

Emergencies demand a co-coordinated, multi-agency approach. Major incidents may require 
the participation of multiple services, agencies, authorities and Central Government 
Departments.    

Staff on duty and involved with the event will have been fully briefed by the Event Manager 
and provided with written instructions on their roles and responsibilities in the event of a 
major incident (Appendix 11 – Major Incident Plan).    

88



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  50 

Incidents  

Incident Management 
 
All incidents are reported to and managed by the Event Manager working with the Health & 
Safety Advisor. An incident management procedure is contained within Appendix 8 – Incident 
Reporting Procedure  
 
In respect of any incident the priority of any personnel at the scene will be to advise Event 
Manager by the quickest available means (which will normally be radio). The Event Manager, 
with the support of the Health & Safety Advisor, will determine the appropriate course of 
action and issue instructions accordingly. A detailed event incident log shall be completed 
throughout the duration of the event.  
 
The number of variables associated with any incident is such that whilst it is important to 
have an established framework it is nevertheless crucial to retain a degree of flexibility. The 
event management team shall assess any incident or potential incident and agree the best 
means of tackling it. 

 
To facilitate operational debriefing and to provide evidence for enquiries, comprehensive 
records shall be kept of all events, decisions and actions taken. The Event Organisers shall 
maintain records and shall brief contractors that they themselves are required to maintain 
records 

Major Incidents  

Major Incidents and Emergencies 
 
Whether an incident is categorised as a major incident is entirely a matter for the emergency 
services or in certain circumstances the local authority. Should a major incident be declared 
the Event Organiser will place the resources of the event management team at the disposal of 
the lead emergency service who will assume overall control (see Appendix 11 – Major 
Incident Plan) 

Threat of Terror 
 
At the time of writing this document there is no intelligence to suggest a specific threat to the 
event. The event organisers will request regular updates from the Police.  The event 
organisers will undertake appropriate liaison with the Met Police Counter Terrorism Security 
Advisor (CTSA) or Counter Terrorism Security Co-ordinator (CT SecCo) as required.  
The following procedures will be put in place to ensure the security of the event;  

89



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  51 

 
• Police to provide regular threat level updates.   
• All staff and stewards to be extra vigilant.   
• Stewards to carry out random searches on entry to the arena.   
• Full arena sweep searches will be conducted prior to public being admitted and once 

they have all left.   

Emergency Radio Codes  
 
Emergency radio codes will be used in emergency situations via radio communication in order 
to not concern that of the public.  
 
Action Codes 
 

Code Red Decision to evacuate the event site or area 
of incident on the event site 

Code Amber Standby for egress of the event site or area 
of incident on the event site 

Code Green Stand down for egress of the event site or 
area of incident on the event 

 
Incident Codes 
 

Code A Lost child/vulnerable adult 
Code B Found child/vulnerable adult 
Code C Crowd management issue 
Code D Bomb threat 
Code E Fire 
Code F Structural issue 

 

Emergency Access and Rendezvous Points 
 
Emergency services access to the event will be via the following route: 
 

• North/south bound traffic can turn left/right off the A2208 Hawkstone Road 
• Bear left past the car park on to the existing hard standing roadway 
• Follow the hard standing until you meet the event site permiter.  
• External gates drawn on the plan will be assigned a name in due course to assist with 

idenitification.  
 

90



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  52 

It should be noted here that if the Event Managament Team are expecting blue-light 
attendance due to an emergency situation, then personnel will be dispatched to Park Lodge 
on the junction of A2208 to wait for the responding service and escort them in to the event 
site via the blue light route. Security personnel will assist in clearing the route of any park 
users that may be obstructing the route.  
 
Upon consultation with responsible authorities during the SAG process, suitable Primary and 
Secondary RVPs will be identified and agreed by all parties. This is so we can utilise the 
localised knowledge held by the emergency services.  
 
Blue Light Access address: Park Lodge, Hawkstone Road, London, SE16 2PA.  
What Three Words location: ///print.mouth.laptop 
 
Please refer to the plan below.  
 
 

 
  

91



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  53 

Wind and Adverse Weather 
 
The event organiser will monitor the weather conditions in the run up to and operational days 
of the event (including the build and break periods). If adverse weather conditions are 
identified all contracts, suppliers and staff will be briefed with any specific action or risk 
mitigations that are agreed.  
 
Wind remains a risk (see Appendix 22 – Adverse Weather Plan) and an action plan is in place 
in the event of strong winds or gusts. All suppliers of temporary structures will supply 
information about the wind tolerance and loading of their structures.  
 
In the event of strong consistent winds or gusts, the Event Management team will monitor 
the wind conditions and call the Event Liaison Team to meet to agree to activate the 
management steps within the plans. This may result in the clearing of areas within the event 
site or in extreme situations, a complete site evacuation. Remediation and risk mitigation 
measures for each temporary structure (or type of structure) are detailed within the plan. 
 
It is expected that due to the nature of the event that a number of customers will come to 
MIK K-Pop Festival in costume dress up and may be children or young adults who would not 
think to plan ahead in a head wave. Special provisions on management of guests in a heat 
wave, which is considered as adverse weather, can be found in the Adverse Weather Plan 
(Appendix 22).  

Temporary Electrical Installations and Site Lighting 

Design and Coordination of Distribution 
 
Temporary power is required to support the construction and live phases of the event. In 
particular power will be required for the stages, offices, bars, concessions and other elements 
right across the event site. 
 
TBC has been appointed to design, install, operate and monitor a series of temporary power 
networks across the event site. They are a qualified and experienced provider of temporary 
power solutions to the events and entertainments industry. 
 
The installation will be powered by a series of diesel generators located around the site in 
secured compounds. Cabled distribution networks will be set up and operated off these 
generators. All distribution networks will be subject to required earthing and all circuits will 
be protected by appropriate breakers to prevent accidental electric shock or electrocution. 
 
If required temporary Electrical Installations should be designed, installed, tested and 
maintained in accordance with the provisions of BS 7909: 2011 Code of practice for 

92



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  54 

temporary electrical systems for entertainment and related purposes. Sign off certification 
will be supplied, and copies retained in the Site Office for inspection. 

Cabling  
 
Cables will be routed or covered so that they will not cause a tripping hazard or be crushed by 
vehicular traffic. Cables carrying hazardous voltages e.g. those that could cause electrical 
shock if damaged, will be protected against contact with sharp edges or crushing by heavy 
loads. All temporary overhead cables will be securely fixed in position out of reach of the 
public. 

Portable Appliance Testing 
 

Advance documentation should make it clear to both contractors and traders that all portable 
electrical equipment brought onto the event site shall have been subject to a robust PAT 
testing regime. 
 

Petrol Generators 
 
The event organisers shall ensure that all relevant parties are notified that petrol generators 
are prohibited within the event site.  

Site Lighting 
 

Adequate lighting is required for both the construction phase and live operation of the event. 
Safe lighting levels are required for safe working and to support customer navigation around 
the site and any emergency egress required.  The use of temporary site lighting will also be 
subject to discussion with the Parks team in respect of the ecological impact on fauna in in 
the park at the time of the event. 
 
As the event takes place in Southwark Park there is limited ‘in situ’ street lighting. The Event 
Organiser will supply temporary lighting for night time working conditions.   
 
Independently powered, diesel generator, telescopic high luminosity lights will be installed at 
key locations around the site to provide supplementary lighting to support areas on the site 
with low light, to provide safe working light or to support an emergency site egress. 
 
Lights will be subject to periodic test operation throughout both the construction and live 
phases of the event to ensure they are operating as required. 

93



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  55 

Barriers 
 
Barriers will be used extensively around the site to provide security and to manage and direct 
crowds. The barrier types intended for this event are as follows: 

Steel shield (T-Hoard) will be used to create perimeter fencing around the main event site 
where high level secured fencing, privacy and reduced visibility is required.  

Heras barrier connected with clips and supported by blocks and stays will be used to queuing 
area from Carriage Drive to the main entrance for customers and at areas throughout the 
event where high level secured fencing is required. It will be covered in a suitable material in 
some areas to provide privacy or reduce visibility into an area. 

Pedestrian barrier will be used largely to form queuing lanes and create defined areas within 
and outside the event. Pedestrian barrier is an effective way to provide direction and guide 
customers. 

Met (HD) or lightweight pedestrian (GT) barrier will be used to create a more robust barrier 
line where it is important to keep a separation between areas or activities i.e. along the edge 
of a road to keep pedestrians away from moving vehicles. It may also be used to supplement 
hostile vehicle mitigation measures, but not as a measure in itself. 

Industry standard front of stage (or mojo) barrier wil be used at each stage and other discrete 
locations where crowd loading capapility is required. 

Drinking water provision and arrangements for grey water  
 
During the construction phase bottled drinking water for the welfare of crew, contractors and 
staff will be provided. 

The water management supplier will tap into the mains water supply of the park to create a 
potable water supply. All water supplies will be tested and certified and documentation will 
be held in the site office for inspection. In the event that there is no mains water supply that 
the water management supper can tap into tankered potable water to traders, concessions 
and bars will be supplied instead.  

Patrons will be able to request drinking water from the bars.  

Grey water collected from trader and concession activity will be stored in waste water IBCs 
and removed from site at the end of the event and disposed of via a certified grey water 
disposal point. 

94



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  56 

Sanitary Facilities 
 
Sanitary facilities will be provided across various locations around the event. Care will be 
taken when planning their location to ensure these are areas that will encourage their use 
and discourage antisocial behaviour. 
 
The number of toilets required has been assessed using both the ‘Purple Guide’ and the 
knowledge and expertise of the supplier, based on anticipated capacities and customer 
footfall. 
 
Toilets will be gender neutral and will comprise urinals, contained individual units with 
lockable doors, accessible units and one fully accessible toilet/changing unit with powered 
access. Toilets will be clearly signed and where required compounds will be screened. 
 
Cleaning and servicing of sanitary facilities, services and offices will happen continuously 
throughout all phases of the event. During cleansing users will be asked to leave units to allow 
the team to thoroughly cleanse with disinfectant to reduce risk of virus contamination.  

Waste Management 
 
The Event Organiser is committed to delivering a safe and clean event and the active 
management of waste during the construction and live event phases is delivered through the 
waste management supplier, TBC.  
 
The waste management supplier will provide bins for collection, containment and disposal of 
related waste for the event. Contractors will be informed they are responsible for maintaining 
a safe and clean site during the construction phases of the event and the waste management 
supplier will do a site cleanse during the live event days. 
 
During the live event the waste management supplier will provide supplementary bins for 
public use and also for the use of traders and concessions. 
 
Public bins will be emptied throughout the event and there will be an active litter picking 
services. Following live show days there will be a full site cleanse. 
 
Traders and concessions will be responsible for bagging and disposing of their waste at pre-
agreed collection points. The Site Office will deal with any capacity issues during live events. 
 
Towards the end of the construction phase cleansing of the site will be undertaken so that as 
the final construction activities are completed the site has been fully cleansed ready for the 
site to be handed back. 

95



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  57 

COVID-19 Cleansing 
 
The Event Organiser is committed to a thorough cleansing regime at MIK K-POP Festival to 
stop the spread of COVID-19 and it is anticipated that this will still be required throughout all 
outdoor events in 2021. The Event Organiser will be contracting a specific supplier to manage 
the cleansing regime at MIK K-Pop Festival throughout the build, break and live periods. The 
supplier will be TBC and there will always be a minimum of one member of the cleansing 
team onsite whenever any worker or customer is onsite.  
 
TBC will be responsible for the continuous cleansing and disinfecting of potential areas of 
contamination onsite including, but not limited to, toilets, offices, door handles, high touch 
areas, workshop areas, medical areas and staff rest areas.  
 
TBC shall work on a continuous loop cleansing these key areas and will be available to take 
requests from Event Management if required with a minimum of one member of the team 
present during the build and break and two during the live events.  
 
TBC will use NHS assessed products to disinfect and cleanse key areas at MIK K-Pop Festival. 
Reports will be available upon request to the Event Organiser on these products if required. 
 
A fulll COVID-19 cleansing risk assessment can be found in Appendix 18 and Appendix 6a 
(COVID-19 Controls).   

Bars 
 
TBC will operate two bars under the premises licence. Their alcohol management plan is 
contained within Appendix 15. 
 
TBC will provide a Bars Project Manager and operations team to deliver the bar operation. 
The Bars Project Manager will report into the Event Manager and Designated Premises 
Supervisor.  
 
Each bar will be fully staffed with a personal licence holder and bar team. All staff will receive 
licensing training as part of their recruitment process for the event. All bars will operate a 
Challenge 25 scheme.  
 

Main Arena – Bar 1 30m x 6m  Packaged serve 
Main Arena – Bar 2 30m x 6m Packaged serve 

 

Concessions Management  
 

96



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  58 

Concessions will either rent a pre-built marquee pitch from the Event Organiser or will apply 
to bring their own.  
 
TBC have been appointed by MIK K-Pop Festival to manage all food concessions onsite. They 
are the primary suppliers of food and soft drinks for consumption on site. Pre-assessment 
paperwork will be submitted to the London Borough of Southwark. The concession supplier 
will appoint a concessions manager whose details will be contained within this document.  
 
TBC will advise on the appropriate number of concessions for the event in regards to the 
expected attendance which will offer a high quality range of cuisines.  
 
The Site Manager will work with the Concessions Manager to manage traders on site and 
throughout the event. All traders will submit applications and will be assessed by the event 
organiser and be given an allocated a pitch location.  
 
Prior to arriving to site all traders will be sent a copy of the Concessions and Traders pack 
which will be produced by the Concessions Management Company and checked by the Event 
Manager. A copy of this can be found in Appendix 23 of this document.  
 
Notification of food traders and required supporting documentation will be provided by the 
local authority no later than 28 days in advance of the event.  

Concession planning 
 
Concession areas should be configured with due regard to maximizing thoroughfare widths 
and not adversely impacting crowd dynamics.  

Concessions Access  
 
During the event the Concessions Manager will be supported by the site team to monitor and 
oversee legal traders and report illegal traders to trading standards for removal.  
 
There will be designated times of arrival for legal traders and the security contractor will be 
well briefed on preventing illegal traders entering the footprint.  
 
Where caterers are deemed by Licencing to be in breach of regulations, laws or issued terms 
and conditions they will be closed down and removed from the premises. However, this will 
only be done if licensing together with the MPS consider it is safe to do so. 

Funfairs 
 
TBC 

97



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  59 

Marketing and Promotion 
 
Whilst MIK K-Pop Festival is a new event the promoters have a wealth of experience on 
planning and promoting both outdoor music events and K-Pop events within the UK. A robust 
marketing plan will be developed and operated by the promoter team and shared with the 
London Borough of Southwark to coordinate event messaging.   
 

Media and press 
 
The Promoter will be responsible for handling all media and press enquiries for the festival. 
The Promoter shall be responsible for all public relations and media interaction throughout 
the planning process in line with the creative direction of the event and artistic programming. 
They shall facilitate positive working relationships and links between all internal and external 
parties involved in the presentation of the event and shall be charge of all ticketing and 
manage the ticket agents for the event.  
 

98



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  60 

Appendix 1: Event Profile 

Appendix 2: Event Management Structure 

Appendix 3: Event License 

Appendix 4:  Event Insurance 

Appendix 5: Site Plan 

Appendix 6: Build, Break & Fire Risk Assessments  

Appendix 6a:  Covid-19 Risk Assessment 

Appendix 7: Construction Phase Plan (CDM) 

Appendix 8: Incident Management & Reporting Procedure 

Appendix 8a: Incident Report Form       

Appendix 9: Communications Plan 

Appendix 10: Show Stop Plan 

Appendix 11: Major Incident Plan 

Appendix 12: Crowd Management Plan 

Appendix 13: Medical Operating Plan  

99



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  61 

Appendix 14: Children & Vulnerable Adults Procedure 

Appendix 15: Alcohol Management Plan 

Appendix 16: Sound Management Plan 

Appendix 17: Waste Management Plan 

Appendix 18: Traffic and Transport Plan 

Appendix 19: Covid-19 Cleansing Risk Assessment 

Appendix 20: Environmental Impact Assessment 

Appendix 21: Disabled Access Management Plan 

Appendix 22: Adverse Weather Plan  

Appendix 23: Trader & Concessions Information Pack 

Appendix 24:  Lost Property Procedure 

Appendix 25:  Impact Assessment Report 

Appendix 26:  Performance Programme 

Appendix 27:  PROW Notice Closure 

Appendix 28:  Licensing Key Actions  

100



 

MIK K-Pop Festival  62 

Appendix 29:  Pre-Application Consultation Report  

Annexe 1: Health & Safety Policy 

Annexe 2: Safeguarding Policy 

Annexe 3: Sustainability Policy 

Annexe 4: Equalities and Diversity Policy 

Annexe 5: Alcohol and Drug Use Policy 

Annexe 6: CDM Regulations 

Annexe 7: Guidance for the Management & Use of Stages 
 

101



From: Earis, Richard <Richard.Earis@southwark.gov.uk>  
Sent: Monday, March 8, 2021 12:55 PM 
To: Regen, Licensing <Licensing.Regen@southwark.gov.uk> 
Cc:   
Subject: RE: New premises application- MIK K-Pop Festival, Southwark Park, South 
Section, Hawkstone Road 

Dear Licensing, 

RE: New premises application 874183 - MIK K-Pop Festival, Southwark Park 

I have considered this application on behalf of EPT (Prevention of Public Nuisance 
Responsible Authority) and I make the following representation: 

I am satisfied with the proposed steps to control noise from the event, as set out in the 
submitted Sound Management Plan.  However, to ensure more straightforward 
enforceability it is necessary for the event sound limits to be included as a specific License 
Condition rather than just by a general condition which makes reference to the SMP. 

It is necessary for the applicant to agree to the following License Condition: 

 Sound from regulated entertainment shall not exceed a free field level of 75dB(A)
and 90dB(C) (Leq 15 minute) outside any noise sensitive location.  All assessment
and monitoring data shall be shared with the Local Authority upon request.

If the applicant can confirm their agreement then I can withdraw my representation. 

Kind Regards, 

Richard 

Richard Earis 
Principal Environmental Protection Officer 
Environmental Protection Team 

From:    
Sent: Tuesday, March 9, 2021 1:16 PM 
To: Earis, Richard <Richard.Earis@southwark.gov.uk>; Regen, Licensing 
<Licensing.Regen@southwark.gov.uk> 
Cc:   
Subject: Re: New premises application- MIK K-Pop Festival, Southwark Park, South 
Section, Hawkstone Road 

Dear Richard and Licensing Team 

Many thanks for your email and the suggestion of the proposed condition. 

APPENDIX B
102

mailto:Richard.Earis@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:Licensing.Regen@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:Richard.Earis@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:Licensing.Regen@southwark.gov.uk


Can I request one small change of the wording to the below? 

 Music Noise from regulated entertainment shall not exceed a free field level of
75dB(A) and 90dB(C) (Leq 15 minute) outside any noise sensitive location.  All
assessment and monitoring data shall be shared with the Local Authority upon
request.

Best 

Managing Director 

From: Earis, Richard <Richard.Earis@southwark.gov.uk>  
Sent: Tuesday, March 9, 2021 1:52 PM 
To:                        ; Regen, Licensing 
<Licensing.Regen@southwark.gov.uk> 
Cc:   
Subject: RE: New premises application- MIK K-Pop Festival, Southwark Park, South 
Section, Hawkstone Road 

Yes this is agreed – it is not intended to cover crowd or other noise. 

Licensing – on the basis of this condition and the submitted Sound Management Plan, I 
confirm I withdraw my objections to this application.   

Condition replicated below for clarity: 

Music Noise from regulated entertainment shall not exceed a free field level of 
75dB(A) and 90dB(C) (Leq 15 minute) outside any noise sensitive location.  All 
assessment and monitoring data shall be shared with the Local Authority upon 
request. 

Kind Regards, 

Richard 

Richard Earis 
Principal Environmental Protection Officer 
Environmental Protection Team 

103

mailto:Richard.Earis@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:Licensing.Regen@southwark.gov.uk


The Licensing Unit Metropolitan Police Service 
Floor 3 Licensing Office 
160 Tooley Street Southwark Police Station, 
London 
SE1 2QH 

323 Borough High Street, 
LONDON, 
SE1 1JL 

Tel:     020 7232 6756  
Email: 
SouthwarkLicensing@met.police.uk  

Our 
reference: 

MD/21/042/21 

Date: 10th MARCH 2021 

Dear Sir/Madam 

Re:- MIK K-Pop Festival, Southwark Park, London SE16 2PE 

Police are in possession of an application from the above for a new Time limited 
premises licence for two days a year over three years. The application is for a Pop 
Festival for up to 14999 people which will take place in an area in the South End of the 
park. The terminal hour as requested are inside the guidelines set out in the Southwark 
Statement of Licensing.  

A number control measures have been offered by the applicant within the operating 
schedule, and the application. The Home office guidance issued under Sec 182 of the 
licensing Act 2003 ‘General principles’ state that it is important in setting the 
parameters within which the premises may operate. Conditions must be precise and 
enforceable. This is difficult due to the nature of festival applications due to the 
temporary nature of the set up.  

In its current format, I object to this granting of this licence, unless the following control 
measures are agreed and added to the operating schedule before the premises licence 
is granted. 

1. All events will operate in accordance with Southwark Council's Events Policy.

2. No alcohol to be sold or supplied in glass containers anywhere in the park.

3. The exact numbers of SIA and stewards must be agreed with the police
licensing officer 14 days prior to the start of event.

104



4. That all events obtain authority and agreement from the Safety Advisory
Group (SAG) and all recommendations are implemented.

Submitted for your consideration. 
Yours Sincerely 

PC Graham White 2288AS 
Southwark Police Licensing Unit 
Tel:   0207 232 6756 

From:    
Sent: Friday, March 12, 2021 2:37 PM 
To: Graham.S.White@met.police.uk; southwarklicensing@met.police.uk 
Cc: McArthur, Wesley <Wesley.McArthur@southwark.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: Application for a time limited premises licence: MIK K-Pop Festival, 
Southwark Park, South Section, Hawkstone Road, London, SE16 2PE ref': 874183 
(Loc ID: 4588) - Rotherhithe Ward 

Dear Mr White 

I refer to your representation of 10th March 2021 which has been forwarded to me by 
Southwark Licensing Authority.   

Following latest Government COVID-19 Guidance and the Road Map, we have 
decided not to hold our proposed event in 2021 but to stage our first event in 2022. 
Our Licence Application is to proceed on this basis.  

I note in your representation your reference to conditions that may be imposed in a 
Licence, if granted, and we will prepare a set of proposed conditions for consideration 
now that we have received all representations relating to our Application. 
Our comments on your proposed conditions are as follows:  

1. Southwark’s Outdoor Event Policy provides Guidance to prospective users of
the Park so they can make an Application to the Council for use of the
Park.   Such an application is totally separate to the Application for a Premises
Licence.  The Policy covers matters which are much wider than the Licensing
Objectives, so it is not appropriate to incorporate the Policy into a Licence
Condition.  However, what you seek to achieve is contained in the Policy,
insofar as it includes a requirement for a Premises Licence to be obtained for
events such as ours as a prerequisite of the use of the Park.

2. We agree this Condition provided it is limited to the Premises which is the area
within our control and we will include this Condition in our Schedule of Proposed
Conditions.

3. We are on the same page with your proposal – see Section M b) of our
Application, which provides for the security and stewarding plan, including
deployments, to be presented for approval within the EMP to SAG 28 days
before the first event day.  This will be one of our proposed conditions.

4. Again, we agree with this proposal which is provided for in Section M a) of the
Application and Conditions will be included in our proposed conditions to this
effect.

105



I hope to have the Schedule of Proposed Conditions prepared by the end of next week 
and will forward a copy to you at the same time as I send a copy to Southwark Licensing 
Authority.   

Thank you for your input into our Application which is appreciated.  We are committed 
to work with you and hope our response is helpful and will enable you to withdraw your 
representation after you’ve received our schedule of proposed conditions.   

If you wish to discuss our Application further, I will be happy to arrange a “virtual 
meeting” with you to do so.  

Best 

Managing Director 

From: "Graham.S.White@met.police.uk" <Graham.S.White@met.police.uk> 
Date: Monday, 15 March 2021 at 12:06 
To:   
Subject: RE: Application for a time limited premises licence: MIK K-Pop Festival, 
Southwark Park, South Section, Hawkstone Road, London, SE16 2PE ref': 874183 
(Loc ID: 4588) - Rotherhithe Ward 

  , 

Thanks for the response. I will withdraw condition 1 and have amended the others 
below and note that the event will not take place this year. 

2. No alcohol to be sold or supplied in glass containers anywhere in the confines
of the event footprint, and no glass bottles or glasses will be permitted to be brought
into the event.

3. The exact numbers of SIA and stewards must be agreed with the police
licensing officer 14 days prior to the start of event.

4. That all events obtain authority and agreement from the Safety Advisory
Group (SAG) and all recommendations are implemented.

If you are happy with the above let me know 

Regards 

Graham 

Graham White | Constable 
MPS Central South BOCU 
Neighbourhoods Policing- Partnership & Prevention 
Licensing Officer – Southwark 

106

mailto:Graham.S.White@met.police.uk
mailto:Graham.S.White@met.police.uk


From: 
Sent: Tuesday, March 23, 2021 5:21 PM 
To: Graham.S.White@met.police.uk 
Cc: McArthur, Wesley <Wesley.McArthur@southwark.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: Application for a time limited premises licence: MIK K-Pop Festival, 
Southwark Park, South Section, Hawkstone Road, London, SE16 2PE ref': 874183 
(Loc ID: 4588) - Rotherhithe Ward 

Dear Mr. White 

Apologies for my delay coming back to you. 

Please see attached our full set of proposed conditions. 

Using your numbering, the concerns expressed in your email are addressed as 
follows:  

2. Please see proposed conditions 29 and 38.  In condition 38, we have referred
to the Licensed Premises because this is recognised terminology under the Act
and “event footprint” is not.

3. Please see condition 20.  We have referred to MPS generically because several
different MPS functions are involved, for example, Licensing, Planning,
Operations etc.

4. This is covered in condition 6 and 10.  Condition 6 recognises that SAG is an
advisory body and the power to approve the EMP is with the Licensing Authority
but we have specifically referred to there being consultation with the
Responsible Authorities in this process. In condition 10, the Premises Licence
Holder must implement the final EMP.

I hope the above covers off all the points you have raised satisfactorily. 

Thanks again for your input.   

Best 

Managing Director 

MIK K-POP DRAFT CONDITIONS 

GENERAL  

Planning of the Events  

1. This Premises Licence authorises licensable activity on 2 consecutive days to take
place over one weekend between 1 June and 30 September, each year, in 2022
and 2023.

2. Each year the following conditions apply.

3. Notice of the proposed event days, for that year, will be provided by the Premises
Licence Holder to the Licensing Authority and the Responsible Authorities no less

107



than four months in advance of the first event day or such shorter period as may 
be agreed by the Licensing Authority.  

4. The Event Management Plan shall be submitted to the Safety Advisory Group in a
draft, working document form, no later than 3 months prior to the date of the first
event day.   The Event Management Plan shall comprise, but not be limited to:

• Event Management Structure
• Event Risk Assessment
• Site Plan
• Construction Phase Plan, Risk Assessments & Method Statements
• Fire Risk Assessment
• Major Incident Plan (including counter terrorism measures)
• Security & Crowd Management Plan
• Medical Risk Assessment and Plan
• Adverse Weather Plan
• Children & Vulnerable Adults Safeguarding Policy
• Transport Plan
• Alcohol Management Plan
• Waste Management Plan
• Health & Safety Policy
• Alcohol and Drug Use Policy
• Coronavirus Risk Assessments & Controls (as required)

5. The Premises Licence Holder shall liaise with the Safety Advisory Group to
scrutinise plans for the management of the events authorised by this Premises
Licence.

6. A final version of the Event Management Plan will be submitted to the Safety
Advisory Group no later than 28 days before the first event day. Any significant
changes to the final version of the Event Management Plan in the 28 days before
the event shall be proposed to the Licensing Authority, in consultation with the
Responsible Authorities.

Management of the Event 

7. The Premises Licence Holder will appoint an Event Manager who will lead an Event
Management Team.  The Event Management Structure will set out the
responsibilities of the Event Management Team and be included in the Event
Management Plan.

8. Throughout an event, the Premises Licence Holder shall establish both an Event
Control and an Event Liaison Team to operate during events, made up of
representatives of the Event Management Team and representatives from or
nominated by the Safety Advisory Group.

9. The Premises Licence Holder will have overall responsibility to implement the Event
Management Plan during the operation of the event. The Event Manager will
manage the operation of the event in accordance with the Event Management Plan
with the involvement of the Event Liaison Team. Changes to the Event
Management Plan during the event shall be made with the consent of the Event
Liaison Team and nominated representatives from the Licensing Authority and
Responsible Authorities if agreed and required.

108



10. The Premises Licence Holder will implement the final Event Management Plan for
each event.

11. Any authorised officer of the London Metropolitan Police, authorised officer of the
London Fire Brigade, authorised officer of London Borough of Southwark, and any
authorised officer of the Child Protection Agency shall have access to the premises
at all reasonable times for the purposes of enforcing the observance of the licence
conditions, for the prevention and detection of crime and criminal activity, the
prevention of public nuisance, public safety and the protection of children from
harm.

12. The Premises Licence Holder will organise a debrief of the event to take place with
the Licensing Authority and Responsible Authorities, meeting within three months
of the date of the last event of each year.

Engagement with Residents and Businesses 

13. Each year, the Premises Licence Holder will commit to engagement with key
stakeholders to Southwark Park, residents and local businesses.  A website will
provide specific information for local residents and businesses including contact
details.

THE PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER 

14. The Premises Licence Holder will liaise with the Metropolitan Police Service on
procedures, crime prevention advice and other guidance as required including
counter terrorism measures.

15. During events, the Metropolitan Police Service will be notified at the earliest
opportunity in the case of any incidents of serious crime and disorder where an
intervention is required to maintain wider public safety.

Security Planning 

16. Suitable and experienced security and crowd management contractors will be
appointed. The appointed contractor will hold relevant industry accreditation. The
appointed contractors will be required to prepare a Security & Crowd Management
Plan accompanied by appropriate risk assessments and method statements which
will be included in the Event Management Plan.

17. A Security & Crowd Management Plan will contain measures as follows:

• To deter and prevent crime and disorder
• To detail the security arrangements to keep attendees, staff, performers safe

and secure
• To detail the security arrangements for protecting assets within the premises

including infrastructure, stages, equipment, etc.
• To detail the security arrangements to prevent unauthorised access to the

premises
• To detail the procedures for managing exclusion and eviction from the

premises
• To set out procedures for managing incidents of disorder and antisocial

behaviour

109



18. All staff appointed by the Crowd Management & Security contractor to work on the
event will have relevant qualification and experience. The contractor will be
required to provide details of all staff deployed on the event.

Security Operation 

19. Security personnel will be present throughout the event and during the build and
break of the event site. All security and stewarding staff will receive a briefing from
the appointed Security & Crowd Manager prior to each event. All security and
stewarding staff will be easily identifiable in high vis jackets.

20. Security staff will be deployed in sufficient numbers and in an appropriate mix of
genders for each event based on an assessment of attendance. Deployment
schedules for full, medium and low capacity events will be agreed with the
Metropolitan Police Service 14 days before the start of the first event and included
in the Event Management Plan.

21. Entry to the premises for the event will be managed by SIA staff employed by the
security contractor. Security staff will be briefed on the entry conditions and any
relevant policies or procedures for each event including any event specific
requirements.

22. Entry conditions will be notified to patrons on the event website and shall be
displayed outside of the premises which can be seen on entry. Information
regarding searching policies and Challenge 25 shall also be displayed at entry
points into the premises.

23. An incident reporting and recording procedure will be in place, details will be
included within the Event Management Plan. All entry refusals and evictions will be
recorded by Event Control. A copy of the Event Control log and an Incident Log will
be maintained and made available for inspection by the Licensing Authority or an
authorised officer of the Metropolitan Police Service on reasonable request.

Searching on Access to the Premises 

24. Patrons, staff and contractors will be liable to be searched on entry to the premises
in accordance with the search policy and procedure in the Event Management Plan.

25. All relevant security staff will be briefed on the search procedures prior to each
event. The briefing will include details of the conditions of entry and prohibited
items.

26. Amnesty bins will be provided at entrances. Items surrendered or confiscated will
be held by the Security & Crowd Manager in accordance with procedures agreed
with the Metropolitan Police. Disposal will follow procedures agreed with the
Metropolitan Police. A log will be maintained of confiscations, seizures and
disposals. It will be maintained by the Security & Crowd Manager and be made
available inspection by the Licensing Authority and Metropolitan Police on
reasonable request.

110



Prohibited Items 

27. The Premises Licence Holder will agree a list of prohibited items that cannot be
brought into the premises with the Licensing Authorities and Responsible
Authorities via Safety Advisory Group meetings.

28. Details of prohibited items will be included in the Conditions of Entry to the event,
which will be available on the events website and will be clearly displayed at all
entry points.

29. Patrons will not be allowed to bring glass bottles or open bottles into the licenced
premises.

Controlling Access Within the Premises 

30. A system of secure ticketing and accreditation will be in place. Only patrons in
possession of a valid ticket will be allowed access to the premises. Access points
will be controlled by registered Security Industry Association staff employed by the
security contractor.

31. Staff, contractors, volunteers, visitors, artists and guests will be required to wear a
form of secure accreditation within the premises.  Access by accreditation will be
the responsibility of the Premises Licence Holder. Accreditation will designate
access to restricted areas within the premises.

Effective Communication 

32. The Premises Licence Holder will ensure there is an effective means of two-way
communication in place. This may include but not be limited to mobile phones, two-
way radios and other wireless and wired communications systems. General event
communication will be managed by Event Control.

Reducing the Risk & Harm From Drugs 

33. A drugs policy will be included within the Event Management Plan. Illegal drugs
and psychoactive substances will be prohibited items. Possession for personal use
or supply may result in refusal of admission to or ejection from the premises and a
report to the Metropolitan Police. Suspected possession for supply will be reported
to the Metropolitan Police.

34. Anyone under the influence of illegal drugs or psychoactive substances who is
vulnerable will be managed through the process set out in the Children &
Vulnerable Adults Policy included within the Event Management Plan.

Bar and Alcohol Management 

35. The Premises Licence Holder will operate a Challenge 25 policy. Bar staff will
require a valid proof of ID from any patron seeking to make a purchase of alcohol
for themselves or anyone else appearing to be under 25. The only acceptable forms
of identification are recognised photographic identification cards such as a driving
licence, passport or proof of age card with the PASS hologram. If a person seeking
alcohol is unable to produce an acceptable form of identification no sale or supply
of alcohol shall be made to or for that person.

111



36. Each bar will be managed by a Personal License Holder. All bar staff will undertake
mandatory licensing training before operating at a bar. A record of this training and
those attending will be kept by the appointed bar operator(s) and be made available
for inspection to the Licensing Authority. All bar staff shall be over 18.

37. Patrons unable to provide a valid proof of age will be refused service and a record
of the refusal kept.

38. No alcohol shall be sold or supplied in glass containers anywhere within the
Licensed Premises.

Lost Property 

39. Lost property will be handed to Event Control and a log of the items handed in will
be kept. Where information about the owner is available the customer services
team will make attempts to contact the patron and return their item. Patrons will be
provided with a contact email address for lost property.

Counter Terrorism Measures 

40. The Premises Licence Holder recognises the risk from acts of terrorism and will
liaise with the Safety Advisory Group and the Metropolitan Police to assess risk
and put in place reasonable and proportionate measures to reduce risk. Risk
assessments, measures and plans in the event of a major incident will be included
in the Event Management Plan.

PUBLIC SAFETY 

Premises Capacity 
41. The maximum capacity is for 14,999 persons including all patrons, guests, staff,

contractors and artists.

Health and Safety 

42. A suitably experienced and qualified Health and Safety Consultant will be
appointed. The Health and Safety Consultant will undertake risk assessments and
produce appropriate method statements that will be included within the Event
Management Plan.

43. The Health and Safety Consultant will review the Event Management Plan including
all the associated appendices and annexes and the risk assessments and method
statements of suppliers and contractors and make recommendations to the
Premises Licence Holder regarding any additions and amendments.

44. The Health and Safety Consultant will attend site during the build and break of the
event.  It will monitor and assess the implementation of safe working practices and
method statements.  It will advise the site management and production team on
any changes or improvements.

45. The Health and Safety Consultant will attend the event as appropriate and be a
member of the Event Liaison Team.  It will provide advice and guidance to the
Premises Licence Holder on the operation of the event relating to the health and
safety of patrons, guests, staff, contractors, traders and artists.

112



Managing Crowds 

46. The Security & Crowd Manager will set out details of the crowd management
operation in the Security Crowd Management Plan that will be included in the Event
Management Plan. The crowd management operation shall include but not be
limited to:

• Maintaining a safe environment for members of the public, staff, contractors
and artists working at the event.

• Ensuring only authorised ticket and pass holders gain access to the relevant
areas.

• Monitoring crowd movements, identify and deal promptly and effectively with
any identified crowd control issues.

• Overseeing the safe ingress and egress of the event including in the event of
an incident or major incident.

47. The premises will be designed and laid out to manage the flow and movement of
patrons accessing, leaving and within the premises. Infrastructure will be deployed
to support the management of patrons including queues and fencing to secure
areas to prevent access. Lighting will be provided to illuminate entry and exits,
including emergency exits, ingress and egress routes and to facilitate safe
movement within the premises. Security and stewarding staff will be deployed
throughout the premises to facilitate ingress and egress routes and to facilitate safe
movement within the premises.

48. Security and stewarding staff will be deployed throughout the premises to prevent
access to the premises of those without valid tickets or other authorisation.

Major Incidents and Evacuation 

49. A Major Incident Plan will be included within the Event Management Plan. The
Major Incident Plan will be discussed and agreed with the Safety Advisory Group
and will include details of coordination with the emergency services and how the
premises will be evacuated to agreed rendezvous points. The Event Management
Plan will contain the contact details of those nominated by the Premises Licence
Holder to manage any major incident.

50. The Major Incident Plan will include details of the access and egress routes for
emergency service vehicles and personnel.

First Aid and Medical Provision 

51. The Premises Licence Holder will appoint a suitably qualified and experienced
medical and first aid contractor to provide services at the event. The contractor will
undertake a risk assessment for the event and produce a Medical Management
Plan both of which shall be included in the Event Management Plan. The medical
and first aid contractor will attend the Safety Advisory Group meetings and liaise
with the London Ambulance Service as required.

52. The medical and first aid contractor will position resources on site for the event that
are accessible.  Medical personnel will be in attendance prior to the start of the
event and remain until the event has been finished and stand down has been
agreed by the Event Liaison Team.

113



53. Records of all medical and first aid interventions and treatment provided will be
maintained by the medical and first aid contractor.

Provision and Management of Sanitation 

54. The Premises Licence Holder will provide and manage sanitation at the event.
Sanitation facilities will include the provision and maintenance of adequate
numbers of toilets, urinals and accessible toilets for patrons, staff, contractors,
traders and artists based on an assessment of requirements.

55. A constant supply of clean water, or alternative hand cleansing sanitiser will be
maintained at all sanitation positions throughout the event.

COVID-19 

56. A Coronavirus Risk Assessment and Controls Plan will be provided to the Licensing
Authority and Responsible Authorities as required. This will be based on the latest
government guidance and advice and will be constantly reviewed and updated as
necessary.

Fire Safety 

57. The Health and Safety Consultant or another suitably qualified person will
undertake a Fire Risk Assessment on behalf of the Premises Licence Holder. The
Fire Risk Assessment will be contained within the Event Management Plan and
discussed and approved within the Safety Advisory Group.

58. Fire safety equipment, including portable firefighting equipment, fire notices and
other resources will be located at appropriate locations throughout the premises
and clearly signed.

59. All marquee structures shall be of proven fire performance and all floor coverings,
wall coverings, curtains, drapes, fabric, artificial or dried foliage, decorations and
filling materials used in furnishings supplied and used will carry flame retardancy
certification to the relevant British Standards or will be inherently flame retardant.
The details of all such materials will be held on site and will be available for
inspection by London Fire Brigade.

60. The siting of all vehicles, generators, tents, marquees, dressing rooms etc. will be
arranged so as to provide fire breaks. All food, bar and other traders are required
to provide fire safety risk assessments and will be checked when onsite by the
Health and Safety Consultant.

Fire Exits and Means Of Escape 

61. Fire exits will be provided at designated points around the perimeter of the premises
and within any structures erected or used for the event. All means of escape and
fire exists will be clearly signed. Exit capacities will be calculated and contained
within the Fire Risk Assessment contained within the Event Management Plan.

62. Security and stewarding staff will guide all patrons, staff, contractors and artists to
designated places of safety away from the premises which will be identified on the
Site Plan and within the Fire Risk Assessment contained within the Event
Management Plan.

114



LPG Used by Traders 

63. Traders requiring the use of LPG will be required to bring the minimum necessary
quantity to site and provide notification to the Event Manager that they have LPG
equipment. A register of the location of LPG equipment and containers will be
maintained within the Site Office. All LPG storage locations will be secure and with
no public or unauthorised access. These areas will all be designated as ‘no
smoking’ areas.

64. All traders will be required to provide Gas Safe certification for their LPG equipment.
All equipment will be subject to periodic inspection during the events by the Health
& Safety Consultant.

Pyrotechnics and Special Effects 

65. Some limited use of pyrotechnics and special effects may take place during the
event. In the event these are to be used an experienced and competent contractor
will be employed to undertake an assessment and manage the use of these. The
contractor will be required to provide risk assessments, method statements and
demonstrate compliance with all the necessary regulations and legislation and this
documentation will be reviewed by the Health and Safety Consultant.

66. All details of proposed pyrotechnics will be sent to London Fire Brigade and the
Licensing Authority for approval in advance of the event.

67. The Health and Safety Consultant will be in direct liaison with London Fire Brigade
and the pyrotechnic contractor and will carry out an additional check once any
pyrotechnics are installed to check compliance with agreed positions and the
effects list.

Temporary Structures 

68. The Premises Licence Holder will appoint suitably experienced and qualified
suppliers and installers of temporary structures. Copies of plans and any necessary
calculations will be submitted to the London Borough of Southwark, including
Building Control as required or requested.

69. The Site Manager and Health and Safety Consultant on behalf of the Premises
Licence Holder will take all reasonable stapes to ensure any temporary structures
are suitable for their intended purposes and installed in accordance with the
contractor’s plans. Installation and completion certificates will be provided by the
relevant contractor prior to their use and copies will be held on the Site Office for
inspection on request by the Licensing Authorities.

THE PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE 

Resident Information and Complaint Service 

70. A dedicated resident information and complaint phone line and email service will
be established. Residents and local businesses will be able to use the service to

115



report their concerns regarding, for example but not limited to, music noise, 
antisocial behaviour and litter. 

71. Information about how to use the service will be provided to local residents via a
leaflet drop to properties within an agreed vicinity from the premises. The phone
line and email service will be staffed throughout the duration of event. The email
service will be staffed throughout the duration of the build and break of the event.
A log will be kept of communications received via the phone and email service
along with a record of any actions taken. The log will made available for inspection
by the Licensing Authority on reasonable request.

Management of Noise 

72. The maximum music noise level from regulated entertainment shall not exceed a
free field level of 75dB(A) and 90dB(C) (Leq 15 minute) outside any noise sensitive
location.  All assessment and monitoring data shall be shared with the Local
Authority upon request.

73. An experienced acoustic consultant will be appointed to develop and monitor a
robust Sound Management Plan that will be included in the Event Management
Plan. The Sound Management Plan will contain the maximum music noise levels
permitted at agreed noise sensitive locations and the acoustic consultant’s
management strategy and measures to control music noise levels during the event.

74. The acoustic consultant will assess the positioning of sound sources pre-event and
liaise with the Licensing Authority’s sound consultants throughout the event. Sound
checks will take place the day prior to the event as well as on the day of the event.
Times for these checks are to be notified in advance.

75. The acoustic consultant will be available throughout the duration of the event, as
required, and will have complete authority to ensure compliance with the Sound
Management Plan. They will hold regular meetings with representatives of the
Licensing Authority as required.

76. The sound amplification systems will not be used after the permitted hours of
entertainment on any night of the event for the relaying of music or other content
or for any purpose except for emergency announcements relating to public order
and safety.

77. No deliveries to the site shall take place between the hours of 23:00 – 07:00. There
shall be no noise audible at the nearest noise sensitive premises from construction
or similar works associated with the set up or dismantling of the site outside of 08:00
– 20:00.

78. Notices shall be prominently displayed at all exits of the event for patrons to leave
the area quietly and respect the needs of local residents and businesses.

Traffic and Transport Management 

79. The event will publicise and promote the environmental benefits of walking, cycling
and the use of public transport to all patrons. Car use will be discouraged and there
will be no patron parking on site, except for some limited Blue Badge parking.

116



80. A Transport Plan will be included in the Event Management Plan and agreed within
the Safety Advisory Group.   Key transport bodies including but not limited to
Transport for London and London Overground, London Buses will be consulted in
advance of the event.

81. The Premises Licence Holder will work with the London Borough of Southwark and
Transport for London to provide cycle parking.

Managing Dispersal 

82. Dispersal routes from the premises will be agreed with the Safety Advisory Group
and the details included in the Event Management Plan. Exit routes will be well lit,
clearly signed and stewarded where required.

83. Dispersal routes will be designed to minimise disruption to local residents. Signage
will be provided asking patrons to minimise noise and disturbance.  SIA security
staff will be positioned as recommended by the Safety Advisory Group to reduce
the risk of antisocial behaviour likely to cause nuisance or disturbance.

Managing Waste and Litter 

84. A Waste Management Plan that will include litter, waste from traders, bars and
production activities will be included in the Event Management Plan. The plan will
include litter picking services and the removal and management of all waste
generated by the event including litter along the ingress and egress routes to and
from the premises. Waste removed from site will be undertaken by a certified
operator and all waste will be tracked.

85. A responsive litter picking service will be provided to deal with complaints from local
resident or businesses about litter arising from the event.

Reducing Light Pollution 

86. The Premises Licence Holder will take all reasonable steps to minimise pollution
from light sources associated with the event. Light sources will be directed inwards
towards the premises and on ingress and egress routes for public safety.

THE PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM 

Safeguarding of Children and Vulnerable Adults  

87. A Safeguarding of Children and Vulnerable Adults Policy will be included in the
Event Management Plan.  All members of the Event Liaison Team will be briefed
on the safeguarding measures and all operational staff will follow the procedures
set out in the policy.

88. No alcohol will be served for consumption of young people under the age of 18 and
a Challenge 25 policy will operate at all bars.

Welfare for Children and Vulnerable Adults 

89. A welfare service will be provided for children, including lost and unaccompanied
children and vulnerable adults. Welfare providers and those with significant access

117



to children and vulnerable adults with be subject to a Disclosure and Barring check. 
A Lost Children policy will be included in the Event Management Plan.  

Admission of Children 

90. Children under the age of 16 will be allowed access to the Licensed Premises if
accompanied by a responsible adult aged 18 years or over.

From: Graham.S.White@met.police.uk <Graham.S.White@met.police.uk>  
Sent: Wednesday, March 24, 2021 9:13 AM 
To: McArthur, Wesley <Wesley.McArthur@southwark.gov.uk> 
Cc: Keith.Dempster@met.police.uk 
Subject: FW: Application for a time limited premises licence: MIK K-Pop Festival, 
Southwark Park, South Section, Hawkstone Road, London, SE16 2PE ref': 874183 
(Loc ID: 4588) - Rotherhithe Ward 

Wes, 

Attached document attached covers all my points and as long as they are on licence 
I withdraw my objection 

Regards 

Graham 

Graham White | Constable 
MPS Central South BOCU 
Neighbourhoods Policing- Partnership & Prevention 
Licensing Officer – Southwark 

118



APPENDIX C 

From:    
Sent: Monday, February 15, 2021 10:05 AM 
To: Regen, Licensing <Licensing.Regen@southwark.gov.uk> 
Subject: 874183 - Application reference: SWKEVE000354 for MIK K-POP Festival 

I am writing on behalf of  Tenant's and Residents Association. 

We wish to object to this application for a number of reasons: 

The location is situated nearest to the residents including high rise blocks and will 
cause significant disruption in respect of noise and light pollution. 

The age group this is aimed at will mean that a large proportion of the 15,000 
attendees will not be vaccinated for Covid-19 and as such will be a greater risk for the 
local population as they will be using the local public transport system as well as local 
shops increasing the risk of spread. 

It will destroy the safe use of the public park and prevent use of this for local residents 
for this ten day period at peak summer time. 

The location is based on the football pitches and more specifically the cricket nets and 
cricket pitch. Therefore destroying the entire cricket season for local residents as the 
pitch will be trampled by 15,000 attendees, so will have a significant adverse effect on 
the local sport and teams not just for the two day and 10 day closure but for the entire 
summer season of local sport. It is our understanding that there are a number of cricket 
teams including a newly formed women's cricket team will be affected and may well 
have an adverse affect to continue going forward if they have no pitch to play on. Why 
is it located here where in the past events have been located nearer to the bandstand, 
not on playing pitches and further away from residential buildings? 

There is nothing in the application as to how the crowd outside of the venue will be 
managed as Rotherhithe already suffers a large amount of anti-social behaviour. How 
will you deal with thousands of attendees queuing to get into the venue without 
disrupting the local residents as well as when it finishes late at night - again a 
significant disruption to local residents. How can local residents use local buses and 
transport if they are filled with attendees from across London and further afield again 
increasing a greater risk of spreading covid 19 on buses, which currently are restricted 
in numbers. Has TFL been consulted on this? 

Regards 

Secretary 
 Tenants and Residents Association 

119

mailto:Licensing.Regen@southwark.gov.uk


From:    

Sent: Wednesday, March 10, 2021 5:45 PM 

To: McArthur, Wesley <Wesley.McArthur@southwark.gov.uk> 

Cc: Whyte, Anne <Anne.whyte@southwark.gov.uk> 

Subject: Re: Premises Licence Application 874183 Update 

Hi Wesley 

Many thanks for sharing the TRA representation with me. 

Please see attached our response to the representation.  

Best 

Managing Director 

Dear Madam 

Thank you for your representation and the purpose of my letter is to respond to the 
concerns that you have expressed about our events.   

We are an established, responsible promoter and  organiser of events with over 50 
years experience.  In particular, we have extensive experience of organising events in 
parks and in cities for as many as 30,000 patrons and we understand the issues and 
concerns that local residents may have from such events.   

As part of our Application, we have committed to prepare a raft of detailed plans to  
manage all aspects of our events so that they are safe and that disturbance to the 
local community is kept to a minimum.  All of our plans will be scrutinised in a planning 
process, over several months by a Multi Agency Group which will include the Licensing 
Authority, Police and other Relevant Authorities.  Under the Premises Licence, if it is 
granted, there will be conditions which will only allow events to take place if and when 
all of our management plans are approved via this Multi Agency Planning Process.    

I will now respond to your specific concerns : 

Covid-19  

You raise a concern that attendees may not be vaccinated at the time of our event and 
the risk of transmission of the virus.  Following the latest guidance and publication of 
the Government Road Map, we can confirm that we will not be holding an event in 
2021 and our first event will be scheduled for 2022.  We hope that this addresses this 
concern.   

Use of the Park 

We will keep disruption to the use of the park to a minimum. 

The event will be held in the South section of the park and utilise a maximum space 
of 18.81% of the park. In addition, we will build the event in phases to keep as much 

120

mailto:Wesley.McArthur@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:Anne.whyte@southwark.gov.uk


green space open to the general public as possible to minimise disruption to local 
residents who use the park. The total period of time we will utilise the maximium space 
will be limited to 10 days including the two days the event is open to the public.  
 
We have discussed plans with the Head of Parks for the London Borough of Southwark 
to lay special plastic tracking over any sensitive areas of the site, such as the cricket 
pitch, to protect the condition of the grass. We have used this type of product as a risk 
mitigation in previous sites such as the Southampton Ageas Bowl to ensure ground 
condition is handed back to the venue in the same condition it was received. This has 
also been shared with members of the Southwark Park Cricket Club during the 
consultation period for this event. We will also lay metal trackway onsite on vehicle 
routes to protect the green space.  
 
If in the unfortunate situation some areas of the park are damaged, for example due 
to bad weather, we will reinstate the park after our event has taken place which is a 
condition of our agreement with the London Borough of Southwark.   
 
Management of Music Noise  
 
Our Application explains that we will appoint an experienced Accoustic Consultant who 
will liaise with the Council’s noise team to agree a Noise Management Plan and fix 
maximum music noise levels which will prevent distrubance from public nuisance.  In 
fact, these discussions have already taken place and the Council’s Noise Team have 
proposed maximum levels which we accept and which will be carried forward into the 
conditions if the Licence is granted.  We will also have a residents’ hotline so that any 
incidences of disturbance can be reported and addressed by our response team.   
 
Access and Egress for Patrons  
 
A Plan for management of this has been prepared with input from the Police and TFL 
and will be scrutinised and approved through the Multi Agency process. Our Plan will 
provide for specific deployments of security and stewards both within the premises 
and also in the surrounding area including crossing points and key transport hubs as 
agreed with TFL. The security and stewards will be breifed to disperse patrons in an 
orderly manner at the end of the evening and minimise disruption and antisocial 
behaviour.  
 
Transport and Traffic 
 
Again, this is a specific issue which will be addressed through the preparation of a 
Transport and Traffic Management Plan.  This Plan will be prepared during the 
planning process with input from the Police, Highways, TFL and will be scrutinised and 
approved within the Multi Agency process.    
 
We have already held one consultation with local residents and would be pleased to 
meet with you by zoom or telephone call to discuss your concerns and  explain our 
plans more fully.  My contact email address is    
 

121



In the meantime, I hope that this note gives you reassurance that we wish to engage 
and work with the local community to provide a safe event with the minimum of 
disturbance to local residents and businesses.   

I look forward to hearing from you. 

Kind regards   

Proud Events Limited 

From: McArthur, Wesley  
Sent: Thursday, March 11, 2021 12:12 PM 
To:   
Subject: Application for a time limited premises licence: MIK K-Pop Festival, 
Southwark Park, South Section, Hawkstone Road, London, SE16 2PE ref': 874183 
(Loc ID: 4588) - Rotherhithe Ward 

Dear          , 

Please find attached from the applicant a response to your representation. 

After considering the applicant’s response, please confirm one of the following: 

1. Provide any further comments you may have or,
2. Confirm that you wish your representation to be considered as submitted or,
3. Confirm that you wish to withdraw your representation

If you confirm any of 1-3 above, please do so directly to me. 

At this stage your anonymity is preserved and will remain preserved if all related 
correspondence between you and the applicant is made through the Licensing Unit, 
however I note that the applicant has provided details for you to contact them directly 
should you wish to do so.  

If you enter into any correspondence directly with the applicant please copy me in. 

Regards, 

Wesley McArthur  
Principal Enforcement Officer  
London Borough of Southwark 
E-mail: wesley.mcarthur@southwark.gov.uk
General: licensing@southwark.gov.uk
Phone: 020 7525 5779 (This number is temporarily out of use whilst I am
working from home)
Fax: 020 7525 5705
Address: Licensing, Health & Safety, Hub 1, 3rd Floor, 160 Tooley Street, SE1 2QH
https://www.southwark.gov.uk/community-safety/let-s-talk-about-women-s-safety

122

mailto:wesley.mcarthur@southwark.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@southwark.gov.uk
https://maps.google.com/?q=1,+3rd+Floor,+160+Tooley+Street,+SE1+2QH&entry=gmail&source=g
https://www.southwark.gov.uk/community-safety/let-s-talk-about-women-s-safety


Page 1 of 10 

APPENDIX D 

Premises licence number 010878 

 Part 1 - Premises details  

Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or description 

SOUTHWARK PARK 
Hawkstone Road 

Ordnance survey map reference (if applicable): 178968535583 

Post town 
London 

Post code 
SE16 2PE 

Telephone number 

Plays 
Films 
Live Music 
Recorded Music   
Performance of Dance   
Entertainment Similar to live/recorded music   
Facilities for Making Music   
Facilities for Dancing   
Provisions Similar to making music and dancing 

The opening hours of the premises  
For any non standard timings see Annex 2 

Monday  08:00 - 22:00 
Tuesday     08:00 - 22:00 
Wednesday    08:00 - 22:00 
Thursday     08:00 - 22:00 
Friday     08:00 - 22:00 
Saturday       08:00 - 22:00 
Sunday        08:00 - 22:00 

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol whether these are on and/ or off supplies: n/a 

Environmental Health & Trading Standards 
Licensing Unit 

Chaplin Centre 
Thurlow Street 

London SE17 2DG 

123



Page 2 of 10 

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities 
For any non standard timings see Annex 2 of the full premises licence 

Plays 
Monday  10:00 - 21:00 
Tuesday     10:00 - 21:00 
Wednesday    10:00 - 21:00 
Thursday     10:00 - 21:00 
Friday     10:00 - 22:00 
Saturday       10:00 - 22:00 
Sunday        11:00 - 21:00 

Films 
Monday  10:00 - 21:00 
Tuesday     10:00 - 21:00 
Wednesday    10:00 - 21:00 
Thursday     10:00 - 21:00 
Friday     10:00 - 22:00 
Saturday       10:00 - 22:00 
Sunday        11:00 - 21:00 

Live Music 
Monday  10:00 - 21:00 
Tuesday     10:00 - 21:00 
Wednesday      10:00 - 21:00 
Thursday     10:00 - 21:00 
Friday     10:00 - 22:00 
Saturday       10:00 - 22:00 
Sunday        11:00 - 21:00 

Recorded Music 
Monday      10:00 - 21:00 
Tuesday      10:00 - 21:00 
Wednesday        10:00 - 21:00 
Thursday     10:00 - 21:00 
Friday     10:00 - 22:00 
Saturday       10:00 - 22:00 
Sunday         11:00 - 21:00 

Performance of Dance 
Monday      10:00 - 21:00 
Tuesday      10:00 - 21:00 
Wednesday    10:00 - 21:00 
Thursday     10:00 - 21:00 
Friday     10:00 - 22:00 
Saturday       10:00 - 22:00 
Sunday         11:00 - 21:00 

Entertainment Similar to live / recorded music 
Monday      10:00 - 21:00 
Tuesday      10:00 - 21:00 
Wednesday    10:00 - 21:00 
Thursday     10:00 - 21:00 
Friday     10:00 - 22:00 
Saturday       10:00 - 22:00 
Sunday         11:00 - 21:00 

124



Page 3 of 10 

Part 2 

Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of premises 
licence  
Southwark Council 
Events Team 
CLLL 
3rd Floor Hub 2 
160 Tooley Street 
London 
SE1 2TZ 

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where applicable) 

Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the premises licence 
authorises for the supply of alcohol  

n/a 

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated premises 
supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol  
Licence No.: n/a  
Authority: n/a   

Licence Issue date: 16/01/2007 

_______________________________ 
Environmental Health & Trading 

Standards Business Unit Manager 
Chaplin Centre 
Thurlow Street 

London SE17 2DG 
020 7525 5748 

licensing@southwark.gov.uk

125



Page 4 of 10 

Annex 1 - Mandatory conditions  

102 The admission of children to films given under this licence must be restricted in accordance with the 

recommendations of the British Board of Film Classification or of the licensing authority itself 

103 Where a film is to be submitted for classification to the licensing authority, the cinema or venue operator 

must submit the film intended for exhibition to the authority at least 28 days prior to the first date upon which 

the film is intended to be exhibi ted 

104 Where a programme includes a film in the 12a, 15 or 18 category no person appearing to be under the 

age of 12 (and unaccompanied in that case), 15 or 18 as appropriate shall be admitted to any part of the 

programme; and the licence holder shall display in  a conspicuous position a notice in the following terms 

-"PERSONS UNDER THE AGE OF (INSERT APPROPRIATE AGE) CANNOT BE ADMITTED TO ANY 

PART OF THE PROGRAMME" 

Where films of different categories form part of the same programme, the notice shall refer to t he old stage 

restriction. This condition does not apply to members of staff under the relevant age while on duty provided 

that the prior written consent of the person's parents or legal guardian has first been obtained 

105 Immediately before each exhibition at the premises of a film passed by the British Board of Film 

Classification there shall be on screen for at least five seconds in such a manner as to be easily read by all 

persons in the auditorium a reproduction of the  certificate of the Board or, as regards a trailer advertising a 

film, of the statement approved by the Board indicating the category of the film 

106 Immediately before each exhibition at the premises of a film passed by the licensing authority notices 

shall be displayed both inside and outside of the premises so that persons entering can readily read them 

and be aware of the Category attached to any film or trailer 

107 Any individual carrying out security activities at the premises must be licensed by the Security Industry 

Authority. This does not apply where the premises are being used primarily as a Qualifying Club under a 

Club Premises Certificate, under a Temporary Event Notice, or primarily as a cinema, restaurant or theatre 

126



Page 5 of 10 

Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the operating Schedule 

112 That on days when licensable activity is taking place, the park will close at sunset. 

340 All events will adhere to the restrictions as per the Events Policy. 

a) Proposed events will be in line with the Council's overall aims and objectives for culture as set out in

"Southwark @ the Centre –Strategy and Priorities for Arts, Culture and Heritage" 

b) Any damage to sites will be minimised and restoration carried out in a proper and timely fashion

c) The following criteria will be used to determine whether approval will be given to a specific event. These

criteria should be read alongside the application process to ensure compliance with the objectives of the 

Events Policy and the requirements for holding an event: 

Security and public safety issues 

Effect on the fabric of the area and damage limitation 

Effect of event on regular users of public spaces, stakeholders and local residents 

Timing of the event 

Size of location, numbers attending or numbers estimated to attend 

impact on transport infrastructure to support the event. e.g. parking, 

increased use of public transport an d road closures. Quality of the event 

The creation of opportunities for local participation 

The ability to demonstrate commitment to Southwark Council's Equal Opportunities Statement. 

The ability to demonstrate the capacity of the organisers to effectively plan, manage and control the event. 

The ability to demonstrate the impact of the event on local business. 

No financial risk to London Borough of Southwark Legal constraints 

All events will meet any further criteria set out in conditions specific to the location of the event. 

d) Upon receiving any applications for events consultation will be carried out with internal and external

partners, including appropriate responsible authorities. The level of consultation is dependent on the location 

of the event and the impact on its surroundings. The consultation process may include the following; Initial 

information is received by the Events Team to ensure it fits within the events policy. Comments will be 

sought from relevant internal departments. Opinion may be sought from the Metropolitan Police. Local Ward 

Councillors will be alerted to and consulted about a proposed event. The relevant level of external 

consultation will occur If objections are received through the public consultation, conciliation is offered where 

appropriate. In case of continued dispute the Strategic Director of Environment and Leisure will make a final 

decision. 

e) Fly posting by event organisers shall be discouraged and if it can be directly linked to any event occur, the

event's organiser will be deemed in breach of their contract with the Council and will subsequently incur any 

associated costs arising through the Council having to remove such material. Where possible, prosecutions 

will be taken and future applications from offenders will not be accepted. 

Event organisers must inform Council officers of all event advertising, prior to the commencement of 

advertising. The organisers must identify the following: 

127



Page 6 of 10 

Advertising schedule and process 

Methods of advertising 

Publications and volume 

Radio stations 

Poster board sites 

f) The following restrictions to the siting of events near trees will apply:

Organisers will adhere to the protection of the borough's current tree stock accordingly 

No structure shall touch or interfere with any tree canopy 

No tree or shrub should be pruned without authorisation 

No exhausts from heaters, generators, etc. shall be positioned next to the base of trees and where possible, 

exhausts shall be directed away from the tree canopy. 

Nothing shall be attached to trees. 

Any damage to trees as a direct result of the event shall be charged to the organiser. 

g) Transport - Event organisers must inform Southwark Council's Highways and Parking departments and

Transport for London and act on any appropriate guidance. A Transport Infrastructure Plan should be drawn 

up and submitted as part of the application process. 

h) Temporary Events Notice (TEN) or Time-limited Premises Licence may be required by event organisers.

In these circumstances any hire agreement will be conditional on a license being granted. Equally, the issue 

of a TEN or time limited premises licence does not itself constitute permission to use the land. 

i) Waste Management - event organisers to be solely responsible for the clearance and maximum avoidance

of waste. In addition, the council expects organisers to promote and facilitate recycling methods as its first 

option of waste management before waste disposal. 

k) Environmental Protection - Every effort should be made to minimise environmental impact and maximise

the 'green' production of events through the use of recyclable and/or reusable sustainable products and 

materials, e.g. Minimising power consumption, bio-diesel generators and recycled cups and plates. 

l) Normal Service Levels are provided by the London Borough of Southwark for the day-to-day maintenance,

upkeep and cleaning of public areas. All increases in these service levels will result in costs being charged 

directly to event organisers. These details are outlined in the application process. 

m) Provisional bookings will only be accepted following submission of a completed application form.

n) Each event must ensure that health and safety legislation is adhered to through the organisers and sub-

contractors and that high standards are ensured for both audience and workers. Event organisers will need 

to ensure that they have developed processes for and that all documentation be available to the London 

Borough  of Southwark Events Manager or representative on request a minimum of 2 weeks prior to the 

event. 

Documents required will be: 

Crowd Management Plan 

Emergency Control Plan 

128



Page 7 of 10 

Risk Assessments 

Method Statements 

Equal Opportunity Statement 

Fire  Procedures 

Event Communication Plan 

Medical Plan 

Transport Infrastructure Plan 

Lost Child Procedure 

Food Hygiene Certificates 

Waste Management Plan 

Environmental Impact Assessment Site Plans 

Access (& interpretation) provision 

Publi c Liability Insurance 

Timetable and event description/line-up 

Marketing Plan 

o) Regulations  - All events must conform to:

The Event Safety Guide: A guide to health, safety an welfare at music and similar events HSG 195 

Health and safety at Work Act 1974 

Management Regulations 1999, and advice given in HG65 The Principles of Safety Management. 

RIDDOR 1995 

The Children's Act 1989 

Fire Precautions Act 1971 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

London Borough of Southwark Open Spaces Bylaws 

341 a) A limited amount of firework displays are permitted. However in the event of any form of pyrotechnic 

special effects to be used, full details must be provided in time for full public consultation to occur 

b) In the event of the showing of a rated film or sale of alcohol under an additional licence on the grounds,

appropriate signage and advance notice of the event and controlled entry shall be in place; proof of age 

shall be requested 

c) For small size events, there shall be a maximum of 20 per calendar year of up to 500 attendees

d) There shall be a minimum time of 21 days between event for Large (1) size events totalling 6 per calendar

year of up to 2000 attendees 

e) There shall be a minimum of 21 days between events for Large (2, 3, 4) size events totalling 3 per

calendar year of up to 4000, 6000, 8000 attendees respectively 

f) Only in exceptional circumstances will any changes be allowed to the permanent infrastructure of the site.

Permission must be granted from the Park Manager a nd Events Manager 

g) Vehicle access shall be through Jamaica Gate, Southwark Park Road with the weight limit of 7.5 tons

129



Page 8 of 10 

h) Parking is possible on the main carriageway or in Hawkstone Car Park which is a public car park for

approximately 40 cars.  In order to close the car park or to restrict its usage during an event, full details must 

be made available within the application in order to give time for suitable notice for suitable public 

transportation 

i) All vehicle movement not on set roadways shall be minimised and agreed with London Borough of

Southwark.  Vehicle shall travel at a maximum of 5 m.p.h 

j) All damages above reasonable wear and tear to physical infrastructure and environment will be reinstated

and the cost charged directly to event organisers 

k) Events in Area A, Area B, Area C, Area D, Area E and Area F as shown on the appended site plan within

Southwark Park are not covered by these site conditions; as they are independently managed spaces. 

However if an events is deemed to be of a scale that does raise issues of public safety or will create 

significant environmental impact, advice and support may be sought from the Events Team 

l) The level of consultation is dependent on the size of the events;

m) For small size event, the length of consultation would be flexible with consultation to Wards Councillors

for Rotherhithe and the Chair of Friends of Southwark Park and internal department if necessary 

n) For Large (1, 2, 3, 4) size events, there would be a 28 days consultation to internal departments, Ward

Councillors for Rotherhithe,local residents and traders associations and additional residents who have 

specifically requested consultation 

130



Page 9 of 10 

Annex 3 - Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority  

131



Page 10 of 10 

Annex 4 - Plans - Attached 

Licence No. 010878 

Plan No. OT533 - SO 

Plan Date 19 April 2004 

132



1

7

3

4

1.4m

1

1

3

(

d

i

s

u

s

e

d

)

R

o

t

h

e

r

h

i

t

h

e

C

h

u

r

c

h

 

o

f

 

t

h

e

 

E

p

i

p

h

a

n

y

,

1

0

 

t

o

 

1

2

1

0

1

3

2

6

2

9

6

1

6

J

a

r

m

a

n

 

H

o

u

s

e

3

2

1

9

8

9

9

5

t

o

9

1

Gomm

Lodge

L Twr

5

9

Posts

House

Duke of Suffolk

1.8m

R

i

s

i

n

g

 

B

o

l

l

a

r

d

1

L Twr

L Twr

Sports Court

L Twr

Sports Complex

Athletics Ground

L Twr

1

.

9

m

1

b

TCBs

T

u

n

n

e

l

1

3

1

1

3

1

a

1.5m

1

3

3 H

I

T

H

E

 

G

R

O

V

E

1

3

3

aShelter

1

 

t

o

 

8

1

6

1

1

7

1

L

O

W

E

R

 

R

O

A

D

2.6m

1 to 17

2.1m

Lady Gomm

House

5

8

Cafe Gallery

Fountain

R

O

A

D

Park

Posts

H

A

W

K

S

T

O

N

E

Hawkstone

Gate

Car Park

P

a

t

h

Play Area

163

161

Housing

Office

District

153 to 159

109

107

101

1 to
 30

111

105

113

103

Elderly
 Persons Home

97

L Twr

L

 

T

w

r

L Twr

Rising Bollard

Play Area

1.5m

Gate

Rising Bollard

4

6

1

7

7

1

8

1

1

7

3

H

A

W

K

S

T

O

N

E

 

R

O

A

D

1

2

2

 

t

o

 

1

2

4

2

2

PH

1

2

6

1

5

7

G

R

O

V

E

S

u

r

g

e

r

y

H

O

D

N

E

T

1.7m

1

5

3

PH

1

4

9

1

4

7

China Hall Gate

5

7

t

o

 

6

1

The

Lodge

6

9

7

1

t

o

 

7

5

6

3

2.0m

SD

Pond

2.1m

1.5m

1.1m

T

h

a

x

t

e

d

 

C

o

u

r

t

2

0

 

t

o

 

2

4

Red Lion

Boys Club

TCBs

ESS

17

341.4m113 (disused)RotherhitheChurch of the Epiphany,10 to 12

10132629 6

16

Jarman House

3219

8995to91Gomm

PH

Lodge L Twr 59PostsHouseDuke of Suffolk1.8m

Rising Bollard

1L Twr

L Twr

Sports Court

L Twr

Sports Complex

Athletics GroundL Twr 1.9m 1b

TCBsTunnel

131131a1.5m 133 HITHE GROVE133aShelter 1 to 8

161 171LOWER ROAD2.6m1 to 17

2.1m

Lady GommHouse58

Cafe GalleryFountain

ROADPark

Posts HAWKSTONEHawkstoneGateCar ParkPath Play Area

163161HousingOfficeDistrict 153 to 1591091071011 to 30 111105113103Elderly Persons Home97

L Twr L Twr

L Twr16 to 21

Rising Bollard

Play Area

1.5m Gate Rising Bollard46

177 181173
HAWKSTONE ROAD

122 to 124

22

126

157GROVESurgeryHODNET

1.7m 153PH 149147

China Hall Gate

57to 61

TheLodge6971to 75 63

2.0m

SD Pond

2.1m

1.5m

Ward Bdy

1.1mThaxted Court20 to 24

Red LionBoys Club TCBsESS

EVENT

CLIENT

DRAWING

VERSION DATE

SCALE PAPER

DRAWING REF

Appendix E

A
PPEN

D
IX E

133

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.5m from path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
8m cricket 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Proud Events Limited is a company registered  Events Limited is a company registered Events Limited is a company registered  Limited is a company registered Limited is a company registered  is a company registered is a company registered  a company registered a company registered  company registered company registered  registered registered in England and Wales with company number  England and Wales with company number England and Wales with company number  and Wales with company number and Wales with company number  Wales with company number Wales with company number  with company number with company number  company number company number  number number 09339730. Registered Office Unit S4,  Registered Office Unit S4, Registered Office Unit S4,  Office Unit S4, Office Unit S4,  Unit S4, Unit S4,  S4, S4, Shakespeare Business Centre, 245A Coldharbour  Business Centre, 245A Coldharbour Business Centre, 245A Coldharbour  Centre, 245A Coldharbour Centre, 245A Coldharbour  245A Coldharbour 245A Coldharbour  Coldharbour Coldharbour Lane, London SW9 8RR . VAT No. 234 3984 92. VAT No. 234 3984 92

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
MIK K Pop Festival

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
Magic Sound

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Ful Site

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
V1c

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
12/01/2021

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
NA

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
JS



©
 C

ro
w

n 
co

py
rig

ht
 a

nd
 d

at
ab

as
e 

rig
ht

s 
20

19
 O

rd
na

nc
e 

S
ur

ve
y 

(0
)1

00
01

92
52

. L
an

d 
R

eg
is

tr
y 

In
de

x 
da

ta
 is

 s
ub

je
ct

 to
 C

ro
w

n 
co

py
rig

ht
 a

nd
 is

 r
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

pe
rm

is
si

on
 o

f L
an

d 
R

eg
is

tr
y.

 T
he

 d
ef

au
lt 

ba
se

 m
ap

 is
 O

S
 m

ap
pi

ng
 r

em
as

te
re

d 
by

 E
ur

op
a 

T
ec

hn
ol

og
ie

s.

APPENDIX F
134



 

Item No. 
6.

Classification:
Open

Date:
15 April 2021

Meeting Name:
Licensing Sub-Committee

Report title: Licensing Act 2003: Big Town Restaurants, 
302 Walworth Road, London SE17 2TE

Ward(s) or groups affected: North Walworth 

From: Strategic Director of Environment and Leisure
 

RECOMMENDATION

1. That the licensing sub-committee considers an application made by Good 
Food Ventures Ltd (Company Number 09911032) to fully vary the premises 
licence granted under the Licensing Act 2003 in respect of the premises 
known as: Big Town Restaurants,  302 Walworth Road, London SE17 2TE.

2. Notes:

 The application seeks to vary the premises licence held under current 
legislation in respect of the premises known as: Big Town Restaurants, 
302 Walworth Road, London SE17 2TE, under section 34 of the 
Licensing Act 2003. Existing permitted licensable activities are not under 
consideration at this meeting and the plans are not being updated. The 
variation application is subject to outstanding representations submitted 
by responsible authorities and is therefore referred to the sub-committee 
for determination.  

 Paragraph 8 of this report provides a summary of the existing premises 
licence.  A copy of the existing premises licence is attached at Appendix 
A.

 Paragraphs 10 to 12 of this report provide a summary of the application 
under consideration by the sub-committee. A copy of the full application 
is attached as Appendix B.  A map showing the location of the premises 
is attached as Appendix D.

 Paragraphs 15 to 18 of this report deal with the representations 
submitted in respect of the application, all of which come from 
responsible authorities.  Copies of the representations are attached in 
Appendix C.

135
Agenda Item 6



 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Licensing Act 2003

3. The Licensing Act 2003 provides a new licensing regime for:

 The sale of and supply of alcohol
 The provision of regulated entertainment
 The provision of late night refreshment.

4. Within Southwark, this council wholly administers the licensing responsibility.

5. The Act requires the licensing authority to carry out its functions under the Act 
with a view to promoting the four stated licensing objectives. These are:

 The prevention of crime and disorder
 The promotion of public safety
 The prevention of nuisance
 The protection of children from harm.

6. In carrying out its licensing functions, a licensing authority must also have 
regard to:

 The Act itself
 The guidance to the act issued under Section 182 of the Act
 Secondary regulations issued under the Act
 The Licensing authority’s own statement of licensing policy
 The application, including the operating schedule submitted as part of the 

 application
 Relevant representations.

7. The premises licence application process involves the provision of all relevant 
information required under the Act to the licensing authority with copies 
provided by the applicant to the relevant responsible bodies under the Act. 
The application must also be advertised at the premises and in the local 
press. The responsible authorities and other interested parties within the local 
community may make representations on any part of the application where 
relevant to the four licensing objectives.

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION

The current premises licence

8. The current premises licence issued in respect of the premises known as Big 
Town Restaurants, 302 Walworth Road, London SE17 2TE was issued on 14 
October 2019 and allows the following licensable activities:

136



 

 The sale by retail of alcohol (on sales): 

o Monday to Saturday: from 10:00 to 22:30
o Sunday: from 11:00 to 22:30

 Opening hours: 

o Monday to Sunday:  from 07:00 to 23:00

9. A copy of the existing premises licence and plans are attached as Appendix 
A.

The variation application

10. On 20 february 2021, the premises licence holder Good Food Ventures 
applied under section 34 of the Licensing Act 2003 to this council to vary the 
premises licence issued in respect of the premises known as Big Town 
Restaurants, 302 Walworth Road, London SE17 2TE.

11. The application for variation is described as follows:

“…Extension of hours during which the premises will be open to the 
public from 07:00 – 23:00 Monday – Sunday To 00:00 – 00:00 (24hrs) 
Monday – Sunday.

Extension of hours for the sale by retail of alcohol for consumption on 
the premises from 10:00hrs – 22:30 Monday – Sunday To 10:00 – 23:00 
Monday – Sunday.

Provision of late-night refreshment for take-away and consumption on 
the premises from 23:00 – 05:00 Monday – Sunday.

No regulated entertainment of any kind. No playing of live or recorded 
music of any kind…”

12. The application also seeks to amend the existing hours of alchol activities and 
to add additional licenablce activities:

 The sale by retail of alcohol (on sales): 

o Monday to Sunday: from 10:00 to 23:00

 The provision of late night refreshment (both indoors and outdoors) 
(Provision of hot meals and drinks for consumption on the premises; for 
take-away by customers; and for delivery to customer addresses. No 
outside dining area at premises):

o Monday to Sunday: from 23:00 to 05:00

137



 

 Opening hours: 

o Monday to Sunday: from 00:00 to 00:00.

13. A copy of the application is attached to this report as Appendix B.

Designated Premises Supervisor

14. The current designated premises supervisor (DPS) under the existing 
premises licence is Korham Topal who holds a personal licence with the 
London Borough of Southwark.  

Representations from responsible authorities

15. The Metropolitan Police have made representation, objecting to the extension 
of operational hours on the grounds of public nuisance and crime and 
disorder.  The police add that other premises in the area that have a 24 hour 
opening for the sale of late night refreshments have attracted crowds, anti-
social behaviour and serious violence. There is a concern that the conditions 
offered in the operating schedule are inadequate for a premises with a 24hour 
operation.

16. The licensing authority also made a representation objecting to the variation. 
The licensing authority objected to the application for extended hours and 
stated that they are excessive in relation to the hours recommended in the 
Southwark statement of licensing policy.

17. Copies of the representations are available in Appendix C.

Representations from other persons 

18. No representations have been received from other persons.

Conciliation

19. Copies of representations were provided to the Applicant.  At the point that 
this report was written, the Applicant had not conciliated with the objecting 
Responsible Authorities.  

Operating history

20. The original premises licence was issued on 02 June 2016.

21. A variation application was received on 14 October 2019, transferring to the 
current licence holder with immediate effect.

22. There is no history of recent complaints or Temporary Events Notices for the 
premises.

138



 

Map

23. A map of the area is attached to this report as Appendix D. There are some 
licensed premises in the immediate vicinity:

Shishlique, 326 Walworth Road, London SE17 2NA

 Late night refreshment - indoors 

o Sunday to Thursday: from 23:00 to 00:00 
o Friday and Saturday: from 23:00 to 01:00 

 Late Night Refreshment - takeaways:

o Sunday to Thursday: from 23:00 to 01:00 
o Friday and Saturday: from 23:0 to 02:00 

 Sale by retail of alcohol – on sales:

o Monday to Sunday: from 11:00 to 23:00

Chee Mc, 310 Walworth Road, London SE17 2NA

 Performance of dance – indoors:

o Monday to Sunday from 22:00 to 05:00

 Recorded music – indoors:

o Monday to Sunday from 22:00 to 05:00

 Late night refreshment – indoors:

o Monday to Sunday from 23:00 to 05:00

 Sale by retail of alcohol – on sales

o Monday to Sunday from 12:00 to 05:00

The Best Kebab, 294 Walworth Road, London SE17 2TE

 Sale by retail of alcohol to be consumed on premises:

o Sunday to Thursday from 11:00 to 02:00
o Friday and Saturday from 11:00 to 04:00

 Late night refreshment – indoors:

o Monday to Sunday from 23:00 to 05:00

139



 

Kaspas, 321-323 Walworth Road, London SE17 2TG

 Late night refreshment – indoors:

o Friday and Saturday from 23:00 to 00:00

Marks & Spencer, 311 Walworth Road, London SE17 2TG

 Sale by retail of alcohol to – off sales

o Monday to Saturday from 08:00 to 23:00
o Sunday from 10:00 to 22:30

Oli Centre – 322-324 Walworth Road, London, SE17 2NA

 Sale by retail of alcohol – off sales

o Monday to Sunday 24hours             

Louie Louie, 347 Walworth Road, London SE17 2AL

 Recorded music – indoors 

o Sunday to Thursday from 12:00 to 23:00
o Saturday and Sunday from 12:00 to 00:00

 Late night refreshment – indoors:

o Friday and Saturday from 23:00 to 00:00

 Sale by retail of alcohol – off sales

o Sunday to Thursday from 12:00 to 23:00
o Saturday and Sunday from 12:00 to 00:00

 Sale by retail of alcohol – on sales

o Sunday to Thursday from 08:00 to 23:00
o Saturday and Sunday from 08:00 to 00:00

Capalina News, 365 Walworth Road, London SE17 2AL

 Sale by retail of alcohol – off sales:

o Monday to Saturday from 08:00 to 23:00
o Sunday from 10:00 to 22:30

140



 

Walworth Kebab & Burger Bar, 360 Walworth Road, London SE17 2NF

 Late night refreshment – indoors:

o Sunday to Thursay from 23:00 to 02:00
o Friday and Saturday from 23:00 to 04:00.

Southwark council statement of licensing policy

24. Council assembly approved Southwark’s statement of licensing policy 2021-
2026 on 25 November 2020 and it came into effect on 1 January 2021.

25. Sections of the statement that are considered to be of particular relevance to 
the sub-committee’s consideration are:

 Section 3 - Purpose and scope of the policy. This reinforces the four 
licensing objectives and the fundamental principles upon which this 
Authority relies in determining licence applications

 Section 5 – Determining applications for premises licences and club 
premises certificates. This explains how the policy works and considers 
issues such as location; high standards of management; and the 
principles behind condition setting.

 Section 6 – Local cumulative impact policies. This sets out this 
authority’s approach to cumulative impact and defines the boundaries of 
the current special policy areas and the classifications of premises to 
which they apply. To be read in conjunction with Appendix B to the 
policy.

 Section 7 – Hours of operation. This provides a guide to the hours of 
licensed operation that this Authority might consider appropriate by type 
of premises and (planning) area classification.

 Section 8 – The prevention of crime and disorder. This provides general 
guidance on the promotion of the first licensing objective.

 Section 9 – Public safety. This provides general guidance on the 
promotion of the second licensing objective.

 Section 10 – The prevention of nuisance. This provides general 
guidance on the promotion of the third licensing objective.

 Section 11 – The protection of children from harm. This provides 
general guidance on the promotion of the fourth licensing objective.

26. The purpose of Southwark’s statement of licensing policy is to make clear to 
applicants what considerations will be taken into account when determining 
applications and should act as a guide to the sub-committee when 
considering the applications. However, the sub-committee must always 

141



 

consider each application on its own merits and allow exceptions to the 
normal policy where these are justified by the circumstances of the 
application.

Cumulative impact area

27. The premises is not situated in a cumulative impact area but is situated within 
a residential area.

28. Under the Southwark statement of licensing policy 2021 - 2026 the following 
closing times are recommended as appropriate within this area for these 
categories of premises:

 Restaurants and cafes: 23:00 daily

 Public houses, wine bars or other drinking establishments: 23:00 daily

 Night clubs (with 'sui generis' planning classification): these are not 
considered appropriate for this area

 Off-licences and alcohol sales in grocers and supermarkets: 23:00 daily

 Takeaways: these are not considered appropriate for this area.

Resource implications

29. A fee of £315.00 being the statutory fee payable for premises within non-
domestic rateable value band has been paid by the applicant company in 
respect of this application. 

Consultation

30. Consultation has been carried out in respect of this application in accordance 
with the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003. A public notice was published in 
a local newspaper twice (there was an error on the initial advert. However, 
this was republished within the specified time period to the satisfaction of the 
licensing authority). A similar notice exhibited at the premises for a period of 
28 consecutive days. This was inspected by a licensing officer during the 
consultation period and found to be compliant.  

Community impact statement

31. Each application is required by law to be considered upon its own individual 
merits with all relevant matters taken into account.

142



 

SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS

Director of Law and Governance

32. The sub-committee is asked to determine the application to vary the premises 
licence under Section 34 of the Licensing Act 2003.

33. The principles which sub-committee members must apply are set out below.

Principles for making the determination

34. Section 35 of the Licensing Act 2003 sets out the licensing authority’s powers 
and duties in considering the determination of an application for variation. 

35. The general principle is that applications for variation must be granted unless 
relevant representations are received.  This is subject to the proviso that the 
applicant has complied with regulations in advertising and submitting the 
application.     

36. Relevant representations are those which:

 Are about the likely effect of the granting of the application on the 
promotion of the licensing objectives

 Are made by an other party or responsible authority
 Have not been withdrawn
 Are not, in the opinion of the relevant licensing authority, frivolous or 

vexatious.

37. If relevant representations are received then the Sub-Committee must have 
regard to them, in determining whether it is necessary for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives to:

 Add to, omit, and/or alter the conditions of the licence or, 
 Reject the whole or part of the application for variation.

Conditions

38. The sub-committee’s discretion is thus limited. It can only modify the 
conditions put forward by the applicant, or refuse the variation, if it is 
necessary to do so. Conditions must be necessary and proportionate for the 
promotion of one of the four licensing objectives, and not for any other 
reason. Conditions must also be within the control of the licensee, and should 
be worded in a way which is clear, certain, consistent and enforceable.  

39. The four licensing objectives are:

 The prevention of crime and disorder
 Public safety
 The prevention of nuisance
 The protection of children from harm.

143



 

40. Members should note that each objective is of equal importance. There are 
no other licensing objectives, and the four objectives are paramount 
considerations at all times.  

41. Conditions will not be necessary if they duplicate a statutory position. 
Conditions relating to late night refreshment and take away aspect of the 
licence must relate to the night time operation of the premises and must not 
be used to impose conditions which could not be imposed on day time 
operators.  

42. The Licensing Act requires mandatory conditions in respect of supply of 
alcohol, the exhibition of films and in respect of door supervisors. The 
Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2003 introduced 
three new conditions in respect of irresponsible promotions, the oral 
dispensing of alcohol and free tap water. In October 2010 an additional two 
conditions will come into force – age verification policy and smaller measures 
for alcoholic drinks.

43. Members are also referred to the Home Office revised guidance issued under 
section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 on conditions, specifically section 10.

Reasons

44. If the sub-committee determines that it is necessary to modify the conditions, 
or to refuse the application for to vary the premises licence, it must give 
reasons for its decision.

Hearing procedures

45. Subject to the licensing hearing regulations, the licensing committee may 
determine its own procedures. Key elements of the regulations are that:

 The hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the authority.  
Cross examination shall not be permitted unless the authority 
considered that it is required for it to consider the representations.

 Members of the authority are free to ask any question of any party or 
other person appearing at the hearing.

 The committee must allow the parties an equal maximum period of time 
in which to exercise their rights to:

o Address the authority
o If given permission by the committee, question any other party.
o In response to a point which the authority has given notice it will 

require clarification, give further information in support of their 
application.

144



 

 The committee shall disregard any information given by a party which is 
not relevant to the particular application before the committee and the 
licensing objectives.

 The hearing shall be in public, although the committee may exclude the 
public from all or part of a hearing where it considers that the public 
interest in doing so outweighs the public interest in the hearing, or that 
part of the hearing, taking place in private.

 In considering any representations or notice made by a party the 
authority may take into account documentary or other information 
produced by a party in support of their application, representations or 
notice (as applicable) either before the hearing or, with the consent of all 
the other parties, at the hearing.

 This matter relates to the determination of an application to vary a 
premises licence under section 34 of the Licensing Act 2003. Regulation 
26(1) (a) requires the sub-committee to make its determination at the 
conclusion of the hearing.

The council’s multiple roles and the role of the licensing sub-committee

46. Sub-committee members will note that, in relation to this application, the 
council has multiple roles. Council officers from various departments have 
been asked to consider the application from the perspective of the council as 
authority responsible respectively for environmental health, trading standards, 
health and safety and as the planning authority.

47. Members should note that the licensing sub-committee is meeting on this 
occasion solely to perform the role of licensing authority. The sub-committee 
sits in quasi-judicial capacity, and must act impartially. It must offer a fair and 
unbiased hearing of the application. In this case, members should disregard 
the council’s broader policy objectives and role as statutory authority in other 
contexts.  Members must direct themselves to making a determination solely 
based upon the licensing law, guidance and the council’s statement of 
licensing policy.

48. As a quasi-judicial body the licensing sub-committee is required to consider 
the application on its merits. The sub-committee must take into account only 
relevant factors, and ignore irrelevant factors. The decision must be based on 
evidence, that is to say material, which tends logically to show the existence 
or non-existence of relevant facts, or the likelihood or unlikelihood of the 
occurrence of some future event, the occurrence of which would be relevant. 
The licensing sub-committee must give fair consideration to the contentions 
of all persons entitled to make representations to them.

49. The licensing sub-committee is entitled to consider events outside of the 
premises if they are relevant, i.e. are properly attributable to the premises 
being open. The proprietors do not have to be personally responsible for the 
incidents for the same to be relevant. However, if such events are not 

145



 

properly attributable to the premises being open, then the evidence is not 
relevant and should be excluded. Guidance is that the licensing authority will 
primarily focus on the direct impact of the activities taking place at the 
licensed premises on members of the public, living, working or engaged in 
normal activity in the area concerned.

50. Members will be aware of the council’s code of conduct which requires them 
to declare personal and prejudicial interests. The code applies to members 
when considering licensing applications.  In addition, as a quasi-judicial body, 
members are required to avoid both actual bias, and the appearance of bias.

51. Under the Human Rights Act 1998 the sub committee needs to consider the 
balance between the rights of the applicant and those making representations 
to the application when making their decision. The sub-committee has a duty 
under section 17 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 when making its decision to 
do all it can to prevent crime and disorder in the borough.

52. Other persons, responsible authorities and the applicant have the right to 
appeal the decision of the sub-committee to the Magistrates’ Court within a 
period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the applicant was notified 
by the licensing authority of the decision to be appealed against.

Guidance

53. Members are required to have regard to the Home Office revised guidance in 
carrying out the functions of licensing authority.  However, guidance does not 
cover every possible situation, so long as the guidance has been properly 
and carefully understood, members may depart from it if they have reason to 
do so.  Full reasons must be given if this is the case.

Strategic Director of Finance and Governance

54. The head of regulatory services has confirmed that the costs of this process 
over and above the application fee are borne by the service. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

 Background Papers  Held At  Contact
 Licensing Act 2003
 Home Office Guidance to the Act
 Secondary Regulations
 Southwark statement of licensing    
 policy 
 Case file

Southwark Licensing,
C/O
Community Safety and
Enforcement, 160 
Tooley Street, London 
SE1 2QH

 Mrs Kirty Read
Phon  Tel: 020 7525 5748

146



 

APPENDICES

 Name  Title
 Appendix A  Copy of the existing premises licence and plan
 Appendix B  Copy of the application 
 Appendix C  Copies of representations from responsible authorities
 Appendix D  Map of the local area

AUDIT TRAIL

Lead Officer Caroline Bruce, Strategic Director of Environment and Leisure
Report Author Andrew Heron, Principal Licensing Officer

Version Final
Dated 26 March 2021

Key Decision? No
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER
Officer Title Comments sought Comments included
Director of Law and Governance Yes Yes
Strategic Director of Finance and 
Governance  

Yes Yes

Cabinet Member No No
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 26 March 2021

147



Premises licence number    870116 

Part 1 - Premises details  

Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or description 

Big Town Restaurants 
302 Walworth Road 
London 
SE17 2TE 

Ordnance survey map reference (if applicable), 
532347178130 

Post town 
London 

Post code 
SE17 2TE 

Telephone number 

Where the licence is time limited the dates 

Licensable activities authorised by the licence 

Sale by retail of alcohol to be consumed on premises 

The opening hours of the premises  

For any non standard timings see Annex 2 

Monday  07:00 - 23:00 
Tuesday     07:00 - 23:00 
Wednesday    07:00 - 23:00 
Thursday     07:00 - 23:00 
Friday     07:00 - 23:00 
Saturday       07:00 - 23:00 
Sunday        07:00 - 23:00 

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol whether these are on and/ or off supplies 
Sale by retail of alcohol to be consumed on premises 

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities 
For any non standard timings see Annex 2 of the full premises licence 

Regulatory Services 
Licensing Unit 

Hub 1, 3rd Floor 
PO Box 64529 

London, SE1P 5LX 

APPENDIX A148



 

Page 2 of 10 

Sale by retail of alcohol to be consumed on premises 
Monday              10:00 - 22:30 
Tuesday             10:00 - 22:30 
Wednesday        10:00 - 22:30 
Thursday            10:00 - 22:30 
Friday                 10:00 - 22:30 
Saturday             10:00 - 22:30 
Sunday               11:00 - 22:30 
 

149



Page 3 of 10 

Part 2 

Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of premises 
licence  
Good Food Ventures Ltd 
164-166 High Road
Ilford, Essex, IG1 1LL

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where applicable) 

09911032 

Name, address and  telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the premises 
licence authorises for the supply of alcohol  

Korhan Topal 

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated premises 
supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol  
Licence No. 
Authority. LB Southwark 

Licence Issue date 14/10/2019 

Head of Regulatory Services 
Hub 1, 3rd Floor 

PO Box 64529 
London, SE1P 5LX 

020 7525 5748 
licensing@southwark.gov.uk

150



Page 4 of 10 

Annex 1 - Mandatory conditions 

100 No supply of alcohol may be made under the Premises Licence - 

(a). At a time when there is no Designated Premises Supervisor in respect of the Premises Licence; or 

(b). At a time when the Designated Premises Supervisor does not hold a Personal Licence or his Personal 

Licence is suspended. 

101 Every supply of alcohol under the Premises Licence must be made, or authorised by, a person who 

holds a Personal Licence. 

485 (1) The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out, arrange or 

participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises. 

(2) In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following activities, or

substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of 

alcohol for consumption on the premises - 

(a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require, encourage, individuals

to - 

(i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or supplied on the premises

before the cessation of the period in which the responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or 

(ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise);

(b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted fee to the public

or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining 

a licensing objective; 

(c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or reward the purchase

and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a manner carries a significant risk of 

undermining a licensing objective; 

(d) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional poster or flyers on, or in the vicinity of, the

premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or 

to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable manner; and 

(e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where that other person

is unable to drink without assistance by reason of disability). 

487 The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to customers where 

it is reasonably available. 

488 (1) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must  ensure that an age verification 

policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol. 

151



Page 5 of 10 

(2) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that the supply of

alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy. 

(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 years of age (or

such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being served alcohol, 

identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and either 

(a) a holographic mark; or

(b) an ultraviolet feature.

489 The responsible person shall ensure that – 

(a) Where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the premises (other

than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance ready for sale or supply in a securely 

closed container) it is available to customers in the following measures - 

(i) Beer or cider: 1/2 pint;

(ii) Gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and

(iii) Still wine in a glass: 125 ml;

(b) these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other

printed material which is available to customers on the premises; and 

(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol to be sold, the

customer is made aware that these measures are available, 

491 1. A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the 

premises for a price which is less than the permitted price. 

2. For the purpose of the condition set out in paragraph (1):

(a) "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liqour Duties Act 1979;

(b) "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula

P = D + (D x V), 

where- 

(i) P is the permitted price,

(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were charged on the date of

the sale or supply of the alcohol, and 

(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value added tax were

charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol; 

(c) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a premises licence -

(i) the holder of the premises licence:

(ii) the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence; or

152



Page 6 of 10 

(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under such a licence;

(iv) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a club premises

certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a capacity which enables the 

member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and 

(v)"value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added Tax Act 1994. 

3. Where the permitted price given by paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 would (apart from this paragraph) not be

a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall be taken to be the price actually 

given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny. 

4. (1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 on a day

("the first day") would be different from the permitted price on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a 

change to the rate of duty or value added tax; 

(2) the permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of alcohol which take

place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the second day. 

153



Page 7 of 10 

 Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the operating Schedule 

288 That a CCTV system shall be installed at the premises and shall be maintained in full working order at 

all times that the premises are in operation. The CCTV system will record footage of evidential quality in all 

lighting conditions and should be able to capture a clear facial image of all persons that enter the venue. All 

public areas will be covered by the CCTV system. 

289 All CCTV footage shall be kept for a period of thirty one (31) days and shall be made immediately 

available for inspection to officers of the Police and the Council on request. 

293 That all staff involved in the sale of alcohol, or the operation of the premises under this licence, shall be 

trained in their responsibilities under the Licensing Act 2003 and trained in respect of the full terms and 

conditions of this licence. Records pertaining to such training shall be kept and be accessible at the 

premises at all times and will be updated every six months. The training records shall include the trainee's 

name (in block capitals), the trainer's name (in block capitals), the signature of the trainee, the signature 

of the trainer, the date(s) of training, a basic summary of what the training included and a declaration that 

the training has been received. The training records shall be made immediately available to officers of the 

police and / or the council upon request. 

305 That clearly legible notices will be prominently displayed where they can easily be seen and read by 

customers at all customer exits requesting to the effect that customers leave the premises and area in a 

quiet and orderly manner with respect for local residents. Such signage shall be maintained free from 

obstruction at all times. 

340 That signage shall be displayed stating to the effect that a CCTV system is in operation at the premises. 

341 That there shall be at least one member of staff on duty at all times that the premises are in operation 

who is trained and proficient in the operation of the CCTV system, and who is capable of operating and 

retrieving footage at the request of police, council or other authorised officers. 

342 That customers or their guests will not be permitted to take glassware supplied by the premises away 

from the premises at any time. 

343 That all sales of alcohol shall only be made to customers taking, or waiting for, a substantial table meal 

at the premises and for consumption as ancillary to such meals. 

344 That all staff involved in the sale of alcohol shall be trained in the challenge 21 scheme in operation at 

the premises. A record of such training shall be kept / be accessible at the premises at all times and be 

made immediately available for inspection at the premises to council or police officers on request. The 

training record shall include the trainee's name (in block capitals), the trainer's name (in block capitals), the 

signature of the trainee, the signature of the trainer, the date(s) of training and a declaration that the training 

has been received. Staff shall receive documented refresher training every 6 months. 

4AG That a challenge 21 scheme shall be maintained at the premises requiring that staff selling alcohol 

request that any customer who looks under 21 years old, and who is attempting to purchase alcohol, 

provides valid photographic identification proving that the customer is at least 18 years old. Valid 

photographic identification is composed of a driving licence, passport, UK armed services ID card and any 

154



Page 8 of 10 

Proof of Age Standards Scheme (PASS) accredited card such as the Proof of Age London (PAL) card. 

4AI That a register of refused sales of alcohol shall be maintained in order to demonstrate effective 

operation of the challenge 21 policy. The register shall be clearly and legibly marked on the front cover as a 

register of refused sales, with the address of the premises and with the name and address of the licence 

holder. The register shall be kept / be accessible at the premises at all times. The register shall be made 

immediately available to council or police officers on request. At any time, the preceding 12 months refusal 

register details shall be available at the premises. 

155



Page 9 of 10 

Annex 3 - Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority  

156



Page 10 of 10 

Annex 4 - Plans - Attached 

Licence No. 870116 

Plan No. 302EC-401 

Plan Date 16.3.2016 

157



158



Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

20/02/2021 
Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003 
Ref No. 1625518

Please enter the name(s) of the premises licence holders who is applying to vary a premises licence under
section 34 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the premises described in Part 1 below

Good Food Ventures Ltd (Company Number 09911032)
Premises licence
number

870116

Notes for Guidance

This application cannot be used to vary the licence so as to extend the period for which the licence has effect or
to vary substantially the premises to which it relates. If you wish to make that type of change to the premises
licence, you should make a new premises licence application under section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003.

1. You do not have to pay a fee if the only purpose of the variation for which you are applying is to avoid
becoming liable for the late night levy
2. Describe the premises. For example, the type of premises, its general situation and layout and any
other information which could be relevant to the licensing objectives. Where your application includes
off-supplies of alcohol and you intend to provide a place of consumption of these off-supplies of alcohol, you
must include a description of where the place will be and its proximity to the premises.
3. In terms of specific regulated entertainments please note that:
• Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the
audience does not exceed 500.
• Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in community premises  between
08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that the audience does not exceed 500 and the organiser (a) gets
consent to the screening from a person who is responsible for the premises; and (b) ensures that each such
screening abides by age classification ratings.
• Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day,
provided that the audience does not exceed 1000.
• Boxing or Wrestling Entertainment:  no licence is required for a contest, exhibition or display of
Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience
does not exceed 1000. Combined fighting sports – defined as a contest, exhibition or display which combines
boxing or wrestling with one or more martial arts – are licensable as a boxing or wrestling entertainment rather
than an indoor sporting event.
• Live music: no licence permission is required for:
o a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, on any premises.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to
sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a workplace that is not
licensed to sell alcohol on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village
hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell
alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the
performance from a person who is responsible for the premises.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-residential
premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not
exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local
authority concerned, or (ii) the school or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital.
• Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for:
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to sell
alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500.
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village hall,
community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol,
provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance
from a person who is responsible for the premises.
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-residential premises of
(i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and
(b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority
concerned, or (ii) the school proprietor or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital.

• Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the
audience does not exceed 500. However, a performance which amounts to adult entertainment remains

APPENDIX B159



Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

licensable.

• Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, with no limit on
audience size for:

o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where the entertainment is
provided by or on behalf of the local authority;

o any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care provider where the
entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care provider;

o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the entertainment is provided by or
on behalf of the school proprietor; and

o any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling entertainment) taking place at a travelling
circus, provided that (a) it takes place within a moveable structure that accommodates the audience, and (b)
that the travelling circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 consecutive days.

4. Where taking place in a building or other structure please tick as appropriate (indoors may include a
tent).

5. For example state type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further
details, for example (but not exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer
months.

7. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

8. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16.00) and only give details for the days of the week when
you intend the premises to be used for the activity.

9. If you wish people to be able to consume alcohol on the premises, please tick ‘on the premises’. If you
wish people to be able to purchase alcohol to consume away from the premises, please tick ‘off the premises’.
If you wish people to be able to do both, please tick ‘both’.

10. Please give information about anything intended to occur at the premises or ancillary to the use of the
premises which may give rise to concern in respect of children regardless of whether you intend children to
have access to the premises, for example (but not exclusively) nudity or semi-nudity, films for restricted age
groups or the presence of gaming machines.

11. Please list here steps you will take to promote all four licensing objectives together.

12. The application form must be signed.

13. An applicant’s agent (for example solicitor) may sign the form on their behalf provided that they have
actual authority to do so.

14. Where there is more than one applicant, each of the applicants or their respective agents must sign the
application form.

160



Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

15. This is the address which we shall use to correspond with you about this application.

Non-domestic rateable value of premises in order to see your rateable value click here (opens in new window)

£ 34500

Postal address of premises or, if none, ordnance survey map reference or description

Address Line 1 Big Town Restaurants
Address Line 2 302 Walworth Road
Town
County London
Post code SE17 2TE
Ordnance survey
map reference

32357,78134

Description of the
location

Ground floor commercial premises, 302 Walworth Rd

Telephone number

Part 2 - Applicant details

Daytime contact
telephone number
Email address
Postal Address if
different from
premises address
Town / City
Postcode

Do you want the premises licence to have effect as soon as possible?

Please tick Yes

If not from what date do you want the variation to take effect?

(DD/MM/YYYY)

Do you want the proposed variation to have effect in relation to the introduction of the late night levy? (Please
see guidance note 1)

No

Please describe briefly the nature of the proposed variation ( see guidance note 2 )

161



Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

Extension of hours during which the premises will be open to the public FROM 07:00 –
23:00 Monday – Sunday TO 00:00 – 00:00 (24hrs) Monday – Sunday.

Extension of hours for the sale by retail of alcohol for consumption on the premises
FROM 10:00hrs – 22:30 Monday – Sunday TO 10:00 – 23:00 Monday – Sunday.

Provision of late-night refreshment for take-away and consumption on the premises 
from 23:00 – 05:00 Monday – Sunday.

No regulated entertainment of any kind. No playing of live or recorded music of any
kind.

If your proposed variation would mean that 5,000 or more people are expected to attend the premises at any
one time please use the drop down below to select the number

Please select
number from range

Less than 5000

Notes

1. You do not have to pay a fee if the only purpose of the variation for which you are applying is to avoid
becoming liable for the late night levy

2. Describe the premises, for example the type of premises, its general situation and layout and any other
information which could be relevant to the licensing objectives. Where your application includes off-supplies of
alcohol and you intend to provide a place for consumption of these off-supplies, you must include a description
of where the place will be and its proximity to the premises.

IN ALL CASES COMPLETE BOXES K, L AND M

Provision of regulated entertainment (Please see guidance note 3) Please tick all that apply

Provision of late night refreshment (if ticking fill in box I)

i) Late night refreshment

Supply of alcohol (if ticking fill in box J)

j) Supply of alcohol

In all cases complete boxes K, L and M

162



Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

Will the provision of late night refreshment take place indoors or outdoors or both? ( Please read guidance
note 4 )

Both

Please give further details here ( Please read guidance note 5 )

Provision of hot meals and drinks for consumption on the premises; for take-away by
customers; and for delivery to customer addresses. No outside dining area at premises.

Standard days & timings for Late night refreshment (Late night start time is from 23.00, see guidance notes 8)

Day Start Finish
Mon 23:00 05:00
Tues 23:00 05:00
Wed 23:00 05:00
Thur 23:00 05:00
Fri 23:00 05:00
Sat 23:00 05:00
Sun 23:00 05:00

State any seasonal variations for the provision of late night refreshment ( Please read guidance note 6 )

No seasonal variations.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for the provision of late night refreshmentat
different times, to those listed. Please list, ( Please read guidance note 7 )

No non-standard timings.

4. Where taking place in a building or other structure please tick as appropriate (indoors may include a tent).

5. For example the type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details,
for example (but not exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

7. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

8. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16:00) and only give details for the days of the week you intend the
premises to be used for the activity.

Will the supply of alcohol be for consumption ( Please read guidance note 9)

On the premises

163



Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

Standard days and timings for Supply of alcohol ( Please read guidance note 8 )

Day Start Finish
Mon 10:00 23:00
Tues 10:00 23:00
Wed 10:00 23:00
Thur 10:00 23:00
Fri 10:00 23:00
Sat 10:00 23:00
Sun 10:00 23:00

State any seasonal variations for the supply of alcohol ( Please read guidance 6 )

No seasonal variations.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for the supply of alcohol at different times to
those listed. Please list, ( Please read guidance note 7 )

No non-standard timings.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

7. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

8. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16:00) and only give details for the days of the week when you
intend the premises to be used for the activity.

9. If you wish people to be able to consume alcohol on the premises, please tick ‘on the premises’.
If you wish people to be able to purchase alcohol to consume away from the premises, please tick ‘off the
premises’.
If you wish people to be able to do both, please tick ‘both’.

Please highlight any adult entertainment or services, activities, other entertainment or matters ancillary to the
use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children ( Please read guidance note 10 )

No adult entertainment of any kind will be provided.

Guidance Notes

10. Please give information about anything intended to occur at the premises or ancillary to the use of the
premises which may give rise to concern in respect of children, regardless of whether you intend children to
have access to the premises, for example (but not exclusively) nudity or semi-nudity, films for restricted age
groups or the presence of gaming machines.

Hours premises are open to the public ( standard timings Please read guidance note 8 )

Day Start Finish
Mon 00:00 00:00

164



Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

Tues 00:00 00:00
Wed 00:00 00:00
Thur 00:00 00:00
Fri 00:00 00:00
Sat 00:00 00:00
Sun 00:00 00:00

State any seasonal variations ( Please read guidance note 6 )

No seasonal variations.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises to be open to the public at different times from
those listed. Please list, ( Please read guidance note 7 )

No non-standard timings.

6. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

7. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.

8. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16:00) and only give details for the days of the week when you
intend
the premises to be used for the activity.

Please identify those conditions currently imposed on the licence which you believe could be removed as a
consequence of the proposed variation you are seeking.

None.

I have uploaded relevant part of the previous premises licence (Please send a hard copy in the post)

Reason for not uploading the premises licence

N/A.

a) General - all four licensing objectives (b,c,d,e) ( Please read guidance note 11 )

1. Licensing Policy: the Applicant has considered the Southwark Statement of
Licensing Policy 2019-2021.

2. Legal advice: the applicant has sought legal advice in relation to this application for a
New Premises Licence and relevant acts of legislation have been considered. These
include, but are not limited to: The Licensing Act 2003 and Regulations (as amended),

165



Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003, Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005,
Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006, Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011,
The Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014, The Deregulation Act
2015, The Immigration Act 2016, The Policing and Crime Act 2017 and the Licensing
Act 2003 (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2017.

3. General: Good Food Ventures Ltd (“the Applicant”), with Company number
09911032, runs the Big Town Restaurants Nigerian Food and Grill at 302 Walworth
Road, London SE17 2TE. The restaurant serves fresh Nigerian and West African
cuisine and is licensed for on-licence sales of alcohol under Southwark Council
premises licence number 870116 (enclosed) from 10:00 to 22:30 Monday to Sunday.
The hours the premises are open to the public are currently 07:00 to 23:00 Monday to
Sunday. The restaurant currently offers takeaway meals (but not alcohol) for
consumption off the premises. Takeaway meals may be collected from the premises, or
are delivered to customer homes via third-party services such as Uber Eats, JustEat or
equivalents.
- Good Food Ventures Ltd is seeking to take advantage of a growing market for
late-night meals by extending their opening hours to 24hr daily and offering meals for
takeaway or consumption on the premises during these extended hours. The restaurant
would hence be subject to the Southwark Council Late Night Levy under the proposed
new hours of operation.
- The Applicant is also seeking an extension of hours for the on-licence service of
alcohol until 23:00 Monday to Sunday, taking into account the lack of need for a
cooling-off period due to the proposed extension to opening hours.
- Current opening hours are restricted by Southwark Council planning application
16/AP/0268 which defines opening hours of 07:00 to 23:00 Monday to Sunday and
public holidays. Parallel planning approval will hence also be sought for the proposed,
extended opening hours. The Applicant will not deviate from existing opening hours
unless both planning and licensing approval have been granted.
- The restaurant has planning use class A3 (class E(c) as of 1 September 2020).
Takeaway meals are therefore currently being provided under the provisions of The
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) (Amendment)
Regulations 2020 – such permission to continue until 23 March 2022. As the A5
planning class is now Sui Generis, a further planning application will be required in
order to continue provision of takeaway food after 23 March 2022.
- 302 Walworth Road is located within the Walworth monitoring area. The applicant is
hence cognisant of the risks posed to increased public nuisance and crime and
disorder. The Applicant will put in place measures to limit these risks as detailed below.

4. Where not specified, licence conditions will remain as per Southwark Council
premises licence number 870116. There will be no changes to the premises plan (not
included).

b) the prevention of crime and disorder

1. A policy will be in force for the management of large groups, i.e. hen and stag
parties. The group will be required to nominate a responsible person to liaise with staff.
Staff will be trained in dealing with drunken or disruptive behaviour and the procedures
for dealing with any such behaviour by patrons. Antisocial behaviour of any kind,
including strong, loud and offensive language, shall not be tolerated. Any customers
suspected of, or engaging in, the same shall be asked to leave, will be escorted to the
exit and observed leaving the vicinity of the premises. Anyone attempting to enter the
premises visibly under the influence of alcohol or drugs will be refused entry or shall be
asked to leave, escorted to the exit and observed leaving the vicinity of the premises.

c) public safety

1. Delivery drivers will not be permitted to mount the pavement with their vehicles when
collecting food for delivery to customer addresses. Vehicles must be parked in
Sutherland Walk directly to the south of the premises.

2. The recommendations of best practice from DEFRA in respect of both retail and
consumption of “food on the go” will be adopted and complied with.

166



Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

d) the prevention of public nuisance

1. There will be no playing of live or recorded music at the premises under any
circumstances.

2. Doors and windows will be kept closed at all times apart from customer egress or
access.

3. The Applicant shall conduct regular risk assessments on noise levels outside the
premises to ensure that any noise from speech arising from the premises shall not be
audible outside the premises or inside habitable rooms of noise sensitive, residential
properties in the vicinity.

4. No queuing will be allowed outside the premises. The numbers of customers
smoking in front of the premises will be limited to no more than 3 and customers will not
be allowed to cause a blockage to the public footpath. Clearly legible notices will be
prominently displayed detailing these conditions.

5. Staff shall implement a dispersal policy outside the premises within the Applicant's
direct control to reduce risks of public nuisance.

6. The existing licence conditions require that “clearly legible notices will be prominently
displayed where they can easily be seen and read by customers at all customer exits
requesting to the effect that customers leave the premises and area in a quiet and
orderly manner with respect for local residents. Such signage shall be maintained free
from obstruction at all times”. In addition to this condition, wording will be added to the
signage requesting that customers also enter the premises in a quiet and orderly
manner.

7. The Applicant will have a policy or procedure in place which deals with excessive or
unreasonable noise nuisance emanating from customers visiting the premises, and
how this would be managed if customers are not prepared to abide by the signage
around the premises requesting customers to enter or leave the site quietly.

8. The Applicant will be responsible for the behaviour of delivery drivers. Contracts with
Uber Eats, JustEat (or equivalent delivery agents) will specify that:
- Delivery drivers will not be permitted to mount the pavement with their vehicles when
collecting food for delivery to customer addresses. Vehicles must be parked in
Sutherland Walk directly to the south of the premises.
- Delivery drivers must turn off their engines whilst collecting from the premises. There
will be no idling of delivery vehicles outside of the premises.
- Delivery drivers will not be permitted to wait outside the premises when collecting
orders.
- Drivers must enter and leave the premises quietly and will not be permitted to smoke
or talk outside of the premises.
- Clear signage must be displayed inside and outside of the premises making clear to
drivers the conditions which apply.
- Breach of any of the above conditions will be a disciplinary offence.

9. Adequate waste receptacles, for use by customers, will be provided in and
immediately outside the premises.

10. The pavement frontage area immediately in the vicinity of the premises will be
swept at least twice a day and as and when required, to ensure that all litter emanating
from the premises is collected and disposed of. Additionally, and at the same time, the
licensee will also undertake routine inspections of the immediate surrounding area and
ensure that any litter emanating from the premises is swept up and disposed of.

11. The disposal of waste into external receptacles shall not take place between the
hours of 22:00 and 08:00. No waste collection or stock deliveries will take place
between the hours of 22:00 and 08:00.

e) the protection of children from harm

As per existing licence conditions.

167



Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

Guidance note 11 

Please list here steps you will take to promote all four licensing objectives together.

If the plan of the premises are varying please upload a plan of the premises,

Upload proposed
plans
Upload existing
plans

Checklist

I understand that I must now advertise my application.
I understand that if I do not comply with the above requirements my application<br> will
be rejected.

I/We Hereby declare the Information we have provided is true and Accurate.

I agree to the above statement

I agree
PaymentDescription , ,
AuthCode
LicenceReference

PaymentContactEmail

Please provide name of applicant (the current premises licence holder) or applicant's solicitor or other duly
authorised agent (please read guidance note 13). If completing on behalf of the applicant, please state in what
capacity.

Full name Mr. Emmanuel Efemena James
Date
(DD/MM/YYYY)
Capacity Director of applicant company Good Food Ventures Ltd

Where the premises licence is jointly held, enter the 2nd applicant (the current premises licence holder) or 2nd
applicant's solicitor or other authorised agent (guidance note 14). If completing on behalf of the applicant state
in what capacity

Full name
Date
(DD/MM/YYYY)
Capacity

Contact name (where not previously given) an address for correspondence associated with this application
(please read guidance note 15)

168



Business - Application to vary a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003

Contact name and
address for
correspondence

Mr. Emmanuel James, 

Telephone No.
If you prefer us to
correspond with you
by e-mail, your email
address (optional)

IT IS AN OFFENCE, UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003, TO MAKE A FALSE
STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION. THOSE WHO MAKE A FALSE
STATEMENT MAYBE LIABLE ON SUMMARY CONVICTION TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT.

GUIDANCE NOTES
15. This is the address which we shall use to correspond with you about this application.

Please tick to indicate agreement

I am a company or limited liability partnership

[Applicable to individual applicants only, including those in a partnership which is not a limited liability
partnership] I understand I am not entitled to be issued with a licence if I do not have the entitlement to live and
work in the UK (or if I am subject to a condition preventing me from doing work relating to the carrying on of a
licensable activity) and that my licence will become invalid if I cease to be entitled to live and work in the UK. 
The DPS named in this application form is entitled to work in the UK (and is not subject to conditions preventing
him or her from doing work relating to a licesable activity) and I have seen a copy of his or her proof of
entitlement to work, if appropriate.

I/We Hereby declare the Information we have provided is true and Accurate.

I agree to the above statement

Yes

IT IS AN OFFENCE, LIABLE ON SUMMARY CONVICTION TO A FINE NOT EXCEEDING LEVEL 5 ON THE
STANDARD SCALE, UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003, TO MAKE A FALSE
STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION.

IT IS AN OFFENCE UNDER SECTION 24B OF THE IMMIGRATION ACT 1971 FOR A PERSON TO WORK
WHEN THEY KNOW, OR HAVE REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THEY ARE DISQUALIFIED
FROM DOING SO BY REASON OF THEIR IMMIGRATION STATUS. THOSE WHO EMPLOY AN ADULT
WITHOUT LEAVE OR WHO IS SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS AS TO EMPLOYMENT WILL BE LIABLE TO A
CIVIL PENALTY UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE IMMIGRATION, ASYLUM AND NATIONALITY ACT 2006 AND
PURSUANT TO SECTION 21 OF THE SAME ACT, WILL BE COMMITTING AN OFFENCE WHERE THEY DO
SO IN THE KNOWLEDGE, OR WITH REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THE EMPLOYEE IS
DISQUALIFIED.

The information you provide will be used fairly and lawfully and Southwark Council will not knowingly do
anything which may lead to a breach of the Data Protection Act 1998.

169



Working for a safer Southwark 

The Licensing Unit Metropolitan Police Service 
Floor 3 Licensing Office 
160 Tooley Street Southwark Police Station, 

London 
SE1 2QH 

323 Borough High Street, 

LONDON, 

SE1 1JL 

Tel:     07880 053191  
Email: SouthwarkLicensing@met.police.uk        

Our reference: MD/21/010/21 

Date: 22
nd

 March 2021

Re:- Big Town Restaurants, 302 Walworth Road, London, SE17 2TE 

Dear Sir/Madam 

Police are in receipt of an application from the above for a variation to the current premises 
licence. The hours applied for are considerably outside that recommended within the South 
Statement of licensing policy. 

The current licence application contains minimal in the way of conditions to negate the extra 
Impact 24 hour opening will have on the area. The Home office guidance issued under Sec 
182 of the licensing Act 2003 ‘General principles’ state that it is important in setting the 
parameters within which the premises may operate. Conditions must be precise and 
enforceable which the application fails to do. 

We object to the granting of the licence on the grounds of Public nuisance, Crime and 
disorder.  

Other premises in the area that have a 24 hour opening for the sale of late night 
refreshments have attracted crowds, anti social behaviour and serious violence. 

The Closing time for Restaurants and Cafes within the policy is Sunday to Thursday is 00:00 
hours and for Friday and Saturday is 01:00 hours. I do not see any circumstances to deviate 
from this. 

The Following is submitted for your consideration, Police would welcome the opportunity to 
conciliate with the applicant should the need arise. 

Yours Sincerely 

PC Graham White 288MD 
Licensing Officer 
Southwark Police Licensing Unit 

APPENDIX C

170



 MEMO: Licensing Unit 

To Licensing Unit Date 22 March 2021 

From Jayne Tear 

Email jayne.tear@southwark.gov.uk 

Subject Re: Big Town Restaurants, 302 Walworth Road, London, SE17 2TE 

- Application to vary a premises licence

 I write with regards to the above application for a premises licence submitted by Good Food 
Ventures Limited under the Licensing Act 2003, which seeks the following licensable activities: 

• To add Late night refreshment (indoors & outdoors) on Monday to Sunday from 23:00 to
05:00 the following day

• To extend the supply of alcohol (on the premises) on Monday to Sunday from 22:30 to
23:00

• Overall opening times shall be on Monday to Sunday from 00:00 to 00:00 (24hrs)
(was previously Monday to Sunday from 07:00 to 23:00)

 The variation is described within the application as ‘Extension of hours during which the    
premises will be open to the public FROM 07:00 – 23:00 Monday – Sunday TO 00:00 – 00:00 
(24hrs) Monday – Sunday. Extension of hours for the sale by retail of alcohol for consumption 
on the premises FROM 10:00hrs – 22:30 Monday – Sunday TO 10:00 – 23:00 Monday – 
Sunday. Provision of late-night refreshment for take-away and consumption on the premises 
from 23:00 – 05:00 Monday – Sunday. No regulated entertainment of any kind. No playing of 
live or recorded music of any kind’. 

 My representation is submitted under the prevention of crime and disorder and the prevention 
of public nuisance licensing objectives and has regard to the Southwark Statement of 
Licensing Policy 2021 – 2026. 

The premises is situated in The Elephant and Castle Major Town Centre Area and under the 
Southwark Statement of  Licensing policy 2021 - 2026 the appropriate closing times for public 
houses, wine bars or other drinking establishments on Sunday to Thursday is 23:00 hours and 
on Friday and Saturday 00:00 hours. Closing times for restaurants and cafes on Sunday to 
Thursday is 00:00 hours and for Friday and Saturday is 01:00 hours. Closing times for take-
away establishment on Sunday to Thursday is 00:00 hours and for Friday and Saturday is 
01:00 hours 

This application is seeking opening hours in excess of that which is recommended for a 
restaurant or takeaway establishment within the policy in this area and the application provide 
any reasons to convince the Licensing sub-committee to divert from the opening hours 
recommended in the licensing policy.  

 Therefore to promote the licensing objectives I ask the applicant to consider bringing the 
closing times in line with the hours as appropriate within the licensing policy and in turn the 
provision of late night refreshment activities as follows: 

171



If the premises wish to operate as a restaurant and takeaway: 

• Opening times to cease on Sunday to Thursday at 00:00 and on Friday and Saturday at
01:00

• Late night refreshment to cease on Sunday to Thursday at 00:00 and on Friday and
Saturday at 01:00

Furthermore, due to the limited information on the application form and to promote the 
licensing objectives I also ask the applicant to provide the following information: 

• An accommodation limit for the premises (to be conditioned)

• To provide a written dispersal policy for the premises. (to be conditioned)

 I therefore submit this representation and welcome any discussion with the applicant. 

Southward’s Statement of Licensing Policy 2019 – 2021 can be found on the following link: 
https://www.southwark.gov.uk/business/licences/business-premises-licensing/licensing-and-
gambling-act-policy 

Jayne Tear 
Principal Licensing officer 
In the capacity of the Licensing Responsible Authority 

172



Southwark Maps includes © Crown copyright and database rights 2018 OS (0)100019252. Aerial imagery from Verisk. The default base
map is OS mapping remastered by Europa Technologies..

       APPENDIX D173



This page is intentionally blank.



 
LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE DISTRIBUTION LIST (OPEN) MUNICIPAL YEAR 2020-21

NOTE: Original held by Constitutional Team; all amendments/queries to 
Andrew Weir - Tel: 020 7525 7222

Name No of 
copies

Name No of 
copies

Members

Councillor Renata Hamvas (Chair)
Councillor Sunil Chopra
Councillor Lorraine Lauder MBE

Reserve

Councillor Sunny Lambe

 
 
 

1
1
1

1

 
 

Officers (by email only)

Debra Allday , legal team
Charlotte Precious, legal team
Toyin Calfos, legal team
Andrew Heron, licensing team
Wesley McArthur, licensing team
Jayne tear, licensing team
P.C. Graham White, Metropolitan 
Police Service
Andrew Weir, constitutional team

Total printed copies: 4

Dated: 7 April 2021

 


	Agenda
	5 MIK K-Pop Festival, Southwark Park, South Section, Hawkstone Road, London SE16 2PE
	Appendix A: Application
	MIK K-Pop (874183) - appendix A - application
	MIK K-Pop (874183) - Event management plan

	Appendix B: Representations from responsible authorities
	MIK K-Pop (874183) - EPT rep'
	MIK K-Pop (874183) - MPS rep'.docx

	Appendix C: Representations from other persons
	Appendix D: Licence 010878
	Appendix E: Plan of premises
	Sheets and Views
	KPOP V1c  LICENSED BOUNDARY PROUD LAYOUT PAGE A1 3-PROUD ISO A1 LANDSCAPE


	Appendix F: Map

	6 Licensing Act 2003: Big Town Restaurants, 302 Walworth Road, London SE17 2TE
	Appendix A: Licence
	Appendix B: Application
	Appendix C: Represenations from responsible authorities
	Appendix D: Map

	 
	Distribution LSC 15 April




